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We are a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong with
the capability of providing a wide range of construction, E&M engineering
and event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related
solutions and value-added services to our customers. We serve a diverse
range of customers including leading construction and E&M engineering
companies and large scale event and entertainment companies. Our
rental equipment principally covers power and energy equipment, high-
reach equipment, material handling equipment and other equipment
(include lifting, earth moving, foundation, road and transportation,
tunneling, demolition and small equipment).
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RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)

Chan Kit Mui, Lina
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Lau Pong Sing
Wong Cheuk Man

COMPANY SECRETARY
Wong Cheuk Man (HKICPA, ACCA)

COMPLIANCE ADVISER
Ballas Capital Limited
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1 Duddell Street, Central,

Hong Kong

Note: Ballas Capital Limited ceased to be the compliance adviser of the company
on 25 July 2018, being the date on which the company complies with rule
13.46 of the Listing Rules in respect of its financial results for the first full
financial year commencing after the date of initial listing.
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Chairman; Chief Executive Officer
and Executive Director
Mr. Lau Pong Sing
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEEIES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”) of AP Rentals Holdings
Limited ("AP Rentals” or the "Company”), | hereby present the audited
consolidated annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2019 (the “Year” or
“FY2019").

For FY2019, the Group had a total revenue of approximately HK$146.1
million, representing a decrease of 35.1% as compared to that of
approximately HK$225.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2018
(“FY2018"). The Group's administrative, selling and distribution expenses
decreased to approximately HK$36.3 million (FY2018: approximately
HKS$40.9 million), representing a decrease of approximately 11.2% over last
year. The decrease was mainly due to decrease in salary expenses for staff,
directors’ emoluments, compliance fee and marketing & promotional
expenses. The Group's net profit decreased from approximately HK$21.1
million in FY2018 to net loss of approximately HK$(2.5) million in FY2019.
Please refer to the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” ("MD&A") for details of the Group’s business performance for
FY2019. The Environmental, Social and Governance Report, which
summarizes our effort and performance in promoting and strengthening
corporate social responsibility among the Group during the Year, will be
published separately within three months after the publication of the
annual report of the Company.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEE S

The Hong Kong economy has been deteriorating since April 2018 due to
the possible trade war between the US and China (the “Trade War”). In the
first quarter of 2019, the Hong Kong economy advanced 0.5 percent year-
on-year, which was the weakest growth rate since the third quarter of 2009,
when the economy shrank 1.7 percent. Private consumption and
government spending eased and fixed investment continued to contract
(https://tradingeconomics.com/articles/05022019090441.htm). Not only
Hong Kong, countries like the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and
Singapore are also affected.

In FY2019, the overall market sentiment of the construction industry in
Hong Kong was poor due to the completion of key projects, the Express
Rail Hong Kong section (“Express Rail HK") and the Hong Kong-Zhuhai-
Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities ("HZMB").
Furthermore, existing key projects faced difficulties in their progress. For
instance, the Third Runway of the Hong Kong International Airport (the
“Third Runway’) and the rail for Shatin to Central Link (the “SCL") have
been affected by the lack of landfill construction market and the issues on
site management of the SCL respectively.

Under such economic environment and the market sentiment of the
construction industry, the performance of our Group is affected. All our
revenue lines drop in FY2019, of which the revenue from sales of
machinery and spare parts recorded a significant decrease by
approximately 74.5% when compared to that of FY2018 (approximately
HKS$41.1 million) while the revenue from lease of machinery also recorded
a decrease of approximately 22.4% when compared with that of FY2018
(approximately HK$144.4 million). However, the Group still made
investment in new, advanced and specific machines, including the
generators for our newly introduced Automatic Power System (“APS”) in
the Smart System in Mobile Electricity ("SSME”") in FY2019 (approximately
HK$91.8 million). The APS can help our customers (i) to save energy and
fuel, reduce particulate matter, air emissions (especially carbon monoxide
and nitrogen dioxide) and noise level; (ii) save manpower for onsite power
monitoring, and allow on time equipment maintenance without affecting
the power supply and ensure continuous production as well as smart
equipment management, which would lead to cost reduction and foster
environmental protection. Notwithstanding our continuous investment on
advanced machines, our financial position still maintained its good shape
as at 31 March 2019 with nil gearing ratio and relatively abundant cash
flow. For details, please refer to the MD&A section.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEEIES

The Group's business performance in Macau experienced a decline in
FY2019 but it was not material compared to that of Hong Kong because
the decline in Macau has started since the year 2017 and should have
reached its bottom in the year 2019. The Group has introduced a greater
range of machines into Macau in FY2019 and we are focusing on the
building work.

Lastly, for the Group's business in Singapore, the results were far from
satisfactory, with revenues and net return of our wholly-owned subsidiary,
AP Equipment Rentals (Singapore) Pte. Limited ("AP Singapore”),
approximately HKS$1 million and a net loss of approximately HKS$(3.9)
million respectively for FY2019. Obviously, the Group has only made a trial
run in Singapore and the overall sentiments of the construction industry in
Singapore were poor. In 2019, the Group would try to consider a new
business mode to operate our business in Singapore so as to reduce losses
and to increase revenues.

Looking ahead, the Group would continue its investment in advanced
machines and explore any possible opportunities to expand our business
beyond Hong Kong in coming months after considering any possible
business and economic risks, for instance, the effect of the possible Trade
War. The Group would try to promote our APS in SSME and similar new
products in Hong Kong, which aims at enabling our customers to benefit
from our advanced machines in different aspects, namely smart equipment
management, environmental protection, energy saving, job safety and
efficiency. We hope it would ultimately benefit our community in Hong
Kong as a whole. Further, the work progress of key projects in Hong Kong,
namely Central Kowloon Route ("CKR"), the Kai Tak Sports Park ("KTSP")
and the Third Runway, should be on track. These would definitely fuel up
the demands of the construction machines and our Group is expected to
capitalize on such increasing demand.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEE S

On 10 May 2019, AP Rentals (China) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, has entered into an equity transfer agreement to acquire a
PRC company, Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited (the “Ajax Pong Shanghai”),
which principally engaged in the construction equipment rental services
business in the PRC since 2015. For details, please refer to the MD&A
section and the section headed "Events after the reporting period’. The
acquisition will enable the Group to (i) expand its business and diversify its
income streams geographically; and (ii) expand its owned equipment fleet
and customer base. The expansion into the PRC market will also enable the
Group to capitalize on the national policies of the PRC government to
develop the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area, which will
bring along macroeconomic momentum and opportunities. According to
“Outline Development Plan for the Guangdong-Hong Kong Macao
Greater Bay Area’ (the "Development Plan”) (https://www.bayarea.gov.
hk/filemanager/en/share/pdf/Outline_Development_Plan.pdf) published
in February 2019, the Development Plan indicated that it aims to (i) build a
rapid transport network in the Greater Bay Area focusing on connecting
the Mainland with Hong Kong and Macau, as well as focusing on
connecting the east and west banks of the Pearl River Estuary; (i) build a
rapid inter-city transport network mainly involving high-speed rails, inter-
city railway links and high-grade motorways; and (iii) accelerate the
construction of infrastructure such as the Shenzhen-Zhongshan Bridge and
the Second Humen Bridge cross-river link. The Group expects that around
70% of the fleet of equipment of Ajax Pong Shanghai will be allocated to
leasing while the remaining will be allocated to trading. Lastly, the Group
does not expect to have much improvement in the business of Macau and
Singapore in the coming year.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ESEEIES

In light of the above, the Group will further expand its trading business and
rental solution business in Hong Kong and PRC. We will foster the concepts
of environmental protection and rental solution in Hong Kong and the
PRC, which would help us further penetrating into the building sector and
reduce price competition. Further, we will also dispose of those rental
machines with low utilization rate and will tighten our cost control so as to
further reduce our operating costs. We would try to improve the
performance of our operation in Singapore in coming months. The Group
is expected to strengthen our competitive edges in longer term of view
and thus improve our profitability.

Last but not least, | would like to express my gratitude to the Board for its
brilliant leadership, the entire staff for their untiring efforts during the Year,
as well as the strong support from our shareholders (the “Shareholders”). |
would also like to thank our investors, customers, suppliers and business
partners for their backing. We will continue to fortify AP Rental's leadership
in the equipment rental industry, realize sustainable growth and generate
satisfactory returns for Shareholders.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019.

By Order of the Board

Mr. Lau Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
28 June 2019
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B IR E R wm B ) AT

GROUP OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading equipment rental service company in Hong Kong.
The principal activities of the Group encompass the provision of
equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services to customers.
The Group owns and maintains a strong rental fleet of over 1,940 units of
equipment as at 31 March 2019 and also rents equipment from its
suppliers, mainly from its shareholder and strategic partner, Kanamoto Co,,
Ltd., which is one of the leading construction equipment rental groups in
Japan.

The Group strives to serve our valuable customers better with the provision
of the equipment rental-related solutions and value-added services. For the
year ended 31 March 2019 (“FY2019"), the Group recorded a decline in
trading income and a decrease in leasing income due to the completion of
the Express Rail Hong Kong section (“Express Rail HK") and the Hong
Kong-Zhuhai-Macao Bridge Hong Kong Boundary Crossing Facilities
("HZMB"). Furthermore, the continuous trade war between the US and
China (the "Trade War") has inevitably led to poor economic and business
sentiments, and thus would definitely affect our customers in making any
decision in investment. Our customers might (i) defer the purchase of more
machines; (i) continue the use of existing machines that should be
replaced; and/or (jii) satisfy their need by means of rental of machines. As
the result, our machinery trading income tumbled while our rental income
only recorded a decrease. For details, please refer to the section headed
"Financial Review". The business of the Group in Macau also recorded a
small decline while the business of the Group in Singapore just recorded a
small revenue.

However, the Group has implemented strategies to strive for long term
success. As such, in FY2019, the Group has invested in new, advanced and
specific machines, including the generators for our newly introduced auto
power system "APS”", boom lifts, excavators and spider crane amounting to
approximately HK$91.8 million (FY2018: approximately HK$76.4 million). On
the other hand, we continued our disposal of approximately HK$18.0
million (being the net book value) of aged equipment. Such measures will
definitely improve our competitiveness in the market and enable the
Group to provide more value-adds to our customers in long run. As a result,
the Group will not be heavily involved in the price war in the rental market.
We would continue to be a solution-provider.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B IR B R wm B ) AT

GROUP OVERVIEW (Continued)

For FY2019, the Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$146.1
million, representing a decrease of approximately 35.1% as compared to
that of approximately HK$225.3 million for the year ended 31 March 2018
(“FY2018"). For FY2019, the Group recorded gross profit of approximately
HK$26.2 million, representing a decrease of approximately 54.3% as
compared to that of approximately HK$57.2 million for FY2018 . The gross
profit margin for FY2019 was approximately 17.9% (FY2018: approximately
25.4%), representing a decrease of approximately 29.5% as compared to
that for FY2018. Please refer to the section headed “Financial Review" of
this report for further details of the Group’s performance in FY2019.

Net profit attributable to owners of the Company decreased by
approximately HK$23.6 million from approximately HK$21.1 million in
FY2018 to net loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HKS(2.5) million in FY2019. This was primarily due to (i) decrease in sales of
machinery and parts; (i) decrease in operating service income; (iii) decrease
in gain on disposal of equipment; (iv) decrease in leasing income of
machinery and other service income; and (v) net loss recorded in AP
Singapore. In short, the Group has recorded a decrease in net profit in its
businesses in Hong Kong and Macau for FY2019 while AP Singapore
recorded a net loss for FY2019.

Basic loss per share attributable to owners of the Company for FY2019 was
HK(0.29) cent while the basic profit per share attributable to owners of the
Company for FY2018 was HK2.44 cents.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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BUSINESS OVERVIEW

During FY2019, the overall market sentiment in the construction industry is
deteriorating in Hong Kong. The main reasons were that the Express Rail
HK and HZMB were completed in September and October 2018
respectively, which heavily affected the Group's rental business. Despite
the fact that other key projects, namely Central Kowloon Route (“CKR"), the
Kai Tak Sports Park (“KTSP”), Third Runway of the Hong Kong International
Airport (the “Third Runway”) and the Tseung Kwan O-Lam Tin Tunnel (the
“TKO-LT Tunnel’) have been launched, the demands for rental equipment
have not increased materially. For instance, the demand from the Third
Runway was below our expectation due to the lack of landfill construction
material and bad weather. Thus, the demands from the aforesaid projects
could not soften the decrease in rental income caused by the return of
rental machines after completion of the Express Rail HK and the HZMB
projects. Even worse, problems of the Shatin to Central Link have affected
the progress of the project and thus also affected the demands on
machines. For the trading business, the further interest hikes in the US and
Hong Kong during FY2019 and the continuous Trade War have threatened
the global economy. As a result, the economic sentiments in Hong Kong
are deteriorating, which inevitably affected our trading business. However,
we believe business would improve after the Third Runway has reached its
normal work progress and the cessation of the Trade War.

For the business in Macau, we recorded a slight decrease in total revenue
in FY2019. For the business in Singapore, we have started to make some
rental business to test the market and only a negative result could be
reported in FY2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS

The Group expects the Hong Kong market to continue to be the Group's
major market. We expect that our rental income will benefit from the CKR
and the KTSP when entering phrases where more machines are required in
late 2019 and the impediment in the work of the Third Runway is removed
and resolved in coming months. However, for the trading business, its
performance will greatly depend on the outcomes of the Trade War. For
our operating service income line, the Group would reduce its focus on
this line of income due to its inherent risk in hiring operators. The HKSAR
government is expected to make continuous investment in infrastructure
in Hong Kong, like those cited in the 2018 Policy Address (the “2018 Policy
Address") delivered by the Chief Executive of the HKSAR in 2018, including
the concept of “Lantau Tomorrow’, which has definitely demonstrated
the intention and the long term direction of the HKSAR government. Land
reclamation would be one of the key methods for increasing land supply
for the continuous development of Hong Kong in the coming decades. As
such, the Group still has confidence on the future of its business in Hong
Kong.

On 10 May 2019 (after trading hours), AP Rentals (China) Limited, a newly
formed company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability and an
indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company has entered into a
discloseable and connected transaction in relation to acquisition of a
company established in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") (“Target
Company’). Please refer to the section headed "Event after the
reporting period” of this report for further details. As relating the (i)
discloseable and connected transaction in relation to acquisition of Target
Company; and (ii) connected transaction in relation to proposed
amendments to the deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 and
executed by Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House
International Limited and Great Club House Holdings Limited in favour of
the Company have been passed in the extraordinary general meeting of
the Company held on 25 June 2019, the Group is expected to (i) expand its
business and diversify its income streams geographically; and (i) expand its
owned equipment fleet and customer base. The expansion into the PRC
market will also enable the Group to capitalise on the national policies of
the PRC government to develop the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao
Greater Bay Area which will bring along macroeconomic momentum and
opportunities.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PROSPECTS (Continued)

For the Group's business in Macau, we believe that the demand for
construction equipment will not improve significantly due to the
completion of major casino projects. Nevertheless, the Group has
continuously introduced more kinds of machines into Macau during
FY2019, including air compressors and excavators to Macau for rental
purpose. Our belief remains unchanged that in long run, the demand of
construction equipment in Macau will pick up due to the needs to improve
its infrastructure, like drainage. For the Group's business in Singapore, we
are considering to make a shift in its business model in coming months so
as to reduce its net loss.

Lastly, due to the Trade War, the Group has not made any business
progress in respect of expansion of the business in Southeast Asia countries
lying along the “Belt & Road". Once the Trade War ceases, the Group will
consider to keep an eye on any business opportunities over the "Belt &
Road" again.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For FY2019, the Group recorded a decrease in revenue of approximately
HK$79.2 million, with the total revenue amounting to approximately
HK$146.1 million for FY2019, representing a decrease of approximately
35.1% as compared to that of approximately HK$225.3 million for FY2018.
The decrease in revenue mainly resulted from the decrease in all segments
of business of the Group.

(i) Lease of machinery
During FY2019, the Group's rental income from rental services, which
involved the rental of construction, electrical and mechanical
engineering and event and entertainment equipment in Hong Kong,
Macau and Singapore, decreased to approximately HK$112.1 million
compared to that of approximately HK$144.4 million in FY2018.

As mentioned above, the Group's rental business in Hong Kong and
Macau continued to decline in FY2019 due to the reasons
mentioned in the section headed “Business Overview" above.

Rental income of machinery accounted for approximately 76.7% of
the Group's total revenue for FY2019 (FY2018: approximately 64.1%).
The increase of the above percentage was led by the decline in the
sales of machinery and parts in FY2019.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B R wm T

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Revenue (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating services in Hong Kong by
providing equipment operators to operate the equipment at the job
sites of its customers. For FY2019, revenue from equipment
operating services decreased by approximately 57.1% to
approximately HK$10.8 million (FY2018: approximately HK$25.2
million), and accounted for approximately 7.4% of the Group's total
revenue for FY2019 (FY2018: approximately 11.2%). The decrease in
operating service income for FY2019 was attributable to the
shrinking in demand for operators by sizable construction
companies in Hong Kong upon the completion of various key
projects in Hong Kong and the shift of the Group’s focus due to its
inherent risk in employing and managing of the operators.

Other service income

The Group’s other service income, which arises from rental
arrangements including repair, transportation, maintenance and
technical support services during the rental period, recorded a
decrease and amounted to approximately HK$12.7 million for
FY2019 (FY2018: approximately HK$14.6 million). The decrease was
mainly contributed by the decrease of the demand on
transportation by the market in FY2019. The income from
transportation was approximately HK$9.2 million for FY2019 (FY2018:
approximately HK$10.5 million). The Group's other service income
accounted for approximately 8.7% of the Group's total revenue for
FY2019 (FY2018: approximately 6.5%).

Sales of machinery and spare parts

Due to the poor economic sentiment globally, the demand for
construction equipment declined. The revenue from sales of
machinery and spare parts decreased significantly by approximately
74.5% from approximately HK$41.1 million in FY2018 to
approximately HK$10.5 million for FY2019, which accounted for
approximately 7.2% of the Group's total revenue for FY2019 (FY2018:
approximately 18.2%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Cost of Sales

The Group's cost of sales amounted to approximately HK$119.9 million for
FY2019, representing a year-on-year decrease of approximately 28.6%
(FY2018: approximately HK$168.0 million). Cost of sales mainly comprised
machinery hiring expenses, staff costs for the Group’s equipment operators,
technicians and truck drivers, costs for machinery and parts for trading and
depreciation, which together accounted for approximately 86.0% of the
Group's total cost of sales in FY2019 (FY2018: approximately 88.2%).

Among the four major items under cost of sales, the Group recorded a
decrease of approximately 33.1% in machinery hiring expenses during
FY2019, since more owned fleet, especially those advanced equipment,
were rented out to the customers and the decrease in the demand for
machines. Staff costs decreased by approximately 36.5% due to decrease in
the demand for the Group's operators by the market and the shift of our
business focus as mentioned before, which led to the decrease in number
of operators required. Depreciation increased by approximately 3.0% year-
on-year. The increase in total investment in machinery for rental was
greater than the amount of disposed machinery, which led to the net
increase in depreciation. Costs for machinery and parts decreased by
approximately 78.7% due to the decrease in machinery sale in FY2019.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group's overall gross profit decreased by approximately 54.3% from
approximately HK$57.2 million for FY2018 to approximately HK$26.2 million
for FY2019 and the Group's gross profit margin recorded a decline to
approximately 17.9% for FY2019 (FY2018: approximately 25.4%). The
decrease in gross profit margin was due to (i) the decrease in rental income
for machines, (i) decrease in revenue from sales of machinery, (iii) an
increase in depreciation was recorded in FY2019 due to continuous
investment on advanced machines, and (iv) a gross loss in AP Singapore
amounting to approximately equivalent HK$(0.7) million due to poor rental
price in the market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Other Income

The Group recorded other income amounting to approximately HK$4.2
million in FY2019 (FY2018: approximately HK$3.9 million), which
represented an increase of approximately 7.7% from FY2018. The increase
was due to an increase in interest income of approximately HK$0.3 million
in FY2019 when compared to FY2018. The increase was contributed by the
increase of amount of bank deposits made in aggregate and the increase
of interest rate in FY2019.

Other Gains and Losses

Other gains and losses amounted to approximately HK$5.3 million in
FY2019 (FY2018: approximately HK$8.4 million after excluding allowance
for doubtful debts recognised, net), representing a decrease of
approximately 36.9% over FY2018.

Due to poor demand for the construction equipment in Hong Kong,
including used equipment, the proceeds generated from the disposal of
plant were reduced and a gain on disposal of plant and equipment of
approximately HK$5.3 million was recorded in FY2019 (FY2018:
approximately HKS$8.9 million). In addition, the Group recorded an
exchange loss of approximately HK$0.1 million in FY2019 (FY2018:
approximately HK$0.6 million).

Impairment Losses Recognised on Trade Receivables, Net
For FY2019, the impairment losses recognised on trade receivables, net
was approximately HK$1.2 million (FY2018: approximately HK$ 1.2 million).

Administrative, Selling and Distribution Expenses

For FY2019, administrative, selling and distribution expenses amounted to
approximately HK$36.3 million (FY2018: approximately HK$40.9 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 11.2% over FY2018. The decrease
in administrative expenses was mainly due to decrease in staff costs,
compliance fee and marketing & promotional expenses.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Finance Cost

Finance costs comprised interest on the Group's borrowings, which
amounted to approximately HK$0.5 million for FY2019 (FY2018:
approximately HK$1.0 million). The decrease was attributable to the
repayment of loans, resulting in saving of interest expenses during FY2019.

Total Comprehensive (Expense) Income for FY2019

The Group recorded loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HKS(2.5) million for FY2019 while the Group recorded profit
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$21.1 million,
representing a loss margin of approximately (1.7)% (a profit margin of
approximately 9.4% in FY2018). The decrease in profit attributable to
owners of the Company in FY2019 was mainly due to (i) the decrease in all
revenue lines while the depreciation under the cost of sales increased, as
explained above, (i) decrease in gain on disposal of equipment; and (iii) the
net loss reported in AP Singapore amounted to approximately HK$(3.9)
million is FY2019 due to the poor rental price in the market.

Capital Expenditure

The Group’s capital expenditures in FY2019 primarily comprised
expenditures on machinery and office equipment, amounting to a total of
approximately HK$92.5 million (FY2018: approximately HK$80.3 million).
The vast majority of the capital expenditures were used to fund the
expansion of the Group’s owned rental fleet of machinery, which
accounted for approximately 99.2% of the total capital expenditure for
FY2019.

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review

The Group financed its operations through a combination of cash flow
from operations and borrowings. As at 31 March 2019, the Group had bank
balances and cash equivalents of approximately HK$51.8 million (as at 31
March 2018: approximately HK$61.4 million) that were mainly denominated
in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen, Macau Pataca (“MOP”), Singapore
Dollars and United States Dollars, and had borrowings of approximately
HKS$17.5 million (as at 31 March 2018: approximately HK$20.1 million) that
were mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars and in Japanese Yen.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Liquidity and Financial Resources Review (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group banking facilities of approximately HK$53.5
million (as at 31 March 2018: approximately HK$58.1 million), of which
approximately HK$19.1 million (as at 31 March 2018: approximately
HK$17.3 million) had been drawn down, and approximately HK$34.4
million (as at 31 March 2018: approximately HK$40.8 million) were
unutilised.

As at 31 March 2019, the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (as at 31 March
2018: nil), which was calculated based on the net debt divided by total
equity. Net debt is defined as the sum of the borrowings, bank overdraft
and obligations under finance leases, minus the cash and cash equivalents.

Going forward, the Group expects to fund its future operations and
expansion plans primarily with cash generated from operations and
borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in currencies which are
different from the functional currencies of the Group, namely, Hong Kong
Dollars, and therefore the Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk.
Payments made by the Group for the settlement of its purchases from
suppliers are generally denominated in Hong Kong Dollars, Japanese Yen,
Singapore Dollars and United States Dollars. Payments received by the
Group from its customers are mainly denominated in Hong Kong Dollars,
MOP, Singapore Dollars and United States Dollars.

The Group does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
Group will continue to monitor closely its exposure to currency movement
and take proactive measures.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no material contingent liabilities (as at
31 March 2018: Nil).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals of Subsidiaries and
Associated Companies and Joint Ventures

On 10 May 2019, AP Rentals (China) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited to acquire Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited
(the "Acquisition”), a company principally engaged in the construction
equipment rental services business in the PRC since 2015. The equity
transfer agreement became unconditional on 25 June 2019. The
transaction is expected to be completed on or before 30 September 2019.

The Acquisition will enable the Group to (i) expand its business and
diversify its income streams geographically; (ii) expand its owned
equipment fleet and customer base. The expansion into the PRC market
will also enable the Group to capitalise on the national policies of the PRC
government to develop the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area which will bring along macroeconomic momentum and
opportunities.

Capital Commitments and Future Plans for Material
Investments or Capital Assets

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had no capital commitments (as at 31
March 2018: approximately HK$ 1.5 million).

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2019, deposit placed for a life insurance policy of
approximately HK$2.7 million (as at 31 March 2018: approximately HK$2.7
million), plant and machinery of approximately HK$8.7 million as at 31
March 2019 (as at 31 March 2018: approximately HK$25.0 million), and bank
deposits of approximately HK$0.4 million (as at 31 March 2018:
approximately HK$0.4 million) have been pledged to secure the Group's
borrowings of approximately HK$2.5 million (as at 31 March 2018:
approximately HK$18.0 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B IR B R wm B ) AT

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Human Resources and Employees’ Remuneration

As at 31 March 2019, the Group had 115 employees (as at 31 March 2018:
132 employees), of which 106 employees were in Hong Kong (as at 31
March 2018: 124 employees), 4 employees were in Macau (as at 31 March
2018: 5 employees) and 5 employees were in Singapore (as at 31 March
2018: 3 employees). Employees’ remuneration packages are determined
with reference to the market information and individual performance and
will be reviewed on a regular basis. The remuneration policy will be
reviewed by the Board from time to time. In addition to basic
remuneration, the Group also provides medical insurance, makes
contributions to provident funds and provides other benefits to the
employees. The total staff cost including remuneration, other benefits and
contributions to retirement schemes for the directors of the Company and
other staff of the Group for FY2019 amounted to approximately HK$42.1
million (FY2018: approximately HK$57.0 million). The decrease in staff cost
was mainly due to the decrease in headcount of operators and drivers due
to decrease of the demand of the market and the technicians attributable
to decrease of machinery rental.

The Group's technical staff attend seminars jointly conducted by
manufacturers and the Group to acquire product knowledge to ensure
they are equipped with the necessary skills and knowledge to perform
their duties. Such seminars include training regarding the equipment
structures, operational features, operator safety training and equipment
repair. In addition to the training jointly conducted by manufacturers and
the Group, the Group's technical staff also attend external training courses
and obtain relevant certificates.
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

R FET B E

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Results

2019

2019 &
HK$'000
FExT

hEMBHRE

For the year ended 31 March
BE3831HLEE

2018
20184
HK$'000
FHT

2017
20174
HK$'000
FHT

2016
20164F
HK$'000
FHET

2015
20154
HK$'000
FAT

Revenue W25
Leasing income of HAEMUBA
machinery 112,086 144,383 143,121 171,777 161,660
Sales of machinery and MR EREHEE
parts 10,549 41,081 17,612 36,957 38,530
Operating service income LB RRA WA 10,777 25,153 26,512 20,329 16,926
Other service income HREWA 12,698 14,644 13,246 10,278 11,109
146,110 225,261 200,491 239,341 228,225
Gross profit E7 26,164 57,246 46,391 76,828 69,321
Other income HAb A 4,193 3,863 4,768 2,552 2,065
Other gains and (losses) Hibuzs & (E518) 5,250 8,363 1,956 494 2,625
Impairment losses recognised  © HER JE We AH & 7008 Jo
on lease receivables and 2 S RWHIERE
trade receivables, net B8 (1,181) (12100 NATEA NATEA NATER
(Loss) profit before taxation R AT (E1R) A (2,382) 26,297 15,283 29,030 51472
Income tax expense Eitcy b (141) (5216) (3312 (8,107) (8,547)
(Loss) profit and total REE (BE)RH
comprehensive (expense) kem(AX) K
income for the year R (2,523) 21,081 11,971 20923 42,925
Per share data sREN
(Loss) earnings per share ik (E18) &F
— basic (HK cents) — EAR &) (0.29) 244 141 294 6.02
Financial ratios Bigt =
Gross profit margin EFE 17.9% 254% 23.1% 32.1% 30.4%
Net (loss) profit margin CREBR) AR (1.7%) 9.4% 6.0% 8.7% 18.8%
Return on total assets BB ERRE (0.8%) 6.3% 36% 7.5% 18.1%
Return on equity R EIR R (1.0%) 8.6% 5.1% 174% 38.8%
Current ratio BN & 1.67 222 177 077 0.89
Assets and liabilities BERARE
Total assets BEE 332,056 333,666 334,856 279,071 237471
Total liabilities FER=E 91,511 (87,492) (101,424) (158,579) (126,902)
Total equity el 240,545 246,174 233432 120,492 110,569
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HFET B E

REVENUE (HKS Million)

3Z e . —
W (mEsT)
228.23 239.34 200.49 225.26
250.00
10.28
2033 14.65
200.00 2605 1395 2515
2651 146.11
41.08
150.00
1761 12.70
10.78
10.55
10000 1 171.78
143.12 14438
112.08
50.00
0.00
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
2015%F 20165 20174 2018%F 20195
. Leasing income of machinery . Sales of machinery and parts
HAEBRUA B R T S
. Operating service income . Other service income
EE RIS HAth AR UA

(LOSS) PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS

GROSS PROFIT (HKS Million)

ER (8T
80.00 83
70.00
69.32
60.00
57.25
50.00
4639
40.00
30.00
26.16
20.00
10.00
0.00
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
2015%F 20165 20174 20184 20194

(LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

(HKS Million) (HK cents)
s 42\ 32 P — - 4= N
BB AEM (EBB) &R (aasr) B (E518) BF o8
50.00 8.00
" 7.00
s000 293 4219
600 o 592%
30,00 5.00
400
20,00 <
21.08 3.00
13.08*
10.00 2.00 ) 244
1.54%
1.00
0.00
(2.52)\ 0.00
(029) \
-10.00 -1.00
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164F 20174 20184 20194 20154 20165 20174 20184F 20195

Underlying profit and total comprehensive income for the year ended 31 March 2017 and year ended 31 March 2016 (‘FY2016") represent
reported profit attributable to owners of the Company before deducting one-off listing expenses of approximately HK$1.11 million for the
year ended 31 March 2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$21.27 million).

* HZE2017F3 A3 BIEFEREZE 201653 A31 BIEFE (12016 F B BF B ) AHR G T R 2 E U B FIENREZE 201753 A 31
HIEFE—RIE LR BSET (016 FHBFE 892127 BEBT) INAQRER ARERSBF) -
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FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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FINANCIAL RATIOS

GROSS PROFIT MARGIN %)
FEFI =R (o)

35.0% 32.1%

30.4%
30.0%

\ 254%
0

25 0% 23.1%

20.0%

A

15.0% 17.99
10.0%
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164F 20174 20184F 20194

RETURN ON TOTAL ASSET (%)

BEEBRE(»)
30.0%
25.0%
18.1%
200%

k 15.1%*
15.0% ==

NN
100% 7.5% > 63%

N 3.9%*
0% N (0.8%)
0 .00,
0.0% 3.6%
-5.0%
2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164 20174 20184 20194
CURRENT RATIO %)
FBNEE 2R (%)
25 222

: =

0.5

0.0

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019
20154 20164F 20174 20184F 20194

gt =

NET (LOSS) PROFIT MARGIN (%)
(FEER) AR (%)

25.0%
18.8% 17.6%*

20.0% K
15.0%

\8'7% . 9.4%
10.0% A
0 N 65%
\
5.0%
6.0% \

0.0% r
-5.0% (1.7%)

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

20154 20164F 20174 20184F 20194
RETURN ON EQUITY %)

< 3

Rz B R = (%)
60.0%
50.0%

38.8% -
40.0% — =

)0,
30.0% NA N
20.0% N
l\\ 5.6%* 8.6%
10.0% N
0 (1.0%)

0.0% 5.1%
-10.0%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

2015%F 2016%F 20174F 20184F 20194

Underlying profit and total comprehensive income for the FY2017 and FY2016 represent reported profit attributable to owners of the

Company before deducting one-off listing expenses of approximately HK$1.11 million for FY2017 (FY2016: approximately HK$21.27 million).

#2127 BEET) INARRHEE AEGEREEF -
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
EELHE

The Directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2019.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The Group is
principally engaged in the provision of equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The principal activities of the
Company's subsidiaries are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESERVES
Details of movement in the reserves of the Group during the year are set
out in the consolidated statement of change in equity on page 90.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
As at 31 March 2019, distributable reserves of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$109.9 million (as at 2018: HK$115.4 million).

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group as at 31 March 2019 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 180 of this annual
report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2019 (FY2018: HK0.35 cent per share).

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group during the year and a discussion of
the Group's future business development are set out in the “Chairman’s
Statement’ and the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section
on pages 8 to 13 and on pages 14 to 25 of this annual report respectively.
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The equipment rental industry is cyclical in general and its revenues are
tied to general economic conditions and to conditions in the construction
and electrical and mechanical engineering ('E&M" or "E&M engineering”)
industry in particular. Our products and services are used primarily in
construction projects which is cyclical and sensitive to changes in general
economic conditions. Weakness in our end-markets, such as a decline in
construction and E&M engineering activity, may decrease the demand for
the Group’s equipment or the rental rates or prices that the Group can
charge. Factors that may cause weakness in our end-markets include:

(i) weakness in economic growth in Hong Kong and in Macau or the
onset of a new recession that might be caused by the Trade War
between the US and the PRC;

(i) slowdown in the expansion of the construction industry in Hong
Kong and Macau where we operate;

(i) increase in the cost of construction materials and labour costs;
(iv)  increases in interest rates; and
(v)  adverse changes in the government infrastructure spending.

Further description of possible capital risks and financial risks facing the
Group are set out in note 26 and note 27 to the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 and the section
headed "Management Discussion and Analysis — Foreign Exchange
Risk” on page 23 of this annual report.

An analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators is set out in the Group's Five Year Financial
Summary and the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis — Financial Review’ on pages 26 to 28 and on pages 18 to 25
of this annual report respectively. Particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended

1 March 201
sections of this annual report and notes to the consolidated financial

9, if any, can also be found in this section and the above

statements.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

REHE-RBERETE  E RS R
RS E R EE N B T R T2 ([#E Ik #

BEIRDITENIRR) BEMEM - AW ER R
MBETEZANRERER  MEREABEHEBEN
1 RS EBEBEERARENTE - HFIR
RIS - EE REETIZEER
Lo AIREE TS E A S B R IB R H KA KB A
WOEREY AR B S B R T BR - AT R M&RE ™S
AR REBIE

) FPEREFBRASEHELIRM
B NKBERRER

PIBIE &

(i HEMEBAENESRRFIEEZERR
4Z

(i) MRS TR B

v FEEF R

V) BFEZFAXEE -

FRAEENAEERNE SRR LI HRR D E
—HRAFHNAFERTEEE2019F3 831 81E
FEMEEZERA TSR K W 526 KM 7E 27 A
REBER [ EEBHREI N — HMERK] —
ffi o

FRAEENBRREREHANEBAFERRME
DB EREFRFE 206 E28H N ANEB R EF
P ERE1sE BN [ EEBNwEDT—
HIISEEE | — 5 - BEZ= 20193 A31 H LK
FELRURMBEZEARARNAINERNSH (0
BIFE MARAERAS R EXHHELHR
REMBHRERMEER -



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEWE

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AND COMPLIANCE
WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to contributing to the sustainability of the
environment. In terms of environmental friendliness, we have obtained the
Quality Powered Mechanical Equipment (“QPME") identification for most
of our rental equipment to which the QPME system is applicable, and we
have filed application for all our equipment which are subject to the Air
Pollution Control (Non-road Mobile Machinery) (Emission) Regulation
(Chapter 311Z of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “NRMM" Regulation), and
have obtained the NRMM label for most of such equipment.

Further details on (i) the Group'’s environmental policies and performance;
and (ii) the Group's compliance with laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Group will be set out in the “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report’.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
The Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Listing Rules”) will be published within three months after the
publication of the annual report of the Company.

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and suppliers are keys to
its sustainable development. The Group is committed to establishing a
close and caring relationship with its employees, providing quality services
to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its business partners. The
Company provides a fair and safe workplace, promotes diversity to our
staff, provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career
development opportunities based on their merits and performance. The
Group also puts ongoing efforts to provide adequate trainings and
development resources to the employees so that they can keep abreast of
the latest development of the market and the industry and, at the same
time, improve their performance and self-fulfillment in their positions.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEEWME

RELATIONSHIP WITH KEY STAKEHOLDERS (Continued)

The Group provides a wide range of construction, E&M engineering and
event and entertainment equipment, equipment rental-related solutions
and value-added services to customers. The Group maintains good
working relationships between the Group and the customers. The Group
enhances the relationship by continuous interaction with customers to
gain insight on the changing market demand for different products so that
the Group can respond proactively.

The Group maintains sound business relationship with its suppliers and
service providers, including our strategic partner and our shareholder,
Kanamoto Co,, Limited, and our key suppliers. In order to have better and
close monitoring of suppliers’ performance, the Group’s management
conducts performance review regularly targeting the Group’s major
suppliers and service providers, and communicates with them for
rectification and improvements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
5 financial years are set out on page 26 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year
are set out in note 23 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY'S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year ended 31 March 2019, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the
Company.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles
of association (“Articles”) or the laws of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders.
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Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted to
HK$15,000 (FY2018: HK$130,000).

To attract and retain the most suitable personnel for development of the
Group, the Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) on 17 March 2016. Share options may be granted to
eligible employees of the Group as a long-term incentive. From the date of
the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up to 31 March 2019, no
share option has been granted or agreed to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme.

1. Purpose of the Share Option Scheme
(@  The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions
that Eligible Participants (as defined below) had made or may
make to the Group.

(b)  The Share Option Scheme will provide the Eligible Participants
with an opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the
Company with the view to achieving the following principal
objectives:

(i) motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group;
and

(i) attract and retain or otherwise maintain ongoing
business relationship with the Eligible Participants
whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

(c)  For the purpose of the Share Option Scheme, “Eligible
Participant’ means any person who satisfies the eligibility
criteria in paragraph 2 below.
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Who may join and basis for determining eligibility

(a)

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

The Board may at its discretion grant options to: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the
Group or a company in which the Group holds an interest or a
subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of
any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary trust the
discretionary objects of which include any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or (iii) a
company beneficially owned by any director, employee,
consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner,
adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

In order for a person to satisfy the Board that he/she/it is
qualified to be (or, where applicable, continues to qualify to
be) an Eligible Participant, such person shall provide all such
information as the Board may request for the purpose of
assessing his/her/its eligibility (or continuing eligibility).

Each grant of options to a connected person (as defined in the
Listing Rules) of the Company, or any of his associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules), must be approved in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Should the Board resolve that a grantee fails/has failed or
otherwise is/has been unable to meet the continuing
eligibility criteria under the Share Option Scheme, the
Company would (subject to any relevant laws and regulations)
be entitled to deem any outstanding option or part thereof,
granted to such grantee and to the extent not already
exercised, as lapsed, subject to certain requirements (the
details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the prospectus of the
Company dated 24 March 2016 (the “Prospectus”)).
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AHEBTHERIFTRE (KD &E

3. Maximum number of shares of the Company (“Shares”) 3.

available for issue

(@)  The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be
exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other
schemes must not, in aggregate, exceed 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time. No options
may be granted under any schemes of the Company
(including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result in the
said 30% limit being exceeded.

(b)  The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options
may be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes involving the issue or grant of
options or similar rights over Shares or other securities by the
Company shall not, in aggregate, exceed 10% of the issued
share capital of the Company as at 8 April 2016 (the “Listing
Date”), and such 10% limit represents 86,400,000 Shares.
86,400,000 Shares represents 10% of the total Shares in issue
as at the date of this annual report.

(@) Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option
Scheme, an option may be exercised in accordance with the
terms of the Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant
thereof at any time during the applicable option period, which
is not more than ten years from the date of grant of option.
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4. The maximum entitlement of each participant under BREGESSHENGESEA
the Share Option Scheme
No option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if HEETEERESEEEMEER2H
exercised in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued EREEZZHBRLER(BEER) L+
and to be issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to 8 AR N AR IR AR T 8 2 B sk
be granted to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option HEREOERE(REETE - BEHER
Scheme (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding share R AR AT 58 ) B AR ) A TR A B T g T B
options) in the twelve-month period up to and including the date of THRNEBHARBARNRINZELE
such new grant exceeding 1% in aggregate of the issued share AMBEITIRAMN 1% - A NSAZE ER
capital of the Company as at the date of such grant. Any grant of SEERHERE - ROBE FMREEY
further share options above this limit shall be subject to certain EFEINERIES AR S EMARRIETH
requirements provided under the Listing Rules. HETHIE °

5. Time of exercise of option BRAETERE
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Time of exercise of option (Continued)

(b)  There is no general requirement on the minimum period for
which an option must be held or the performance targets
which must be achieved before an option can be exercised
under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However, at the
time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions
or limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to
the minimum period of the options to be held and/or the
performance targets to be achieved as the Board may
determine in its absolute discretion.

Consideration for share options and the exercise price
On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme, the Board
shall be entitled at any time on a business day within ten years
commencing on the effective date of the Share Option Scheme to
offer the grant of an option to any Eligible Participant as the Board
may in its absolute discretion select in accordance with the eligibility
criteria set out in the Share Option Scheme. An offer shall be
accepted when the Company receives the duly signed offer letter
together with a non-refundable payment of HK$1.00 (or such other
sum in any currency as the Board may determine).

The exercise price for any Share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board and notified to each
grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing price
of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotations sheet
on the date of grant of the relevant option, which must be a business
day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average closing price of a Share
as stated in the Stock Exchange'’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant of the
relevant option and (i) the nominal value of a Share on the date of
grant. The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments
(the details of which are set out in the section headed “Share
Option Scheme” in Appendix IV of the Prospectus).
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7. Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme
Options may be granted to Eligible Participants under the Share
Option Scheme during the period of ten years commencing on the
effective date of the Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the
Share Option Scheme is approximately seven years and eight
months as at the date of this annual report.

For further details of the Share Option Scheme, please refer to the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” on pages IV-12 to IV-22 in Appendix IV to
the Prospectus.

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the aggregate amount of revenue
attributable to the Group's five largest customers are as follows:

3.8%
14.0%

The largest customer
The five largest customers in aggregate

The percentages of total purchases (defined as the sum of (i) the Group’s
total cost of sales less staff cost and depreciation and (i) purchases of the
Group’s owned rental equipment) for the year attributable to the Group's
major suppliers are as follows:

26.1%
66.2%

The largest supplier
The five largest suppliers in aggregate

At no time during the year did the Directors, their close associates or any
shareholders of the Company, which to the best knowledge of the
Directors, owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share capital,
have any interest in any of the Group’'s five largest customers and suppliers
except that Kanamoto (HK) Co,, Ltd., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of
Kanamoto Co., Limited, a company holding approximately 7.5% of the
shares of the Company as at the date of this annual report. Kanamoto (HK)
Co,, Ltd. contributed to the supply of 18.0% of total purchases of the Group
and is one of the Group’s five largest suppliers.

7. BRRESEIHEERE Y
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3.8%
14.0%

AEBETZHEARNAFEMGERBE(ESR
A3 () AN ER B AR 35 B RS IR B TR AR R 37 88 B (i) X
SERESELERENEAM BOLAOT

EAMER 26.1%
AAHERE 66.2%
% Kanamoto Co, Limited 1 2 & i B A Bl & & (&F
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year under review and up to the date of this
annual report were:

Executive Directors
Lau Pong Sing (Chairman)
Chan Kit Mui, Lina

Non-executive Directors
Nakazawa Tomokatsu (appointed on 14 December 2018)
Lu Tao (ceased to be a director on 14 December 2018)

Independent non-executive Directors
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond

Siu Chak Yu

Li Ping Chi

Pursuant to Article 83 of the Articles, the Board shall have the power from
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a director either to
fill a casual vacancy or as addition to the Board. Any director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first general
meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting. Any director appointed by the Board as an
addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

Pursuant to Article 84 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-
third of the Directors for the time being shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

By virtue of Article 83 of the Articles, Nakazawa Tomokatsu holds office only
until the 2019 annual general meeting of the Company ("“AGM") and is
subject to re-election at the 2019 AGM. By virtue of Article 84 of the Articles,
2 Directors, namely Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Lau Pong Sing, will retire from
office at the 2019 AGM and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-
election.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT'’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of the
Group are set out on pages 66 to 78 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the AGM has an unexpired service
contract which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2019, the interests or short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Future Ordinance (the “SFO")), which were required to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which the directors
and chief executive were deemed or taken to have under such provisions
of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to
be recorded in the register therein, or were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) are as follows:

Name of Director Nature of Interest

EEHA EEME

Interest in a controlled corporation
R EE R
Interest of spouse

[iRLEL s

Interest in a controlled corporation
R AR

Interest of spouse

f et

Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Note 1, 2)
BIFA S (MsE1 - 2)

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (Note 3, 4)
BROZMG 2+ (FIFE3 - 4)

BEENREEH

BRBREBFEAS EEREENEFREEAR
RARAHE—FERTTEE CEEBERIN) B S
RTRIENARBRBAL -

EERRG  HEAROCREEZFDHE
wmRRE

M2019F 3 A31 B - EERARR] REF( M
FE(EERFEHF LSO ([REFERBEMRM))
FEXVED) MARH - BERN REREPEERE
BEREEGRIIEXVEE 7 ReDHBEMEARR
AIREBZAERSAR (RIEREEALHE
EOIZEGRE AL EIEREFRERITRAR
FEEMER AR  IREBEFHFRBEERIE
352 G ZBREER N LA Tl B il T RS SUA B
SR E AR AIMTER 10 FTEL E T BT AE BT
FBHRZ SHZAETA([EEFA ) BHNS A QA
R R SOA B T

Approximate
Percentage of

Number of Total Issued

Shares Shares (%)

B BITRAOES

BAEE B4 E D E (%)

363,528,000 (L) 42.08%

284,471,352 (L) 32.92%

284,471,352 (L) 32.92%

363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
201956 | SHBEEERERAT 39



DIRECTORS’ REPORT
ESEEWME

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

(Continued)

Note 1:

Note 2:

Note 3:

Note 4:

The Company was directly owned as to 42.08% by New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House"). By virtue of his 100%
shareholding in New Club House, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (“Mr. Lau") is
deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares held by New Club
House.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina ("Ms. Chan”). Under the
SFO, Mr. Lau is deemed to be interested in the same number of Shares in
which Ms. Chan is interested.

The Company was directly owned as to 32.92% by Great Club House
Holdings Limited (“Great Club House"). By virtue of her 100%
shareholding in Great Club House, Ms. Chan is deemed to be interested in
the same number of Shares held by Great Club House.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau. Under the SFO, Ms. Chan is deemed to
be interested in the same number of Shares in which Mr. Lau is interested.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the Directors, as at 31
March 2019, none of the Directors or chief executives of the Company had
any interests or short positions in the Shares, underlying Shares or
debentures of the Company or its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV

of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to
therein, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2019, so far as the Directors are aware, the following
persons (other than the directors or chief executive of the Company) were,
directly or indirectly, interested in 5% or more of the shares or short
positions in the shares and the underlying shares of the Company, which
are required to be disclosed under provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part
XV of the SFO, or which will be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the
SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

Name of Shareholders Nature of Interest
BERAE

New Club House' (Note 1) Beneficial interest
New Club House' (Fft5E1) oy Ta

Great Club House? (Note 2) Beneficial interest
Great Club House? (Fff 51 2) B
Kanamoto Japan® (Note 3) Beneficial interest
SRR (:E3) BEmiEm

Note 1: It is directly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau Pong Sing. It is a controlling
shareholder holding 363,528,000 shares of the Company.

Note 2: It is directly wholly-owned by Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina. It is a controlling
shareholder holding 284,471,352 shares of the Company.

Note 3:  Itis a shareholder holding 64,800,648 shares of the Company.
(L): Long position

! “New Club House": New Club House International Holdings Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8
June 2015.

2 “Great Club House": Great Club House Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability on 8 June 2015.

3 "Kanamoto Japan’: Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (£ =, £ %&£ 77 7 F ), a company
incorporated in Japan on 24 September 1937.

FEREAROGREBROPHERR
RE

M2019F3A31H  BESHMAM - U TAT(K
REIEEXERITHRABRIN AERBEERA
AR AR P B RIEE FH R EE 150
FEXVEBEE 2 ]2 35 B SCBE L B SR IR 7 2
T B 545 55 336 1§ B RE A RZ G BT 3l 2 50 R 49 5%
FUA R D ER AR INT ¢

Approximate

Percentage of

Total Number the Issued
of Shares Held Share Capital
HEBTRAE

RO A BHABEDE
363,528,000 (L) 42.08%
284,471,352 (L) 32.92%
64,300,648 (L) 7.50%

MizE1: EMBAHKEEEEZE2EHEE - HARBAEAR
A 7] 363,528,000 AR AZ 19 HY 3 AR AR ER. -

W2 : ERRREZIEEZEAEE EAFAEL
A7) 284,471,352 AR A0 HIE AR AR ER. -

MEE3 :  H A B AR R 64,800,648 AL D RIRLE -
L HE

! [New Club House | : New Club House International
Holdings Limited * 7220154 6 A 8 B 1£ 2 /& & 22 Bf
SHMKIHBEREEAT -

? [ Great Club House] : Great Club House Holdings
Limited + 720154 6 A 8 B 1 2 8 iE 22 B 5 7% it
R EREERT] -

: [€ 7 B4 | : Kanamoto Co, Ltd* (kX2
ER) - R937F9 R4 BIEBAFMK AT
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES
(Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2019, the Directors were not aware
of any other corporation or individual (other than the Directors or chief
executives of the Company) who had an interest or a short position in the
Shares or underlying Shares of the Company as recorded in the register of
interests required to be kept pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Article 164 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides, among
other things, that the Directors and other officers shall be indemnified and
secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the Company from and
against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses as a result
of any act or failure to act in carrying out his/her functions. The Company
has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability insurance.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered
into or existed during the year.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save for the Share Option Scheme as set out in this annual report, no
equity-linked agreements were entered into by the Group, or subsisted
during the year ended 31 March 2019.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than the section headed “Share Option Scheme” disclosed above,
at no time during the year, the Company, its holding company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements which would enable the
Directors to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or its subsidiaries. Save as disclosed in this
report, none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the
age of 18 was granted any right to subscribe for the shares or debentures
of the Company or its subsidiaries or had exercised any such right during
the year.
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As at 31 March 2019, the Directors were not aware of any business or
interest of the Directors and their respective associates that had competed
or might compete with the business of the Group and any other conflicts
of interests which any such person had or might have with the Group
except those disclosed under the section headed “Non-Competition
Undertaking by Controlling Shareholders”.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group employed a total of 115 employees. For
the year ended 31 March 2019, the staff costs of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$42.1 million.

The remuneration policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Board on the basis of their performance, qualifications, competence and
job nature.

The remuneration of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration
Committee and are decided by the Board, having regard to the Group's
operating results, individual performance and comparing with market
conditions. The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to eligible employees.

The Group has established a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for its Hong Kong employees. The assets of the scheme are held
separately in funds which are under the control of independent trustees.
The retirement benefit scheme contributions charged to profit or loss
represent contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5%
of each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at HK$30,000
per month.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of approximately
HKS$1,549,000 (FY2018: approximately HK$2,148,000), comprised
approximately HK$72,000 and HK$1,477,000 (FY2018: approximately
HK$72,000 and HK$2,076,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff costs
respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to the schemes
by the Group in respect of the current accounting period. At the end of the
reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available to reduce
future obligations.

20193 A31 8 - B [ERB RN T 5 F RG]
—HEEEN EERTNBFEEREESEN
B AR EB IR A B EBENRT
SLATREENER T - EMZFATHAEEFL
S A BEAF AT (R B Ath Bl 25 T 28 ©

R2019F3A31H  REBEEBEHEI1152EE -
HZE2019F3A831HIEFE  AEBHE THKA
WERIEEBTT -

EEERASBEREENRI  BER  EHIRITIE
THE I E H MR

EXFMAFMEZEeRIER  YHEFEK
ZEAREKEES AARRRATRLRR
RTE - ARRIERMBRAETE (ERYBER
BB AV EERD -

REBEAEESREER I AHEAE 2T
([BELTE]) - ZFTEMEENBIETAE
EMESHRNDFIFE - RIBR N ARKER
AR FAAREBILZ S E B AE A30000%8 LA
ERMBBEE A WA % BTk e Za 8l a

o
N

NEERIBRINER ALK AL & 1,549,000 7T
(2018 F B IREFZ + #72,148000/87T) * BIEES
<& N2 E At B T AN Bl 49 72,0007 7T K. 1,477,000
BT (2018 FBIFE + #72,0007% 7T & 2,076,000
BIT) c HERAEERE S SHMECFakE
MEETEIHER - BEREHR - WELWAEFR
AR ERREREA -

2019 FF R DREBAEIERBER AR



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EEEWE

=

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors as at the date of this annual report,
at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share capital is held by the
public as required under the Listing Rules.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non- executive
Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules and considers all the Independent non-executive
Directors to be independent.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which any
Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 March 2019 or
during the year.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM IPO BRARBERSEIHEFERE

The Company’s shares have been listed on the Main Board of the Stock AN BIR%D B 20169 4 B 8 B 7B 22 F = 1R £
Exchange since 8 April 2016. The net proceeds from IPO of the Company T« AR BB X AHBEMEREFEHERE
(after deducting underwriting fee and relevant expenses) were $5& MBS ER)HNAISEEBIL N
approximately HK$81.8 million. The following table sets forth the status of  FIF 20194 3 A 31 B & X A EFTEFUERE

the use of proceeds from IPO as at 31 March 2019: AR :
Net proceeds Utilisedupto  Unutilised as at
from IPO 31 March 2019 31 March 2019
HEZE2019F 12019 F
BRDBRE 3A31AL 3A31H
P8 RIEFE SEARE RE)FARIE
HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FH&T
Investment in rental equipment DR ERE 58,242 58,242 -
Development of GPS equipment BREEETEARME
monitoring system BERRAR 8,507 2,506 6,001
Investment in transportation BRRBIRE
equipment 5,808 4,039 1,769
Improvement of facility RARERHFERE
for maintenance of the 2N & R HE
Group's equipment 3,517 690 2,827
General working capital —REEES 5,726 5,726 -
81,800 71,203 10,597

The unutilised amounts of the net proceeds from IPO will be applied in B /R 23 B 8 & P15 3R IR F 58 8) 7R B) A SRR 1542 48
such manner consistent with that mentioned in the Prospectus. IR Z 2Pt s R ER o

2010 5% | wHAAEREERAT 45



1

s =2

IR
o

R

On 10 May 2019, AP Rentals (China) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an equity transfer agreement with Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited to acquire Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited,
a company principally engaged in the construction equipment rental
services business in the PRC since 2015. The equity transfer agreement
became unconditional on 25 June 2019. The transaction is expected to be
completed on or before 30 September 2019.

The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May 2019
(“Supplemental Deed") with the controlling shareholders of the
Company. The Supplemental Deed was then approved on 25 June 2019.
Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the geographic coverage under the
definition of Restricted Business and the undertaking given by the
controlling shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC.

Details of the transaction were set out in the announcement of the
Company dated 10 May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3
June 2019, respectively.

A summary of the significant related party transactions which were
conducted in the ordinary course of business are set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements.

None of the related party transactions set out in Note 31 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions, or they constituted connected
transactions/continuing connected transactions but were exempted from
all disclosure and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements under
the Listing Rules.

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2019

On 29 January 2019, the dividend policy was approved by the Board with
details as set out below.

Provided that the Group is profitable and without affecting the normal
operations of the Group, the Company may consider to declare and pay
dividends to the Shareholders.
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In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account various factors
including but not limited to, (i) the cashflow of the Group, whether it is
adequate for the Group to operate its daily operation; (ii) capital
requirements of the Group; (iii) operating results and performance of the
Group; (iv) the indebtedness of the Group; (v) the economic outlook; (vi)
the compliance of any signed financial covenants of the Group; and (vii)
the future prospects of the Group, as well as the interests of the
Shareholders.

Declaration and payment of dividend by the Company are also subject to
the laws of the Cayman Islands, the memorandum and articles of
association of the Company and any applicable laws, rules and regulations
(including but not limited to the Listing Rules).

For the avoidance of doubt, there can be no assurance that a dividend will
be proposed or declared in any specific period.

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2019 AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from 26 August 2019
to 29 August 2019 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend
and vote at the 2019 AGM, all transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor, Hopewell Centre 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong Kong,
for registration no later than 4:30 p.m. on 23 August 2019,

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019
have been audited by Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution for
the re-appointment of Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the
Company is to be proposed at the 2019 AGM.
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TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION OF HOLDERS OF LISTED
SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemption available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

By order of the Board
LAU Pong Sing

Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 June 2019
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The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of the
Company for the year ended 31 March 2019.

The Company recognises the importance of corporate transparency and
accountability. The Company is committed in achieving a high standard of
corporate governance and leading the Group to attain better results and
improve its corporate image with effective corporate governance
procedures.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has engaged an
international consulting firm (the “Consultant”) to review and recommend
appropriate actions so as to ensure that the Company is complying with
the requirement of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) in relation to
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management. During the
year under review, the Company improved its corporate governance
practices continuously with reference to the Consultant’s
recommendations. Moreover, the Company has adopted its corporate
governance practices which are reproduced from the code provisions in
the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report as set
out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the Company has complied with
the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules (“CG Code"), save and except for the
deviation from code provision A.2.1.

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. The roles of chairman and chief
executive officer of the Company are both performed by Mr. Lau Pong
Sing. The Board believes that vesting of the roles of both chairman and
chief executive officer in the same individual provides the Company with
strong and consistent leadership, efficient usage of resources and allows
for effective planning, formulation and implementation of the Company’s
business strategies, which will enable the Company to sustain the
development of its business efficiently.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted The Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers ("Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions
by the directors of the Company. The Company has made specific
enquiries to all directors of the Company regarding any non-compliance
with the Model Code.

All the directors of the Company confirmed that they have fully complied
with the required standard set out in the Model Code during the year
ended 31 March 2019.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF AND DELEGATION BY THE
BOARD

The Board provides leadership and guidance to the Group’s activities and is
responsible for formulating the overall strategies and determining the
direction of future development of the Group. The Board oversees the
Group's operation and financial performance. The Board has delegated its
powers to the management for the Group’s daily management and
operations.

BOARD COMPOSITION

Currently, the Board comprises two executive Directors, one non- executive
Director and three independent non-executive Directors. Since there are
three independent non-executive Directors and at least one of the
independent non-executive Directors possesses the appropriate
professional accounting qualifications and financial management expertise,
the Company has complied with the requirements under Rule 3.10 of the
Listing Rules. Furthermore, the Company has complied with Rule 3.10A of
the Listing Rules. The number of independent non-executive Directors
represents more than one-third of the Board. As such, there exists a strong
independent element in the Board, which can effectively exercise
independent judgement. The Board comprises the following Directors:
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Mr. Lau Pong Sing (21 F8X) (Chairman; Chief Executive Officer)
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (F&2#§) (Chief Operating Officer)

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (32 & 52.)

Ir. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({a]$E %%
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (FZ2F)
Mr. Li Ping Chi (Z=fR7E)

The Chairman and executive Director, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, is the spouse of
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, an executive Director. The executive Directors,
namely Mr. Lau Pong Sing and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, are interested in the
shares of the Company through their interest in New Club House
International Holdings Limited (‘New Club House") and Great Club House
Holdings Limited ("Great Club House") respectively (for details, please
refer to the Prospectus). Instances of actual or potential conflict have been
identified and minimised. Please refer to the “Directors and Senior
Management’, ‘Directors’ Report — Directors’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” and
"Directors’ Report — Related Party Transactions” on pages 66 to 78,

nou

pages 39 to 42 and page 46 in this annual report respectively for more
details. Save as disclosed above, the Directors have no other financial,
business, family or other material/relevant relationships with one another
as at the date of this annual report.

Non-executive Director and Independent non-executive
Directors

Coming from diverse business and professional backgrounds, the non-
executive Director and the independent non-executive Directors of the
Company have shared their valuable experiences to the Board for
promoting the best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The
non-executive Director and all of the independent non-executive Directors
are appointed under an initial term of three years and are also subject to
retirement by rotation in accordance with the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles”).

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Directors, a written confirmation of his independence to the Company
pursuant to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in accordance
with the relevant guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTINUING PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

Each newly appointed Director was provided with the necessary induction,
training and information to ensure that he/she has proper understanding
of his/her responsibilities under the Listing Rules and the applicable laws,
rules and regulations prior to his/her appointment. The Directors are
encouraged to participate in continuous professional development courses
and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company will continue to arrange and fund suitable training and regular
seminars to provide Directors with updates on the latest developments
and changes in the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, all Directors have attended training
in connection with their responsibilities as a director of the Company
except for Mr. Lau Pong Sing ("“Mr. Lau”) and Mr, Nakazawa Tomokatsu
("Mr. Nakazawa"), and the attendance of each of the Directors is set out in
the table below:

The absence from training for Mr. Lau and Mr. Nakazawa was due to the
frequent oversea travelling during the year ended 31 March 2019. However,
they have been updated by another director, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, on the
relevant information contained in the training attended by her.
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Name of Director Attendance
EEHR HE
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2IFBAK ) BUFPRR 5 A& X
(Chairman; Chief Executive Officer) (F/F  7TIEAAE)
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (FRZ248) FRIZMEZ T v/
(Chief Operating Officer) (BB E
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (FF2 & 53,) RIER A X
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BAFHITES
Ir. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({r]$E %) AI4E R 1 E - T2R0 v/
Mr. Siu Chak Yu (B822F) REFE v/
Mr. Li Ping Chi (Z=fAE) FIRELAE v/
X Not attended v Attended
X RELE v BHE
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Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company on 17 March 2016 for an initial term of three years
commencing from 8 April 2016, and may be terminated pursuant to the
respective terms of the service agreements. Mr. Lu Tao ceased to be a non-
executive Director of the Company on 14 December 2018. Mr. Nakazawa
Tomokatsu, a non-executive Director, entered into a letter of appointment
dated 14 December 2018 with the Company for an initial term of three
years, and may be terminated pursuant to the terms of the letter of
appointment. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has
entered into a letter of appointment on 17 March 2016 with the Company
for an initial term of three years commencing from 8 April 2016, and may
be terminated pursuant to the respective terms of the letters of
appointment.

In April 2019, each of the executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company with no fixed term but may be terminated
pursuant to the respective terms of the service agreement (including the
termination by 3 months’ prior notice in writing by either party to the
service agreement). The basic directors’ emoluments for Mr. Lau Pong Sing
and Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina are HK$2,808,000 for 12 months and
HK$2,304,000 for 12 months, respectively. In addition, each of the
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Li Ping Chi, Mr. Siu Chak
Yu and Mr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial term of three years and may
be terminated pursuant to the respective terms of the letters of
appointment. Each of Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi, is entitled to a
remuneration in the sum of HK$21,000 per month. Mr. Ho Chung Tai,
Raymond, is entitled to a remuneration in the sum of HK$52,500 per
month.

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of
the Directors are governed by the Articles. Article 83(3) of the Articles
provides that any director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy in
the Board shall hold office only until the first general meeting of the
Company after his appointment and be subject to re- election at such
meeting and any Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual general
meeting of the Company ("“AGM") and shall then be eligible for re-election.
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In accordance with Article 84 of the Articles, at each AGM, one-third of the
Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three,
the number nearest to, but not less than one-third) shall retire from office
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement at
AGM at least once every three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for
re-election. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as
necessary to ascertain the number of directors to retire by rotation) any
Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-election. Any
further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other Directors subject to
retirement by rotation who have been longest in office since their last re-
election or appointment and so that as between persons who became or
were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless
they otherwise agree among themselves) be determined by lot.

At the last AGM held on Thursday, 23 August 2018, Mr. Li Ping Chi and Mr.
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond have retired. Both of them have been re-elected
as Directors of the Company at the last AGM.

Pursuant to the CG Code provision A.1.1, the Board should meet regularly
and board meetings should be held at least four times a year. The Board
meets regularly to discuss and formulate the overall strategies as well as
the operation and financial performance of the Group. Directors may
participate in Board meetings either in person or through electronic means
of communications.

If a director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the
Board which the Board has determined to be material, the Director shall
abstain from voting on the relevant resolutions and he/she shall not be
counted in the quorum in the Board meeting discussing the matter
concerned.
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ATTENDANCE RECORD OF MEETINGS

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 12 Board meetings were held and 1
general meeting of the Company was held. Set out below are details of the
attendance record of each Director at the Board meetings, committee
meetings and general meeting held during the year ended 31 March 2019:

Board
Name of Director Meeting
=g
EEnF g5
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HITES
Mr. Lau Pong Sing (2185 ) (Chairman) BRREE(FE) 12/12
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina (B2 1§) BZsrt 12/12
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHTES
Mr.LuTao (B &) (Note) BELE () 8/10
Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (12 52) (Note) IER A (BEE) 12
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS BUEHTES
Ir. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ({7 &%) MERELTTEA 12/12
M. Siu Chak Yu (BEEF) EEFELE 1212
Mr. i Ping Chi (211 %) ZMERE 12112

Note: Mr. Lu Tao ceased to be a director of the Company on 14 December 2018
and Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu was appointed as a director of the Company
on 14 December 2018.

THE ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

An AGM is an important forum in which the management of the Company
can communicate with the shareholders. The last AGM was held on 23
August 2018 and the upcoming AGM will be held on 29 August 2019.
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The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee (collectively the "“Board
Committees’). The Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee perform their distinct roles in accordance with
their respective terms of reference which are available to shareholders on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The Board
Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties
and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

The Audit Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules
and paragraph C.3 of the CG Code. The Audit Committee comprises three
members, all being independent non- executive Directors, namely, Dr. Ho
Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li Ping Chi (Chairman).

The primary responsibilities of the Audit Committee include, among others,
making recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of the external auditor, reviewing the financial statements and material
advice in respect of financial reporting and overseeing the internal control
procedures of the Company.

The Company has complied with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules in that the
Audit Committee must comprise a minimum of three members, at least
one of whom is an independent non-executive Director who possesses
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required in Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
Audit Committee must be chaired by an independent non-executive
director.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 7 meetings of the Audit Committee
were held to make recommendations to the Board as follows: (i) on the re-
appointment of the auditor and to approve the engagement letter of the
auditor; (i) advise the Board to engage the Consultant to provide advisory
services about the internal controls system; and (iii) advise and revise the
terms of reference of the Audit Committee of the Company on 29 January
2019. The Audit Committee also reviewed reports on continuing
connected transactions every six months.

On 28 June 2019, another meeting was held to review the Company’s
continuing connected transactions and the Group's financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019. The Audit Committee is of the opinion
that the financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019 complied with the applicable accounting standards and the Listing
Rules.
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The Audit Committee oversees the corporate governance functions of the
Company. The responsibilities of the Audit Committee in relation to
corporate governance functions are set out in the terms of reference of the
Audit Committee. Upon the listing of the Company, the Audit Committee
appointed the Consultant to perform a CG Code compliance review. The
review covered the Company’s terms of reference of board committees,
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and the senior management
and disclosures in the Corporate Governance Report. The Consultant has
provided certain recommendations on improving the Company'’s
corporate governance practices, which the Company has adopted
accordingly to ensure sound corporate governance practices.

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with paragraph A.5 of the
CG Code. The Nomination Committee comprises three members, being
one executive Director, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing (Chairman), and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu and Mr. Li
Ping Chi. Accordingly, a majority of the members are independent non-
executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board and making recommendations
on any proposed changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and assessing the independence of independent non-
executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 3 meetings of the Nomination
Committee were held (i) to review composition of board members; (i) to
review the terms and conditions of the appointment of the non-executive
director, Nakazawa Tomokatsu; and (iii) to propose amendments to the
policies of the nomination and board diversity for the Board.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee was established on 17 March 2016, with
specific written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.26 of the
Listing Rules and paragraph B.1 of the CG Code. The Remuneration
Committee comprises three members, being one executive Director,
namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing, and two independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. Siu Chak Yu (Chairman) and Mr. Li Ping Chi. Accordingly, a
majority of the members are independent non-executive Directors.

The primary responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee include,
among others, (i) making recommendations to the Board on the policy and
structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management and
on the establishment of a set of formal and transparent procedures for
developing policies on such remuneration; (ii) reviewing and approving
the management'’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives; and (i) making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of executive Directors and members

of senior management.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 3 meetings of the Remuneration
Committee were held (i) to review the remuneration package of the
individual executive Directors and senior management and the staff of the
Group and to make recommendations to the Board on such remuneration
packages; and (i) to review and propose the revised terms of reference of
the Remuneration Committee.
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REMUNERATION OF THE MEMBERS OF THE SENIOR
MANAGEMENT BY BAND

Pursuant to Code Provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, details of the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Company then in office by
band for the year ended 31 March 2019 are as follows:

Number of individuals

Remuneration band

A Bl

=R E R ERA R 8 5 /Y

BRECEEARTATAKRERISK  RERE
2019F3A3MAIEFE  ARREREENS R
EEBRARESNFEEFMFBOT

AB

Number of

individuals

AB

Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 = 2 1,000,000 7T 3
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7 7T & 3,000,000 75 7T 2
Total 1t 5

Details of the remuneration of each Director for the year ended 31 March
2019 are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

OTHER COMMITTEES

A Risk Management Committee under the management of the Company
has been established. The Risk Management Committee comprises three
members, being two executive Directors, namely, Mr. Lau Pong Sing and
Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, and one senior staff member of the Company,
namely Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The primary responsibilities of the Risk
Management Committee are to deliberate risk management related
policies and procedures, review the effectiveness of risk management
activities and handle issues of emergency.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, 1 meeting was held to review the
risks of the Company due to a possible Trade War between the US and the
PRC and the completion of a number of mega construction projects.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Board has a board diversity policy (which was revised on 29 January
2019). The Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. Diversity of Board
members can be achieved through consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural background and
ethnicity, in addition to educational background, professional
qualifications, industry and regional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All the Board appointments will be based on meritocracy,
and candidates will be considered against appropriate criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.
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DIRECTOR NOMINATION POLICY

1.

60

Purpose and objectives
On 29 January 2019, the director nomination policy (the “Policy”)
was approved by the Board with details as set out below:

1.1 The Policy sets out the procedures and criteria to be adopted
by the Nomination Committee of the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and reappointment of the
Directors.

1.2 The Policy aims at ensuring that the Board has a balance of
skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to
the requirements of the Company’s business.

Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors
("Selection Criteria”) when nominating potential candidates for the
appointment and reappointment of Directors:

whether the individual’'s educational background and
qualification, skills and experience are relevant to the
Company's business model and specific needs;

the individual’s character and reputation for integrity;

whether the individual would be able to devote sufficient time
to the Board;

(in respect of appointment and reappointment of
independent non-executive Directors) independence of the
individual with reference to the independence criteria set out
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules;

how the individual would be able to contribute to the diversity
of the Board with reference to the factors set out in the Board
Diversity Policy of the Company from time to time in force;

and

Board succession planning considerations.
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3. Procedures and process for nomination of Directors
3.1 The Board or the Nomination Committee shall deploy such
channel(s) for identifying suitable director candidates as it
deems appropriate, including but not limited to referrals from
existing Directors, Shareholders, advisers and third party
agency firms and advertisements.

3.2 The Nomination Committee shall adopt such process as it
deems appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the potential
candidates, such as interviews, background checks and third
party reference checks, and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals to be nominated
for directorships based on the Selection Criteria.

3.3 The ultimate responsibility for the selection and appointment
of Directors shall rest with the Board.

Mr. Lau Pong Sing, Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina, New Club House and Great Club
House (collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”), have entered into a
deed of non-competition dated 18 March 2016 (“Deed of Non-
competition”) with the Company, pursuant to which the Controlling
Shareholders of the Company have irrevocably undertaken to the
Company that he/she/it would not, and would procure that his/her/its
close associates (except any members of the Group) would not, during the
restricted period, directly or indirectly, either on his/her/its own account or
in conjunction with or on behalf of any person, firm or company, among
other things, carry on, participate or be interested or engaged in or acquire
or hold (in each case whether as shareholder, director, partner, agent,
employee or otherwise, and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) any
business which is or may be in competition with the business currently
carried on or contemplated to be carried on by any member of the Group
(save and except for certain residual contracts of which shall be terminated
upon their respective expiry dates (the details of which are set out in the
Prospectus)). Details of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the
section headed “Relationship with Controlling Shareholders” of the
Prospectus. The Company entered into the supplemental deed on 10 May
2019 ("“Supplemental Deed") with the Controlling Shareholders. The
Supplemental Deed and the transactions contemplated thereunder were
then approved in an extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 25
June 2019. Pursuant to the Supplemental Deed, the geographic coverage
under the definition of “Restricted Business” (as defined in the Deed of
Non-competition) and the undertaking given by the Controlling
Shareholders will be expanded to include the PRC. The details of the
transaction were set out in the announcement of the Company dated 10
May 2019 and the circular of the Company dated 3 June 2019, respectively.
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Each of the Controlling Shareholders has provided confirmation in respect
of compliance with his/her/its undertaking under the Deed of Non-
competition.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders of the terms of the
Deed of Non-competition, and were satisfied that each of the Controlling
Shareholders has complied with his/her/its undertaking under the Deed of
Non-competition during the year ended 31 March 2019.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2019, the remunerations paid or payable to
the external auditors in respect of its audit services and non-audit services
provided to the Group were approximately HK$1.9 million and HK$0.3
million, respectively. The non-audit services consist of taxation, internal
control advice and other services.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY IN
RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2019. The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s
ability to continue as a going concern. The statement of the independent
auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report on
pages 79 to 86.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
SYSTEMS

The Group has established a risk management framework, which consists
of the Board of Directors, the Audit Committee and the Risk Management
Committee. The Board of Directors determines the nature and extent of
risks that shall be taken in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and
has the overall responsibility for monitoring the design, implementation
and the overall effectiveness of risk management and internal control
systems.

The Group has formulated and adopted Risk Management Policy in
providing direction in identifying, evaluating and managing significant
risks. At least on an annual basis, the Risk Management Committee
identifies risks that would adversely affect the achievement of the Group's
objectives, and assesses and prioritizes the identified risks according to a
set of standard criteria. Risk mitigation plans and risk owners are then
established and assigned for those risks considered to be significant.
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The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control system. The internal controls are designed to
meet the Group's particular needs and to minimise the risks to which the
Group is exposed, and are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risks to achieve business objectives of the Group, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. During the year
ended 31 March 2019, the Company engaged the Consultant to review the
effectiveness of certain of the Group's internal controls system. Deficiencies
in the design and implementation of internal controls are identified and
recommendations are proposed for improvement. Significant internal
control deficiencies are reported to the Audit Committee and the Board of
Directors on a timely basis to ensure prompt remedial actions are taken.
Results of internal controls review are reported to the Audit Committee
and the Board at least once a year. During the year under review, the
Consultant has issued the internal controls report (“IC Report”) to the
Audit Committee and the Board. The Board has adopted the advice made
in the IC Report and has continuously improved its corporate governance
practices with reference to the Consultant's recommendations.

As a result of the above review, the Board confirms that the Group's risk
management and internal control systems are adequate and effective and
have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk management and
internal control throughout the year and up to the date of this annual
report.

The Group complies with requirements of the Securities & Futures
Ordinance (“SFO") and the Listing Rules. The Group discloses inside
information to the public as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours as provided in the SFO.
Before the information is fully disclosed to the public, the Group ensures
the information is kept strictly confidential. If the Group believes that the
necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that
confidentiality may have been breached, the Group would immediately
disclose the information to the public. The Group is committed to ensure
that information contained in announcements are not false or misleading
as to a material fact, or false or misleading through the omission of a
material fact. The Group is committed to ensure that information contained
in announcements is presented in a clear and balanced way, which
requires equal disclosure of both positive and negative facts.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The role of the company secretary of the Company (“Company
Secretary’) is performed by Mr. Wong Cheuk Man. The Company Secretary
is responsible for facilitating the Board's processes and communications
among Board members, shareholders and the management of the
Company. The Company Secretary undertakes at least 15 hours of relevant
professional training annually to update his skills and knowledge.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for
communications between the shareholders and the Board. An AGM of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined
by the Board.

SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING (“EGM”)

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more shareholders of the
Company holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than
one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right,
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary, to require an
EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months
after the deposit of such requisition. Such requisition shall be made in
writing to the Board or the company secretary at the head office of the
Company in Hong Kong, which is presently situated at Unit 15, 19th Floor,
Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East, Kowloon,
Hong Kong. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to
convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself/herself (themselves)
may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

PUTTING ENQUIRIES BY SHAREHOLDERS TO THE
BOARD

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention
of the Company Secretary at the Company’s head office in Hong Kong.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS BY
SHAREHOLDERS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING
Shareholders are requested to follow Article 58 of the Articles for putting
forward a resolution at an EGM. The requirements and procedures are set
out above in the paragraph headed “Shareholders to Convene an
Extraordinary General Meeting'.
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CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company has adopted, on 17 March 2016, the amended and restated
memorandum and articles of association of the Company which took
effect from 8 April 2016. There was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2019.

By order of the Board

Lau Pong Sing
Chairman and Executive Director
28 June 2019
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EELERERE

OVERVIEW

The table below contains certain information about our Directors and

senior management.

Mr. Lau Pong Sing
(BIFBK)

AmEE

Ms. Chan Kit Mui, Lina
(BRZ18)

REELL

Mr. Lu Tao
(B%)

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu

(FERR)
RERRAE

62

62

57

57

46

Position

Bt

Executive Director;
Chairman; Chief
executive officer

BITEF X
TR

Executive Director,
Chief operating
officer

BHITEF £EEE

Non-executive
Director

FRTESF

Non-executive
Director

FRTESF
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Date of joining
the Group

MAREEH A

22 December 2004

200412 A22 B

22 December 2004

2004512 A2 H

20 June 2017
(ceased to be
adirector on
14 December 2018)
2017964208

(H2018F12 A 14

BIEHTES)
14 December 2018

2018512 A14H

0=

TREJETEREZRSREEENEH

Date of
appointment
to the current
position
EZEH AR
# B

11 June 2015

2015F6 A1 H

11 June 2015

2015F6 A1 H

20 June 2017

2017F6 A20H

H

14 December 2018

201812 A14 R

Responsibilities
in the Group

RASEHBE

Our overall management
and business development;
setting business strategies,
direction and goals
BAMBREEREBER
HIERBRE - AR
B2

Overseeing our
administration, financial
control and human
resources

EERMIMNITHR - MBS
RANER

Supervising the management
of the Company

EEARAMER

Supervising the management
of the Company
EERRRNER



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEMERERE

OVERVIEW (Continued)

Position

Date of joining
the Group

BE (5

Date of
appointment
to the current
position
EZ{EEAB
ol =p:i

Responsibilities
in the Group

Ir. Dr. Ho Chung Tali,
Raymond ({]&2%)

ERE+ TI2AD

Mr. Siu Chak Yu
(RETF)

BETEE

Mr. Li Ping Chi
(FRE)

FRERE
Mr. Shinji Mitsuya

(ZXfED)

=“REIEE

Mr. Lau Tsz Fung
(BIF8)
Brers

Mr. Wong Cheuk Man
(E£8)

Iegst

80

80

58

58

59

59

65

65

33

33

53

53

Bfu

Independent
Non-executive
Director

BUFRNTES

Independent
Non-executive
Director

BUFRITESF

Independent
Non-executive

Director

BAUERNTES
Director of

AP Singapore

AP Singapore £ %

Vice president —

sales and marketing

Blam (GHERZH)

Financial controller

Miss

MAFEE RS

17 March 2016

20163 A17H

17 March 2016

20163 A17H

17 March 2016

201683 17H

3 March 2017

20173 A3H

1 April 2009

2009F4 A1H

1 January 2010

201081 A1H

17 March 2016

2016381780

17 March 2016

201638178

17 March 2016

2016F3 /178

3 March 2017

2017F3A3H

1 April 2014

2014F4 /1R

1 January 2010

20101 A1 H

RASBHNEE

Supervising the management
of the Company

EEARFNER

Supervising the management
of the Company

EEARRNER

Supervising the management
of the Company

EERRRMERE

Oversee the operations
business in AP Singapore,
a subsidiary of the
Company in Singapore

EEARERI IR
%718 A ] AP Singapore
M EE

Overseeing our sales and
marketing affairs

EERANHEREHEDR

Overseeing our financial
management and company
secretarial matters

EERMOABEER
RAMWEES
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

=s=E=ZNEREEE

OVERVIEW (Continued)

Notes:
m Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.
(2) Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.

(3) Mr. Lau Tsz Fung (“Mr. TF Lau”) is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.

4) Mr. Lu Tao ceased to be the non-executive Director of the Company on 14
December 2018.

(5) Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu is an employee of Kanamoto HK and Kanamoto
Japan, and was appointed as a non-executive Director of the Company on 14
December 2018.

The business address of our Directors and senior management is Unit 15,
19/F, Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

DIRECTORS

The Board currently consists of six Directors, comprising two executive
Directors, one non-executive Director and three independent non-
executive Directors. The following table sets forth information regarding
our Directors. The functions and duties of the Board include convening
shareholders’ meetings, reporting on the Board's work at these meetings,
implementing the resolutions passed at these meetings, determining
business and investment plans, formulating our annual budget and final
accounts, and formulating our proposals for profit distributions and for the
increase or reduction of registered capital. In addition, the Board is
responsible for exercising other powers, functions and duties in accordance
with the Articles of Association of the Company.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SERENREIERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors

Mr. LAU Pong Sing 2385

Executive Director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. Lau, aged 62, was appointed as our executive Director and Chairman of
the Board on 11 June 2015 and concurrently serves as our chief executive
officer. Mr. Lau is primarily responsible for the Group's overall management
and business development, as well setting our business strategies,
direction and goals. Mr. Lau is also a member of our Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Lau is the chairman of our
Nomination Committee.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Mr. Lau had
accumulated over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry through his directorship in and management of Ajax Pong
Construction Equipment Limited from September 1983 to March 1992 and
Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014. Mr. Lau
had in the past managed or oversight various aspects of the Group,
including business development and strategies, financial management and
management of training to be given to our employees. Under the
leadership of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan, the Group has entered into strategic
partnership agreements with reputable construction equipment suppliers,
and participated in a number of landmark construction projects.

Mr. Lau is the spouse of Ms. Chan and father of Mr. TF Lau.

BEE

HITES

LIWAR L

HITEF  FRERITBABEHR

RIS 625% 0 R2015F 6 A 11 BERITARIT
EERESEER  ARRZERMOITEHEE -
BT ZaBEAEEBRREETEREBER MU
NMHITE SR - ARk BE - £ AH
ZEChREZEBENE - KL RREZES
ERE o

2004 FABIMA Z — B B D IMAREE R - 2
SEBEBRI1983FIOAE19NFI AL DRAE
R AR AT RN 1992F 4 B E2014F 12 A
DREB(RE)ERABIETEENEEERY -
PRIEEREMERBR 20FLR - 2IEEBRELE
BREBRAEERS T EEE BEESEREER
B BB WEBBRESREMEI - &
Bl ERRZTMEET AEBEHMZER
B R RT RS R % - W E L IR
ERIER -

FEE BRI THBRE R B FIEE LM -

2019 FEH | THAREZRERAT 09



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SEREREIERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Executive Directors (Continued)

Ms. CHAN Kit Mui, Lina 21§

Executive Director and chief operating officer

Ms. Chan, aged 61, has been our executive Director since 11 June 2015 and
also serves as our chief operating officer. She is in charge of the Group's
administration, financial control and human resources.

Prior to joining the Group in 2004 as one of the founders, Ms. Chan has
acquired over 20 years of experience in the construction equipment
industry. She was principally responsible for corporate reorganisation,
business management control, as well as setting up corporate
administration systems and finance systems, during her positions as deputy
managing director of Ajax Pong Construction Equipment Limited from
April 1989 to March 1992, and deputy managing director of Ajax Pong
(Holdings) Limited from April 1992 to December 2014.

Since joining the Group, she has worked closely with Mr. Lau to expand the
Group's business in Hong Kong and Macau and assisted in the set up of our
current operation system and staff welfare scheme.

Ms. Chan obtained a Secretarial Diploma from the Chinese Young Men's
Christian Association of Hong Kong in May 1978 and an Intermediate Stage
Certificate in Book-keeping from the London Chamber of Commerce and
Industry in Spring 1978. She also completed the Computerized Accounting
System for Commerce and Industry Training Course given by the Hong Kong
Productivity Council in October 1986.

Ms. Chan is the spouse of Mr. Lau and mother of Mr. TF Lau.
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Non-executive Director

Mr.LuTao 2%

(ceased as a Non-executive Director on 14 December 2018)

Mr. Lu Tao (&= &), aged 57, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 20 June 2017. He has extensive experience in
management level in multinational engineering companies. He serves as
the chief operating officer of Kanamoto HK which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Kanamoto Japan since April 2017. He also serves as a Director
and General Manager of Kanamoto (China) Investment Co., Ltd. since
September 2017. Prior to joining Kanamoto HK, Mr. Lu has been working in
Komatsu Limited as manager from April 1992 to March 2002 (responsible
for overseas global business in China), Komatsu America Corporation as
manager from October 2005 to December 2010 (responsible for overseas
business in mining equipment), SANY Heavy Machinery Company Limited
as general manager from January 2011 to January 2012 (responsible for
overseas business for excavators), Lonking Holdings Limited as general
manager from January 2012 to March 2013 (responsible for overseas
business in construction machinery equipment), LiuGong Machinery Co.,
Limited as general manager from July 2013 to July 2014 (responsible for
overseas and domestic business in mining equipment), Sunward Intelligent
Equipment Company Limited as general manager from March 2015 to
March 2016 (responsible for overseeing domestic business in mining
equipment in China) and Kanamoto Japan as the general manager of
business coordination headquarters from March 2016 till present
(responsible for overseeing the global business for construction equipment
rental). He obtained his Master degree in Mechanical Engineering from
Kyoto University and Bachelor degree in South China University of
Technology (formerly known as South China Institute of Technology).
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Non-executive Director (Continued)

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu F32X 5

Mr. Nakazawa Tomokatsu (! 2 & 72), aged 46, is the Deputy General
Manager of Overseas Business Division of Kanamoto. He has 22 years of
relevant working experience in Kanamoto and its subsidiaries (the
“Kanamoto Group”), and is familiar with business operations, overseas
business development plan, and company policy of Kanamoto Group.

He graduated from Tohoku Gakuin University in Japan in 1996 and
obtained a Bachelor degree of Arts in Economics.

Mr. Nakazawa started to develop his career in construction machinery
business with Kanamoto immediately after his graduation. He was assigned
to Sendai Sales Branch responsible for all-round sales and marketing
activities of rental, leasing and sale of construction machineries and
equipment. He was then promoted to Chief and Deputy Associate Director
of Sendai Sales Branch in 1999 and 2001 respectively.

Since 2002, Mr. Nakazawa has been transferred to various branches and
divisions accountable for sales and marketing management, business
strategy planning, budget control, customer management and internal
management for construction machinery business of Kanamoto Group. He
was then transferred to Kyokuto Lease Co., Ltd. ("Kyokuto"), a subsidiary of
Kanamoto and was promoted to Managing Director & Sales General
Manager in 2008. His job duties included total management of Kyokuto
from internal management to business development. Since 2014, he has
been Deputy General Manager of Overseas Business Division responsible
for general management of overseas businesses of Kanamoto Group.

Throughout Mr. Nakazawa's long career in Kanamoto Group, he has been
engaging in the full spectrum of general management from business
management to internal management. Through such job duties, he
acquired a clear picture of the business operations, business network and
overseas business development plan. He is familiar with the business trend
of the industry and market trends of construction machinery in Asian
regions.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SERENREIERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ir. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond {i & 5=

Independent non-executive Director

Ir. Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, SBS, MBE, S.B. St. J., JP, aged 80, was
appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 17 March 2016.
He is a member of our Audit Committee.

Dr. Ho has over 50 years of experience in civil, structural, environmental
and geotechnical engineering industries and has directly managed a
number of mega-sized engineering projects.

Dr. Ho received his degree of doctor of philosophy in Civil Engineering
from the City University of London in June 1971, an Honorary Doctor of
Laws from the University of Manchester in September 2001 and an
Honorary degree of Doctor of Business Administration from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 1999. He graduated from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1963 with a Bachelor of Science in
Engineering and obtained his diploma for advanced studies in engineering,
soil mechanics from the University of Manchester in July 1964.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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DIRECTORS (Continued) =)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued) BAFHTES(H)

As at the date of the annual report, Dr. Ho served or is currently serving as ~ RERBH - ML QHIBEEET THES LT
director of the following listed public companies in Hong Kong: NRAFKES -

Listed public company on the Stock Exchange

B ETARAT
Since September 2018 Chairman and Non-Executive Director SCUD Group Limited (stock code: 1399)
B 201849 A TREMIFATES REBEBFR DA (BRHAE : 1399)
Since December 2013 Independent non-executive director ChinLink International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 997)
B2013512 A #E BULFHITES EIE & BBRERAR AR (RHRE - 997)
Since September 2007 Independent non-executive director GCL-Poly Energy Holdings Limited
(stock code: 3800)
B 2007 59 A BIUFATES R & AL TRIE AL B BR 22 B (AR 19 A5+ 3800)
From June 2005 to Independent non-executive director China State Construction International Holdings
3 June 2019 Limited (stock code: 3311)
B2005F6 A& BIUFNTES PEEERREE AR AR (B - 3311)
20196 A3 H
Since September 1993 Independent non-executive director Deson Development International Holdings Limited
(stock code: 262)
B 199349 At BIUFRNITES R BREREEGRAT (RN : 262)

Other current appointments and offices of Dr. Ho are further set out below:  {a[1#+ B BT E AL & REGTSHE— B H M T

Current appointments and offices . Honorary Chairman (since April 2019) and Chairman (from February 2005 to April
B Al Ea R 2019) of the Guangdong Daya Bay Nuclear Plant and Ling Ao Nuclear Plant Safety

Consultative Committee
ERAADEZBELRERZEULRLEBAEZESRELE(B2019F
4 A#) B EFE (H 200562 AE2019F4 A)

Professional advisor to the Office of the Ombudsman of Hong Kong (for the periods
1 July 1995 to 31 March 2013 and 1 October 2015 to present)
EERFHEELABTEXEMO995F7 A1 HE2013F3 A31 HHEHE &2015
F10R1BES
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SERENREIERE

DIRECTORS (Continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. SIU Chak Yu #)2F

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Siu, BBS, JP, aged 58, was appointed as our independent non- executive
Director on 17 March 2016. He is a member of our Remuneration
Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Siu is the
chairman of our Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Siu has gained experience in legal practice in Hong Kong. He obtained
a Bachelor of Laws degree and a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1983 and July 1984, respectively. He
was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in September 1986, England and
Wales in June 1990, Australian Capital Territory in February 1991, and in
Singapore in September 1992; and as a barrister in Australia in February
1991. Mr. Siu was appointed as a Notary Public in April 1997, a China-
Appointed Attesting Officer in January 2000, and currently a partner of
Hastings & Co.

He is currently the chairman of the Environmental Impact Assessment
Appeal Board, deputy chairman of the HKSAR Passports Appeal Board and
a board member of the Estates Agents Authority and the Guardianship
Board.
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Independent Non-executive Directors (Continued)

Mr. LI Ping Chi Z/R&

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Li, aged 59, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director
on 17 March 2016. He is a member of our Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee. Mr. Li is the chairman of our Audit
Committee.

Mr. Li has over 30 years of experience in accounting and auditing. He was
an assistant assessor for the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Department from
August 1982 to February 1985. He joined Touche Ross Hong Kong in March
1985 and was promoted to the position of audit manager in August 1989.
He later joined Deloitte China in April 1990 as a result of its merger with
Touche Ross Hong Kong and had been a partner from June 1996 to May
2013.

Mr. Li received a higher diploma in accountancy with distinction from the
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 1982. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.

Our senior management members are responsible for the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business. None of the members of our
senior management has been a director of a public company the securities
of which are listed on any securities market in Hong Kong or overseas.

Mr. Mitsuya Shinji = &5 =

Director of AP Singapore

Mr. Mitsuya, aged 65, has been the consultant of a subsidiary of the
Company, AP Rentals Limited, since 1st of January, 2017. In the wake of
establishment of a new company under the Group in Singapore, AP
Singapore, he was appointed and assigned as Director of AP Singapore on
3 March 2017.

Mr. Mitsuya's main roles are to launch an equipment rental business in
Singapore capitalizing the Group's experience and know-how as a solution
provider, to develop a new market in the South Pacific Ocean and to
establish a closer relationship and communications with Japanese partners
based on long term strategy.
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Prior to joining the Group, he has been in Europe from 2007 to 2012, three
years in Lyon, France and three years in Utrecht, Holland as a general
manager of local company of Furukawa Unic Corporation, establishing new
sales channels in EU countries.

He has been engaged in overseas marketing since early 1980th at
Hokuetsu Industries Co., Ltd., known as Airman air-compressor until 2016.

Having been working for a long time for Japanese construction machinery
manufacturers, he expanded sales opportunities through new dealers
including commencement of local production in the global market. He
obtained Bachelor's degree in Mechanical Engineering from Kanto Gakuin
University in March 1977.

Mr. LAU Tsz Fung (%] 7 ), aged 33, is our vice president and oversees the
sales and marketing department of the Company. He is principally
responsible for encouraging sustainable development through the delivery
of updated market analysis and information, and works closely with the
sales team in attracting potential customers and contracts. His roles and
duties include maintaining a high volume of rental transactions and good
relationships with worldwide manufacturers and suppliers. Mr. TF Lau has
completed training sessions on construction equipment given by
Donaldson Company, Inc., Nippon Sharyo, Ltd., Furukawa UNIC Corporation
and Denyo Co,, Ltd..

Mr. TF Lau received his Bachelor's degree in Business Economics from the
University of California Santa Barbara in September 2008. Prior to joining
the Group as a sales and marketing officer in April 2009, he was a marketing
officer assistant at Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from April 2008 to June
2008, where he was responsible for managing relationship with potential
customers and overseas buyers.

Mr. TF Lau is the son of Mr. Lau and Ms. Chan.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT (Continued)

Mr. WONG Cheuk Man (E £ #), aged 53, is the financial controller,
company secretary and one of the authorised representatives of the
Company. He is primarily responsible for the Group's accounting, internal
control, financial reporting, resource management and information
technology affairs.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of Western Sydney Nepean with a
Bachelor's degree in Business Administration in September 1999 and
obtained a Master's degree in International Accounting from the City
University of Hong Kong in November 2001. Mr. Wong has over 29 years of
experience in accounting. He was an assistant accountant at Sanyo Electric
(Hong Kong) Ltd. from July 1987 to April 1990, cost accountant and later
assistant finance manager of STD Holding Ltd. from August 1990 to
September 1994. He served as accounting manager and subsequently
financial controller of Ajax Pong (Holdings) Limited from September 1994
prior to joining the Group in January 2010.

Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants.

Each of our senior management did not hold any other directorship in

listed public companies in the three years prior to the date of this annual
report.

78 AP Rentals Holdings Limited /  Annual Report 2019

SREEE®)

FEMKE 5358 BARRINYBRE - A
MEREF—ZEEAR - FFE2HEAEEN
i NEPEE - BBHRE -  BREEMEAE
HEB -

F 55 4 19994 9 A 7£ The University of Western
Sydney Nepean % - BUSERITHE L 246 -
2001 F 11 ABEE BN M ASEEER 2B+
B o FEARBAOF TR o HN 1987 F
7TRAE190F4 AHE=FFH(FHE)BRAT
RIBNIE 2 EHRM - 7R 1990F 8 A& 1994F 9 AR STD
Holding Ltd. 5t 18 ¥& (T Ak 2K & &1 A &z B 38 1 7% 45
I o R 2010F 1 AMAREBE R - B1994F9
AREFTEB(EE)ERAGNGEEE - H
BEH AR -

IRERBAEAMAGERRRENFARE

AHEIAEERER -

B2 AEEBRAFRE A =FHAM
BN ETARRREEEAE ESRRA -



s RVR A G

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF AP RENTALS HOLDINGS LIMITED
TRABEERERAT

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of AP Rentals
Holdings Limited (the “Company”’) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as “the Group’) set out on pages 87 to 180, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2019, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2019, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We
are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants (“‘the Code"), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZHE RS

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,

FARETER

MRETFHERBERMANERAE  RAEAN

were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial HI4GAMBHREANBHRAETENETIE - GULE

statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

HARERMEFTBEERFAMBHRRREASRR
EITRIEN - R TSHELERREHEBNE
EI o

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BRETER

Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

5 R R B AP 1

We identified the impairment assessment of plant and
machinery as a key audit matter due to the significance of the
carrying value of plant and machinery to the consolidated
financial statements as a whole and the judgements
associated with the assessment of the recoverable amount of
plant and machinery by the management of the Group.
ERHE R E AR E S B EBAR S M BMmREZE A
% BEEEEEERE R R AT WS & AT E L &
HET - BAPIBRIME AR E R E R g EsT =1

As disclosed in the note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements, the carrying value of plant and machinery
reported under property, plant and equipment as at 31 March
2019 was HK$216,052,000.

AR A PTG ERR M T 14 PHEER - 1201963 A31 8 -
% - BERRBETA2HRKE LSRRGS
216,052,000 & TT,

As detailed in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements,
the determination of the recoverable amounts of the assets is
based on the higher of value in use calculations and fair value
less cost of disposal.

WANERE B IS IRER M4 Pratal - BEAKREESEIIR
BEAEEFEEAABREEXNAAMEFNRRE
ERE -

The Group uses fair value less cost of disposal as the
recoverable amounts which requires the management to
estimate the resale values with reference to the historical
disposal values, or market transactions of similar assets.
EXEBARBEREEERAERTTKNEERE  HE
REBEBRK2EZRAIHEBEIEUEENTISERS
BIGHEEEE-
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BRANESTNNHERETSRETEE

Our procedures in relation to the management'’s impairment
assessment of plant and machinery included:

BRI ERERE MR EETHEMERNEFE

¥

Understanding the management's impairment assessment
process on identifying assets that may be indicative to be
impaired, and evaluating the reasonableness of the
management’s assessment with reference to the utilisation and
income generated from the plant and machinery in recent years;
and
AREIRENHRI B R BB ER B ERT G
MER BRI - WRREFHE KM 2B 155R &
EERATZEREELNNEEREE &

Assessing the reasonableness of the fair value less cost of
disposal estimated by the management by checking, on a
sample basis, to the estimation of resale values with reference
to the historical disposal values, or market transactions of
similar assets.
FRBMERELC2ZRTLEEENEUEENTIS
RPENEEEENGE  TREREMGANAA
BEREENERERIE °



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B 2R RS

Key audit matters

BARETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

MBS NAHRARETERETRE

Impairment assessment of lease receivables and trade
receivables

PR EE AR B 5 B 55 R b (E A

We identified impairment assessment of lease receivables
and trade receivables as a key audit matter due to the
significance of lease receivables and trade receivables to the
Group's consolidated financial position and the involvement
of subjective judgement and management estimates in
evaluating the expected credit losses (“ECL") of the Group's
lease receivables and trade receivables at the end of the
reporting period.

ERBWHERBERESRYFIEY BXEESME
MR BBEM ARG BEEERBEHRNEKEE
FEREGRKFENEHREEFSE(RBEEESED
B R EBFE R E R E LT - AP & A R
B 5 IR IAR BT AR ET S -

As at 31 March 2019, the Group's aggregate amounts of
lease receivables and trade receivables amounted to
HK$39,550,000, and out of which HK$31,107,000 were past
due. As explained in note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements, in the current year, the Group has applied
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments in which impairment of lease
receivables and trade receivables are measured under ECL
model.

M2019F3 4310 BEXENEREERERE 5 EK
FRIAAEEE 739,550,000 78 7T + HL 131,107,000 7L E B
WMINARE MR 2P - RAFE - EREE
EREANBMEERNEIR [2H T A MEKBER
BRE SEVGREREDREEREEEEREXGE -

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of lease
receivables and trade receivables included:

AR E WA EFIA KR B 5 RN IBRERT & T E a2
FrE &

Understanding how the management estimates the credit
loss allowance for lease receivables and trade receivables;
B E R E AT RN E R IE R E 5 W EIES
SEEREE

Challenging management’s basis and judgement in
determining credit loss allowance on lease receivables and
trade receivables as at 31 March 2019, including their
identification of significant or credit impaired lease
receivables and trade receivables, the reasonableness of
management's grouping of the remaining lease receivables
and trade receivables into different categories in the
provision matrix, and the basis of estimated loss rate
applied in each category in the provision matrix (with
reference to historical default rates and forward-looking
information);

ERTHEETETERN 201993 A31 BOEKBEEHE
K& S RWGRIRNEE IR R E T A e B R A (&
BRAIHRBEASEERENEKREETARE S E
WIR) « R ERN R EEM D KR T YR E IR
RESRWHIESBETRERIN SR - URER
REEERSBERNNGTBERXNER(2ZBER
HWERLBTRIEER)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZHE RS

Key audit matters

HARETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matters

BMNENAHRARETERETRE

As disclosed in notes 4 and 27 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management of the Group estimates the
amount of lifetime ECL of lease receivables and trade
receivables based on individual assessment for those which
had been determined as significant balance or credit-
impaired whereas the remaining balance are assessed by
means of provision matrix through grouping of various
debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering
internal credit ratings of lease receivables and trade
receivables, ageing, repayment history and/or past due
status and forward-looking information of respective lease
receivables and trade receivables that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort.
Estimated losses are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the lease receivables and
trade receivables and are adjusted for forward-looking
information.

WU E T BIREMFAR 7R EEEEEER
BHEEERBEANGEHIEREERMERNEIEEHRIE
KB 5 REWGRIERTETHERIFT M - (A5 KA & RIE
RESGRERRFENSHEREEBELE  mMATER
AR E AL THEZEERRNHEREREFE
WHRIER NI EERTAR - BRE - B ERRE BikR
NREFMNE AL ENE RS N AIF SR R kR
EFREREZRUGRIEN S B R AR EAETEERE
HEBHEURRKA S BRBIRFETHE - 58
BNRBEKEERERE S EKFIEBREGTFHAL
BEBRIMNBOERTERL  WHRATEMEERMERA
o

As disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group’s lifetime ECL on lease receivables
and trade receivables as at 31 March 2019 amounted to
HK$6,715,000.

MR E AR 17 A HE - EEEN2019F3 A
STEMEWEERIERE HRKFIBENZBEREEE
1856715000 7T °
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Checking calculation and basis of default rates adopted by
the management for both individual assessment and
assessment by provision matrix to the underlying
information used by management, on a sample basis, with
reference to the historical settlement analysis of lease
receivables and trade receivables; and
K2ZRWHEFBERE SREFENBELEEST
& - MR E BB ENER T KB BB AR ETT
FHERPTRANBORFE A RELE - ARERE
FRREEEESR : &

Checking the information used by management for
developing the provision matrix for lease receivables and
trade receivables, including aged analysis as at 31 March
2019, on a sample basis, by comparing individual items in
the analysis with the relevant sales invoices and other
supporting documents.
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The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for
the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
alsor

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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HFWER  RUGRSUBRIABERES AR
M ERF 88 R T S By B R #8 R BROLER S & 32
g WIRBHEEREREANZBRROAR
ERMBROZBENRSE BRI - RAIER
SN REEMAR - ATETHAITRE ZA
REEFMEMA TR EEAEEREZEME
%o ABRRERDKENRE - BTRRERR
BABEETHER  ERXR —ERBRRL
TFERTABRE SR - SRRRMRA AT A s BREF Sk SR AR 5
- mREEBHEMERNELRRATLETE
AR TSR E A B KB B WMKR AR OLHE
RTE - BB RV RR BRI AT R AR VEE K o

EREEAETEETETBESD - HIFAE
RERHEHLRFFERREEE - TP

B KRR RN EF SRR R R AR A M
BHRRFEEAERBANER - Rt R
HITEARFAREZEAR - U RER
FENMEENEAEE ERAEMERY
At - AN RER BE &
BAER BRI ZEAREEZ X
B BORBEEIREMEF M E M T AL
AR R R B R R BE IR R R T G 2
M E AR AR

BREEHEEONBER - LR
MBHIZE  MAESEY EEEMN

BERESIER B RE R

AHEEMRASHBRRELREALM
EhEHEFT RAARER S A

o



s RVR A G

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, related safeguards.
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From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Ka-Lai Man.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

28 June 2019
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

sre B M EM 2 RS

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

2019 2018
20195 20184F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bt 5 FET FHET
Revenue Wz 5
Goods and services Gm &R 34,024 80,878
Leasing of machinery Wi & 112,086 144,383
Total revenue Pt 146,110 225,261
Cost of sales and services $HE MRS AR (119,946) (168,015)
Gross profit EH 26,164 57,246
Other income E Al A 6 4,193 3,863
Other gains and losses Haplezs M EE 7 5,250 8,363
Impairment losses recognised BEREREERIAR
on lease receivables and 2 5 WK IB R E E5 18
trade receivables, net R 27 (1,181) (1,210)
Administrative, selling and T EEERDHEAS
distribution expenses (36,295) (40,929)
Finance costs BhE Ak AN 8 (513) (1,036)
(Loss) profit before tax MrFi AT (B ) 4 A (2,382) 26,297
Income tax expense Frig Bl 9 (141) (5.216)
(Loss) profit for the year REE (BB )& 10 (2,523) 21,081
Other comprehensive expense AEEEMEEBAY
for the year
Item that may be reclassified RG] B 7ML B mayE A
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences arising BREBINETSE FHIE X 5
on translation of foreign operations (82) (45)
Total comprehensive (expense) RNEE2HE (FX) Wi
income for the year (2,605) 21,036
(Loss) earnings per share Bk (EE) 25
— Basic (HK cents) — EARGEAD 13 (0.29) 244
2019 FFR | DHARERRERAT 87



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
Are MR LR

At 31 March 2019 # 201943 A31H

2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5T TET FET
Non-current Assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB LRE 14 221,246 197,853
Deposit placed for a life SRIREFER
insurance policy 15 2,725 2,656
Deferred tax assets IEEFIEE E 22 167 =
224,138 200,509
Current Assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 12,134 7,168
Trade and other receivables, B 5 K H AU FEIE -
deposits and prepayments %4 MFEMNZIE 17 43,577 64,232
Pledged bank deposit BERIRITFR 18 360 360
Bank deposits with original maturity REHA A=A AR
less than three months RITIER 18 15,000 21,000
Bank balances and cash RITHEB LIRS 18 36,847 40,397
107,918 133,157
Current Liabilities REBaE
Trade and other payables and B 5 Rk H A FER A K
accrued charges fEETE A 19 45,391 36,020
Contract liabilities EHaE 20 563 =
Receipts in advance TEUL AR X 529 1,890
Tax liabilities HIEAGE 643 2,733
Borrowings — due within one year B — —FREIH 21 17,461 19,439
64,587 60,082
Net Current Assets REBEESE 43,331 73,075
Total Assets less Current BEERRBARS
Liabilities 267,469 273,584
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR IR

At 31 March 2019 7201943 A31H

2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THERT FHET
Non-current Liabilities FREEE
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFRIBEE 22 26,924 26,769
Borrowings — due after one year Bk — —E14 3 H 21 = 641
26,924 27410
Net Assets EEEE 240,545 246,174
Capital and Reserves EAXRH#E
Issued capital BT 23 864 864
Reserves G4 239,681 245,310
Total Equity g 240,545 246,174

The consolidated financial statements on pages 87 to 180 were approved ~ #5587 EE £ 180 A 2 iR & M B MK E 12019
and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 June 2019 and are  F6 A28 HEEE=g# /& REETIE - WH T

signed on its behalf by: BFEREREE
LAU PONG SING CHAN KIT MUI, LINA
EIE:24 BRZNE
Director Director
EF 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

== N\ 7/
/ 3 T / ~ II\EIII\
X

=R

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Issued Share  Merger Legal Translation Retained
capital premium reserve reserve  reserve profits Total
BRT
BA ROEE -GfifE ZeRkE EIifE KREEH M@t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THr TArT TEx THExT  TExT  TET TR
(Note ) (Note i)
(BaE)  (BaE)
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 A1 864 232,345 (102,443) 12 (5) 102,659 233432
Profit for the year RNEE T = = = = = 21,081 21,081
Exchange differences arisingon  HAEBINETSE K
translation of foreign operations [ =58 = = = = (45) = (45)
Total comprehensive (expenses)  AEE2E (FX) Yz
income for the year B8 = - - - (45) 21,081 21,036
Dividend recognised as REDEHRE
distribution (note 12) (M3 12) - - - - - (8294)  (8294)
At 31 March 2018 201853 A31H 864 232,345 (102,443) 12 (50) 115,446 246,174
Loss for the year AEEERE - - - - = (2523)  (2,523)
Bxchangedifferencesarisingon  HAEBINEFSE A )
translation of foreign operations (B ¥ Z %8 - - = = (82) = (82)
Total comprehensive expense ~ AEE L ERFTAE
for the year - - - - (82) (2,523) (2,605)
Dividend recognised as R RIS
distribution (note 12) (PE12) - - - - - (3,024)  (3,024)
At 31 March 2019 201934317 864 232,345 (102,443) 12 (132) 109,899 240,545
Notes: BT

AUREBIEARAREBITRASE KM EER
AAREER 201567 21 BEMEMR BB
EBRAREBEITRAZZHE -

Merger reserve represents the difference between the amount of share
capital and share premium of the Company issued, and the issued share
capital of AP Rentals Limited exchanged in connection with the Group
reorganisation on 21 July 2015.

RBBPIFRITTIRR BAHEE 377 & - RHIBPIE
e BT A B A R & 5t BT DR 25% A
NEBRELERHE  EEEIREREEL—F
e

ii. In accordance with the Article 377 of the Commercial Code of Macau Special ii.
Administrative Region, the subsidiary registered in Macau is required to
transfer part of its profits of each accounting period of not less than 25% as
legal reserve, until it reaches an amount equal to half of the capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

SREMER

I\\/ \

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Operating activities R
(Loss) profit before tax BrA AT (B518) & F (2,382) 26,297
Adjustments for: BATIEE EH FH%E
Impairment loss recognised HE 5 ERFIATER
for trade receivables, net VERENSEi= b 1,181 1,210
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% « BE M RETE 50,933 49,708
Finance costs BhE A AR 513 1,036
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE - WE RERERE
plant and equipment (5,348) (8,942)
Interest income FLEWA (423) (159)
Operating cash flows before movements LEECEPANCERERE
in working capital 44,474 69,150
(Increase) decrease in inventories FEOEMm RS (4,966) 5415
Decrease (increase) in trade and other ‘féf % K E b e U kI8
receivables, deposits and prepayments ®e &?EH/TAIE/JEZQ (3 h0) 19,474 (1,944)
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 R H MR FRIE R
and accrued charges FEEHE R HN 9,371 849
Increase in contract liabilities AHAEE N 125 =
Decrease in receipts in advance AR OB (923) (7,275)
Cash generated from operations HIBSIR S 67,555 66,195
Income tax (paid) refunded (B BREMRER (2,243) 1,045
Net cash from operating activities REXBBRSFHE 65,312 67,240
Investing activities REEE
Interest received B F 8 327 110
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEWE  WENMRE (92,478) (80,266)
Placement of deposit with original FERIHAHBBE=EANER
maturity over three months - (10,000)
Withdrawal of deposit with original maturity REUREI BB BB = E A MFER
over three months - 20,038
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REEEIRITIFR = 2,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME - BE RRHBTSRIE
plant and equipment 23,500 34,410
Proceeds from disposal of investment HEGFRREIREMSHE
in certificate of deposit - 6,047
Net cash used in investing activities RETHMARSFE (68,651) (27,661)
019 FFE | supmEERERAT 91



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

el TRER

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Financing activities REEE
Interest paid EARFLE (513) (1,036)
New borrowings raised e 11,360 10,380
Repayments of borrowings BEER (13,979) (24,102)
Repayments of obligations under finance leases EE g AR E S (T - (45)
Dividend paid ERRE (3,024) (8,294)
Net cash used in financing activities RETHFMARSFEE (6,156) (23,097)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and RERRESEEY ORD) B
cash equivalents FE (9,495) 16,482
Cash and cash equivalents at FONRERASEEY
beginning of the year 61,397 44,960
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes HNGE [ SR BB 2 R (55) (45)
Cash and cash equivalents at FRESRESZEEY
end of the year 51,847 61,397
Analysis of the balances of cash ReRESEEYERIW
and cash equivalents
Bank deposits with original maturity REE R & =18 A LA AR IRITIF 3K
less than three months 15,000 21,000
Bank balances and cash RITHEBR LIRS 36,847 40,397
51,847 61,397
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

AP Rentals Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as
an exempted company and registered in the Cayman Islands with
limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands on 11 June 2015.
The shares of the Company have been listed on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) with effect from 8
April 2016. The addresses of the registered office of the Company is
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-
1111, Cayman Islands and its principal place of business is Unit 15,
19/F Concordia Plaza, 1 Science Museum Road, Tsim Sha Tsui East,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Details of the
principal activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 33.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars ("HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA”") for the first time in the current year:

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers and the related
Amendments

HK(IFRIC) - Int 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and

Advance Consideration

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment
Transactions

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial
Instruments with HKFRS 4
Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKAS 28 As part of the Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 40 Transfers of Investment Property

DEBHEERERART(TERLIT DR
015F6 ANBREBEREHSRAIES
=& (1961 FEIFEN - LERE kB
A EFRSESEMK L AEREBR AR
WHRF=FSEM - AR ARG B 20165
A8 AREBERHMERHMBERDE ([H
KAL) £t e RARFEMEE it A
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681,
Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands * £
EEEMB AT B NERPHERRZE
BIRREES 19 I5F -

RRARRBREERAF - MBLARINER
EBFIBRNMIFESS ©

FaMBmERIDAET(TBT]) 25 &
TIRARBEEE -

REAFERBERNHITREBITE
7B B R 5 2 B
AEBEERAFEERERATI BELES
AR A ((EBEFEMAE]) RGOHET
NERT BB HRELER -

HEMBREERN SRIA

E o5k
BB RELER BREFAHKEME
F155% rEEEE]

B (BRI BWmE INER 5 RIERNRE
REZEE)
—REE 2%

EBMBMELER URNDIARS2
F2REMBETAR DEREE

FAUHREEN REBUHRELER

FBAFEBEI A F45R [RBRELD]
[ERBE BT ERSE
AEBIFE o5 [/l
TH]

BB gL EBBEBYIERSE

F 8RBT A ERIZFESE
(2014 F & 2016 F
RE) H—EB 5

BB GRTAER WE YR

FA0FEHERT AR

2019 &R DEBAEIERBERAR]
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year has had no material impact on the
Group's financial performance and positions for the current and prior

years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.

2.1

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 15 superseded HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11
Construction Contracts and the related interpretations.

The Group has applied HKFRS 15 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect of initially applying this standard recognised
at the date of initial application, 1 April 2018. Any difference at
the date of initial application is recognised in the opening
retained profits (or other components of equity, as
appropriate) and comparative information has not been
restated. Furthermore, in accordance with the transition
provisions in HKFRS 15, the Group has elected to apply the
standard retrospectively only to contracts that are not
completed at 1 April 2018. Accordingly, certain comparative
information may not be comparable as comparative
information was prepared under HKAS 18, HKAS 11 and the
related interpretations.

Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Continued)

The Group recognises revenue from the following major
sources which arise from contracts with customers:

Sales of machinery and parts;

Lease related operating service income; and

Lease related other service income.

Information about the Group's performance obligations and
the accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 15
are disclosed in notes 5 and 3 respectively.

The following adjustments were made to the amounts
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position
at 1 April 2018. Line items that were not affected by the
changes have not been included.

2. BAFTREBIESUBREE
B (BB EHERER ) ()

RAFERHERNHTREBTE
R E R (8)

2.1

Amounts
previously
reported at

31 March 2018

Current Liabilities FEaE
Contract liabilities AHEE (@)
Receipts in advance TEUWBR K (@)

SRIE R
2018 4
3H31H
EHRNESHE
HK$'000
FHIT

BRMBREEAE1SHRIFFEN
gk |(48)

AEEBERRE TIEZRIR(CKE
BEPAK) e

HEBME T

HEEBAORIERBEEA
)53

HHE B EMREKA -

EHEREBY B REERFE 155K
el B ASLERBHOE T REIE
RER D BRI ES X3 -

TH AR 2018F4 A1 ARERE BT
BARRER P RS EELNFE -
RBEXEEFEMMY|ER WEBE
A -

Carrying
amounts under
HKFRS 15 at

1 April 2018
HEEA
ISR
201854 H1H
HERE B
HKS$'000

T

Reclassification

BEXNAE
HK$'000
THET

- 438 438
1,890 (438) 1,452
2010 55% | TEAREERERAT 95



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

1:||||/

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)
2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

(Continued)
Note:

(a) As at 1 April 2018, receipts in advance from customers of
HK$438,000 for sales of machinery and parts, previously
included in receipts in advance were reclassified to contract
liabilities.

(b) For the purposes of reporting cash flows from operating
activities under indirect method for the year ended 31 March
2019, movements in working capital have been computed
based on opening consolidated statement of financial position
as at 1 April 2018 as disclosed above.

The following tables summarise the impacts of applying
HKFRS 15 on the Group's consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2019 and consolidated statement of
cash flows for the current year for each of the line items
affected. Line items that were not affected by the changes
have not been included.

Impact on the consolidated statement of financial position

Current Liabilities REBEE

Contract liabilities aHaE (@)
Receipts in advance TEUBR K @)
Note:

(a) As at 31 March 2019, contract liabilities of HK$563,000 would
have been accounted for as receipts in advance without
application of HKFRS 15.
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2. BRAFTREETEBMBREE
Al (&R M B|MELER D) (50

RAFEBHERNHITREBITE

BB E R (F)

21 ERMBEBREENE1SHIEFEN
g |(48)
BeE -

As reported

Fr2 &8
HK$'000
TR

563
529

@@  R2018F4 818 LAz ATEEK
R RERERTHEEREAD
438000 B LM EFIRAREEFH S
HEEHALRE -

) ABEEEEZ®HEZE2019F3A8
BNNALFEREEBMEEANRS
"E - BERE EXEER2018F4
A1ENEBNGEE T BRAERAE
LEESHE -

TR ER RSB REERSE 15
SR AREEMN 20193 A 31 BHEGA
MR ERARERANFENGAER
EMERPXFENSEMINIERR
HE o MEFINRZEAZHTEDN
M3|EE o

R B BRRKR &

Amounts

without

application of

Adjustment HKFRS 15
EREE

M ®mE

RIS 1555

AR AHNEH
HK$'000 HK$'000
THETT THET

(563)
563 1,092

Q) WMEEAEBMBHREEAES
5% 0 201943 A31 8 * 563,000
TTHE N BB EARIEBUER
o



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO 2. ERAFITRKETEBMBEHRESE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS Al ([EBHMEREER D @)
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily MRAEAEEBRHEHEMNNFITRZETE
effective for the current year (Continued) BRI REER (8)
2.1 HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 21 EBMBEREEREISHRIZFFEYN
(Continued) Wz (&)
Impact on the consolidated statement of cash flows YRR RERNZE

Amounts

without

application of

As reported Adjustment HKFRS 15
EREE

B RE

ZERIZE 155

FFEReHE B RINEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T FAETT

Operating activities &%

Increase in contract AHBaEEMN

liabilities (a) 125 (125) -
Decrease in receipts TR R FOR A

in advance (a) (923) 125 (798)

Note: MIaE -

(@  For the year ended 31 March 2019, increase in contract (@) i ERE S FERE 155 0 ©
liabilities of HK$125,000 would have been accounted for as HZE 201943 H31 BIFEE 125000
changes in receipts in advance without application of HKFRS BITHE N B EE NS EEEAR
15. PIVETAUBR R B Ep o

2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 22 EBRMBHREZEAFIRIEHMIA]

In the current year, the Group has applied HKFRS 9 and the NAREE  NEBREBAEEVERES

related consequential amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 9 SEBIE 098 K [ b 5 H b 5 B TS 1R

introduces new requirements for (1) the classification and EEBIEL HARIEET - BB BE
measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities, (2) ERAEIEIA NS REERSE

expected credit losses ("ECL") for financial assets and lease
receivables and (3) general hedge accounting.

BEZOVBEFE  QEeREEZR
HEEBR(AREERR] KO
—REPEFHERNFRE ©

2010 55% | sEAREERERAT 97
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily
effective for the current year (Continued)

2.2

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued)

The Group has applied HKFRS 9 in accordance with the
transition provisions set out in HKFRS 9, i.e. applied the
classification and measurement requirements (including
impairment under ECL model) retrospectively to instruments
that have not been derecognised as at 1 April 2018 (date of
initial application) and has not applied the requirements to
instruments that have already been derecognised as at 1 April
2018. The difference between carrying amounts as at 31
March 2018 and the carrying amounts as at 1 April 2018 are
recognised in the opening retained profits and other
components of equity, without restating comparative
information.

Accordingly, certain comparative information may not be
comparable as comparative information was prepared under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement.

Accounting policies resulting from application of HKFRS 9 are
disclosed in note 3.

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9

Classification and measurement of financial assets and
financial liabilities

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy of HK$2,656,000
previously classified as loans and receivables were reclassified
to financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL")
upon the application of HKFRS 9 because its cash flows do not
represent solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding. The fair value of the deposit
placed for a life insurance policy is approximate to its carrying
amounts at the date of initial application of HKFRS 9.

Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily REFEERHERNFITIREETE
effective for the current year (Continued) BT BREER (&)
2.2 HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (Continued) 22 EBRVKEBREENEIRIEMTIA]

Summary of effects arising from initial application of HKFRS 9
(Continued)

Impairment under ECL model

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach to
measure ECL which uses a lifetime ECL for lease receivables
and trade receivables. Except for those which had been
determined as credit-impaired under HKAS 39, lease
receivables and trade receivables have been assessed
individually with outstanding significant balances, while the
remaining balances are grouped based on internal credit
rating.

ECL for other financial assets at amortised cost, including other
receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank deposits with original
maturity less than three months and bank balances, are
assessed on 12-month ECL (“12m ECL") basis as there had
been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition.

As at 1 April 2018, additional credit loss allowance is
insignificant to be recognised against retained profits.

(%)

%L/ TER & BRI T & R 9 SE A
ERENHE (B)

ﬁﬁféﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂTﬂ?ﬁfE

AEERRAERBYBREERE R
T A ERERER 3R
WHHEFIANE S EYGRIAERAZH
BEHMEEEE - RIREEEGER
FIREKEERLREERESE
9\\ - BAE KR ARBE SRR ELHE
ERIENE ZEBFIAC ETERE
il MEBRERBRATEETRS
7 o

Hti B EX AT ENSREE (R
BEAMEWRIAE - DEMRITEX
[REIEA B R =18 A AARRRITFR R
RITHER) MR EEERR 2R
EHEEEE(2EAEBEER
B REREERRA B RHE
FRLARAL S A MRIE A0 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS TO
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments
to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17

HK(FRIC) - Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9
Amendments to

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
Amendments to

HKAS 1 and HKAS 8
Amendments to HKAS 19

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRSs

Leases'
Insurance Contracts®

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments'

Definition of a Business*

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation'

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture?

Definition of Material®

Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement!

Long-term Interests in Associates
and Joint Ventures'

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2015-2017 Cycle!

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

4 Effective for business combinations and asset acquisitions for which

the acquisition date is on or after the beginning of the first annual
period beginning on or after 1 January 2020
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2020
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all
other new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

HKFRS 16 Leases

HKFRS 16 introduces a comprehensive model for the identification
of lease arrangements and accounting treatments for both lessors
and lessees. HKFRS 16 will supersede HKAS 17 Leases and the related
interpretations when it becomes effective.

HKFRS 16 distinguishes lease and service contracts on the basis of
whether an identified asset is controlled by a customer. In addition,
HKFRS 16 requires sales and leaseback transactions to be determined
based on the requirements of HKFRS 15 as to whether the transfer of
the relevant asset should be accounted as a sale. HKFRS 16 also
includes requirements relating to subleases and lease modifications.

Distinctions of operating leases and finance leases are removed for
lessee accounting, and is replaced by a model where a right-of-use
asset and a corresponding liability have to be recognised for all
leases by lessees, except for short-term leases and leases of low value
assets.

EEMAEEHRERNIHITREBTE
R E R (8)

BT SR RO AT BB B IS s A R B
BETIN ARBERTRHBEAME LM
R MRIERT BB M T S R AT B2k
BT EYREPBERRENEATE -
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BEEBRELRFE 16K BB HEAR
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost and subsequently
measured at cost (subject to certain exceptions) less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, adjusted for any
remeasurement of the lease liability. The lease liability is initially
measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not
paid at that date. Subsequently, the lease liability is adjusted for
interest and lease payments, as well as the impact of lease
modifications, amongst others. For the classification of cash flows,
the Group currently presents operating lease payments as operating
cash flows. Upon application of HKFRS 16, lease payments in relation
to lease liability will be allocated into a principal and an interest
portion which will be presented as financing cash flows by the
Group and upfront prepaid lease payments will continue to be
presented as investing cash flow.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for the head
lease and the sub-lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-
use asset arising from the head lease, not with reference to the
underlying asset.

Other than certain requirements which are also applicable to lessor,
HKFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting
requirements in HKAS 17, and continues to require a lessor to classify
a lease either as an operating lease or a finance lease.

Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)

As at 31 March 2019, the Group, as a lessee, has non-cancellable
operating lease commitments of HK$1,150,000 as disclosed in note
28. A preliminary assessment indicates that these arrangements will
meet the definition of a lease under HKFRS 16, and hence the Group
will recognise a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability in
respect of all these leases unless they qualify for low value or short-
term leases.

In addition, the Group currently considers refundable rental deposits
paid of HK$915,000 as rights under leases to which HKAS 17 applies.
Based on the definition of lease payments under HKFRS 16, such
deposits are not payments relating to the right to use the underlying
assets. Accordingly, the carrying amounts of such deposits will be
adjusted to amortised cost and such adjustments are considered as
additional lease payments, which will be included in the carrying
amount of right-of-use assets.

The application of new requirements may result in changes in
measurement, presentation and disclosure as indicated above. The
Group intends to elect the practical expedient to apply HKFRS 16 to
contracts that were previously identified as leases applying HKAS 17
and HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains a
Lease and not apply this standard to contracts that were not
previously identified as containing a lease applying HKAS 17 and
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4. Therefore, the Group will not reassess whether the
contracts are, or contain a lease which already existed prior to the
date of initial application. Furthermore, the Group intends to elect
the modified retrospective approach for the application of HKFRS 16
as lessee and will recognise the cumulative effect of initial
application to opening retained profits without restating
comparative information.

EEAEERERNFTITRLEITE
B EER (&)
EBUBHEERFE165: [HE(E)
BANMIRE 28 FT IR FE - AEE (1EAEREA)
720194 3 A 31 B B9 0] BUEH 48 & 1H &
FEA1,1500008 7T c IS FHBRUHER
R EEAMBRELENE 165718 T
ENEx BAASBEEHERECAEEE
LRBBFRBEZEHENHEERE  BRIER
RAREEXEHESHERAIER®

AN REEBRBERAC N EBAER
£915000 8 T ABRABESHERNE 175
WEEETHER - REBEFBMIEREE
A 16RETHENTNTESE 25 Ke
WHHEFREEEERNEBEONNR - B
It ZERSWREAEN TRAERZEHEE
RN - A AR EABINEENK
BT ABERAZEEENREENA -

FERF R EAIREER LR OF & - 2
PIREREEEE - NREEFRIEA TR
HAE  SEREREEGHERIE175%
kBEE(BRVEREREZES) 28
B4 [EELHRAEREEE] 35 AHE
ENEHNERBAEMBREENE 165
M & KA EA BB G ERIE 175 R
R (ERFBREREZES) —REE4
SR ARBA A REHENS LRBZER
Bt - AEBBASEFTHEOITER
FEBENREXERBHCFENEE -
Uboh - REE (ERAMEA) BB BRI
EBPEERAEEVBREEAF 65 I
iR B R ERYBRNREEMNNRAF
2 MILEBIILLEREF -

2019 &R DEBAEIERBERAR]



ARE SRR I et

For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of material
by including additional guidance and explanations in making
materiality judgements. The amendments also align the definition
across all HKFRSs and will be mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 April 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group but may affect the
presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis except for the deposit placed for a life insurance
policy that is measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that
price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the
Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-
based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
Share-based Payment, leasing transactions that are within the scope
of HKAS 17, and measurements that have some similarities to fair
value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2
Inventories or value in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements
are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the
inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the
significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its
entirety, which are described as follows:

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,

either directly or indirectly; and

Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the Company:

has power over the investee;

is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of
the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Company loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of
subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control
until the date when the Company ceases to control the subsidiary.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the
Group's accounting policies.

All intra-group assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash
flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on
a prospective basis.

Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected
useful lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there
is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the
end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the
lease term and their useful lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs of inventories are determined using the first-in, first-out
method. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price
for inventories less all costs necessary to make the sale.
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Impairment of tangible assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether there is any
indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is
estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if
any.

The recoverable amount of tangible assets are estimated individually.
When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount
individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets
are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for
which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on
the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying amount
of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs
of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero.
The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the
unit. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair
value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
since 1 April 2018. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to
the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets at FVTPL) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets at FVTPL are
recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the relevant
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability,
or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount
on initial recognition.

E@MT A
CREELEHABEREEEEKATA
BHNETHET R B TERR ©

ERMEERSBBBEVNFIRAAENE
HEEPANELME 5 RUIAR 20184
4 A1V BERBEBRBUHREERE 155 (F
NEZHERI - WBRBTEREERS
BEECRBERRANEIERNEREE
BN BERBIENRZ SRR - I ERERE
MAZBEEXTRBBENRRE it
TREERTRBENRAENR(RIBER
ME) o WERBEDIR A ENRNEE
BEBAERKELNR 5K AR R ERAE

u«ZJ\"

ERAELZE—BARFESCREESND
BadE s B A RERBEEAY
R B W ARTTE - BREFIEZA 55
BENSRAENRTEFF A EE 8 (20
HE) 2 RRRES WA (BIEEKER
*'J?”ﬁ@ﬁ DZEHEMNKBEWRBER R
RSP R H s B ek 3T %) ML AR 3R
iE/ABEa%J\EqZEEE@TEZﬂ% o

2019 &R DEBAEIERBERAR]



N

ARE SRR I et
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently
measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows
that are solely payments of principal and interest on the
principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the amortised cost of the financial asset from the next reporting
period. If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset from the
beginning of the reporting period following the determination that
the asset is no longer credit-impaired.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (upon
application of HKFRS 9 in accordance with transitions in note 2)
(Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2)

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets
which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9 (including trade and
other receivables, pledged bank deposit, bank deposits with original
maturity less than three months and bank balances) and lease
receivables. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12m ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is
expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the
Group's historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date as
well as the forecast of future conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for lease receivables and
trade receivables. The ECL on these assets are assessed individually
for debtors with significant balances or credit-impaired and/or
collectively using a provision matrix with appropriate groupings.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime

ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is

based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default
occurring since initial recognition.

(i)

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In
making this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

significant deterioration in external market indicators of
credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread,
the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual payments are more
than 30 days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a debt instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of
default, (i) the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of
the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The
Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit risk
when it has an internal or external credit rating of “investment
grade” as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(@) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

(0 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with
transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been placed under
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group's recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information.
Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with the respective risks
of default occurring as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition. For a lease receivable, the cash flows used for
determining the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in
measuring the lease receivable in accordance with HKAS 17.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (upon application of HKFRS 9 with

transitions in accordance with note 2) (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for cases
where evidence at the individual instrument level may not yet
be available, the financial instruments are grouped with
reference to the following basis:

Nature of financial instruments;

Past-due status;

Nature, size and industry of debtors; and

External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit
risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is
credit-impaired, in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of lease receivables and trade
receivables where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018)

The Group’s financial assets are classified as loans and receivables.

The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial
assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
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Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets (before
application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018) (Continued)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
deposit placed for a life insurance policy, trade receivables, bank
deposits with original maturity less than three months, pledged bank
deposit and bank balances and cash) are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment (see
accounting policy on impairment of financial assets below).

Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate,
except for short-term receivables where the recognition of interest
would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April
2018)

Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be
impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or
more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial
asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have
been affected.

Objective evidence of impairment could include:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest

or principal payments; or

it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (before application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April
2018) (Continued)

For certain categories of financial assets, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are, in
addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include
the Group's past experience of collecting payments, an increase in
the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the average
credit period, and observable changes in national or local economic
conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

The amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the
estimated future cash flows discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of
trade receivables, where the carrying amounts are reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring
after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is
reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been
had the impairment not been recognised.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual
rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither
transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability
for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset,
the Group continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost,
the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the sum of
the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables and
borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in note 2)

Under HKFRS 15, the Group recognises revenue when (or as) a

performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods
or services underlying the particular performance obligation is

transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or
services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is
met:

the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group
performs;

the Group's performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the Group performs; or

the Group's performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group's right to consideration in
exchange for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a
customer that is not yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment
in accordance with HKFRS 9. In contrast, a receivable represents the
Group's unconditional right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the
customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract
are accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations (including
allocation of transaction price)

For contracts that contain more than one performance obligation
(including lease related operating service, repair and maintenance
service, installation service and delivery service), the Group allocates
the transaction price to each performance obligation on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis.

The stand-alone selling price of the distinct good or service
underlying each performance obligation is determined at contract
inception. It represents the price at which the Group would sell a
promised good or service separately to a customer. If a stand-alone
selling price is not directly observable, the Group estimates it using
appropriate techniques such that the transaction price ultimately
allocated to any performance obligation reflects the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for transferring the promised goods or services to the customer.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Revenue from contracts with customers (upon
application of HKFRS 15 in accordance with transitions
in note 2) (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation
Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on output method, which is to
recognise revenue on the basis of direct measurements of the value
of the goods or services transferred to the customer to date relative
to the remaining goods or services promised under the contract,
that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services.

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if
the timing of payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly)
provides the customer or the Group with a significant benefit of
financing the transfer of goods or services to the customer. In those
circumstances, the contract contains a significant financing
component. A significant financing component may exist regardless
of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in the
contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties
to the contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of
the associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price
for any significant financing component.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Revenue recognition (prior to 1 April 2018)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable. Revenue is reduced for estimated customer returns,
rebates and other similar allowances.

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be reliably
measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will
flow to the Group and when specific criteria have been met for each
of the Group's activities, as described below.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and titles have passed.

The accounting policy for rental income from machinery leasing
under operating lease is disclosed in the accounting policy below.

Operating service income and other service income are recognised
when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s
net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use
or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until such time as the
assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before tax because of income
or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group's liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
statement of financial position and the corresponding tax base used
in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the
reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary
items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on monetary items are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HKS)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during
the period, in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates
of transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the
lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Group as lessor
Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

The Group as lessee

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the
Group at their fair value at the inception of the lease or, if lower, at
the present value of the minimum lease payments. The
corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the consolidated
statement of financial position as obligations under finance leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are
recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or permits
the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any
amount already paid.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, including
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF” Scheme) and State-
managed retirement benefit schemes, are recognised as an expense
when employees have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based
on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets within the next
financial year, including the expected rentals generated of the plant
and machinery less than its carrying value of remaining useful life.
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Impairment assessment of plant and machinery

The Group’s major operating assets are plant and machinery
included in property, plant and equipment. Management performs
review for impairment of these plant and machinery whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate that their carrying
values may not be recovered.

The recoverable amounts of the plant and machinery are
determined based on the higher of value in use calculations and fair
value less cost of disposal. The Group uses fair value less cost of
disposal as the recoverable amounts which requires the
management to estimate the resale values with reference to the
historical disposal values, or market transactions of similar assets.
Where the actual cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in reduction of estimated cash flows,
impairment loss may arise. At 31 March 2019, the carrying amount of
plant and machinery is HK$216,052,000 (2018: HK$190,086,000).

Impairment assessment for lease receivables and trade
receivables

The management of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL
of lease receivables and trade receivables based on individual
assessment for those which had been determined as significant
balance or credit-impaired whereas the remaining balance are
assessed by means of provision matrix through grouping of various
debtors that have similar risk exposure, after considering internal
credit ratings of lease receivables and trade receivables, ageing,
repayment history and/or past due status and forward-looking
information of respective lease receivables and trade receivables that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or
effort. Estimated losses are based on historical observed default rates
over the expected life of the lease receivables and trade receivables
and are adjusted for forward-looking information. At every reporting
date, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and
changes in the forward-looking information are considered. The
provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates.

As 31 March 2019, the aggregate amounts of lease receivables and
trade receivables are HK$39,550,000, net of allowance for credit loss
of HK$6,715,000. The information about the ECL and the Group's
lease receivables and trade receivables are disclosed in notes 27 and
17 respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS ¥R MY AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkosHER
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZE2019F3A31BLEE
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with i) FEFEHKRENSE
customers

For the year ended 31 March 2019
BZ2019F3ANALEFE

Lease
Sales of related  Repairand
machinery  operating maintenance Delivery Installation

and parts services service service service Total
Buk RESEH BER
BHHE WBRERE  RERE  OREBRE  RERE i
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TR TR TR

Geographical markets g

Hong Kong s 10,154 10,150 2,373 8,603 1,135 32,415
Macau il 395 3 7 534 30 969
Singapore gl - 624 2 14 - 640
Total Fob 10,549 10,777 2,382 9,151 1,165 34,024

Timing of revenue W R E

recognition
Apointin time HE-EREER 10,549 - 2,382 9,151 - 22,082
Overtime BERr TR - 10,777 - - 1,165 11,942
Total @it 10,549 10,777 2,382 9,151 1,165 34,024
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
sre SRR M
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1:||||/

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. RBERDIBER (5

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued) BZ2019F3A31HIEFE(E)

(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) FEEFEHWZMAPE(E)
customers (Continued)
Set out below is the reconciliation of the revenue from TEREIEP A M ER S IBERFT
contracts with customers with the amounts disclosed in the WEL R Y -

segment information.

2019
2019 &
Segment
revenue
7 HB UK =
HK$’000
F#E T

Lease related operating services B & Mr R ERRTS &
and other services H b AR %5 23,475
Trading 25 10,549
Revenue from contracts with customers BEEE#H WK 34,024
Leasing of machinery A E 112,086
Total revenue FAl g 146,110

1 30 AP Rentals Holdings Limited /  Annual Report 2019
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
Sales of machinery and parts

Revenue from sales of machinery and parts is from contracts
with customers and recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods.

Revenue is recognised when control of the goods has
transferred, being when the goods have been transferred to the
customer. The customer has full discretion over the usage and
consume the goods, and has the primary responsibility when on
selling the goods and bears the risks of obsolescence and loss in
relation to the goods. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days
upon invoice issued.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value
as deposits from customers when it signs the sale and
purchase agreement. The deposits will be recognised as
revenue when the customer obtains control of the machinery.

All the sales of machinery and parts are completed within one
year. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Lease related operating service income

The Group offers equipment operating service in Hong Kong
by sending equipment operators to operate the equipment at
the job sites of its customers. Such services are recognised as a
performance obligation satisfied over time as the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided
by the Group’s performance as the Group performs. The
invoice is issued upon the completion of service. The normal
credit term is 0 to 45 days upon invoice issued.

The contract periods for lease related operating service are
one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

For the year ended 31 March 2019 (Continued)

(ii)

Performance obligations for contracts with customers
(Continued)

Lease related other service income

The Group's other service income, which arise from rental
arrangements including repair and maintenance, installation
and delivery services. Revenue from delivery is recognised
when the goods have been delivered to the customer’s
specific location. Revenue from repair and maintenance
service is recognised when the service rendered is completed.
Revenue from installation service is recognised over time
because the Group’s performance creates or enhances an
asset that the customer controls as the asset is created or
enhanced. The invoice is issued upon the completion of
service. The normal credit term is 0 to 45 days upon invoice
issued.

The contract periods for lease related other services are one
year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

For the year ended 31 March 2018
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Sales of machinery and parts W R T HIHE
Leasing income of machinery £ AR AR LA
Operating service income BRIERRTE WA
Other service income HAth AR UA

AP Rentals Holdings Limited

Annual Report 2019
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS ¥R MY AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. RBERDIBER (5

For the year ended 31 March 2018 (Continued) BZE2018F3A31BLEFE ()
For management purpose, the Group is organised based on its REEAN  AEBEREERKTEAM -
business activities. The Group determines its operating segments AEEZGSER EHETCHEEN S
based on these business activities that are regularly reviewed by the HEREERREE (AR TNITESE)E
chief operating decision maker, i.e. the executive directors of the HRE] - U BREERRF GRS -
Company, for the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment.
Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments under BERMNE  A5EBRBREEVBRSER
HKFRS 8 Operating Segments are as follows: F8 (A& 5 E ] MR 2| RS L H F 40
s 8
Leasing — Leasing of machinery, lease related operating mE — EmAE AERECER
service, repair and maintenance service, % BERRERS - KX
delivery service and installation service PR & 2 S AR 75
Trading —  Sales of machinery and parts BEE — @ EERTHEE
Segment information about these reportable and operating BRI SR 2REEE DI D EERR
segments is presented below: TX2% :
Segment revenue and results AE S & A
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZE2019F3A31HLEE
Leasing Trading Total
HE BEE At
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
THET THT FHExT
Revenue Wz
Segment revenue from REINBEFHY
external customers pan:i € 135,561 10,549 146,110
Results E
Segment results DEELE 23,684 1,740 25,424
Unallocated income AHEEUWA 362
Unallocated expenses ROEHEEZ (28,168)
Consolidated loss before tax REEREEBRTA
of the Group &8 (2,382)
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

Segment revenue and results (Continued)
For the year ended 31 March 2018

Revenue Wz
Segment revenue from REAIMBEF B
external customers pa:it g
Results ¥iE
Segment results DEBHELE
Unallocated income RoBUA
Unallocated expenses RO
Consolidated profit before tax REERLGTERBIRNR T

of the Group

The accounting policies of the reportable and operating segments

are the same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment results represent the profit earned by each segment

without allocation of certain interest income and sundry income,
exchange loss and central administration expenses. This is the
measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the
purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

The chief operating decision maker makes decisions according to
operating results of each segment. No analysis of segment assets
and liabilities are presented as the information is not regularly
reported to the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of
resource allocation and assessment of performance.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

D EBUk R B 3 4E ()
BZ2018F3H31HLFE
Leasing Trading Total
HE 5= #x
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT T T
184,050 41211 225,261
49,615 9,710 59,325
873
(33,901)
26,297
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. WERDIER (&)
Other segment information Hitbn EHE R
For the year ended 31 March 2019 BZ2019F3A31HILFE

Leasing Trading Unallocated Total

HE BER ROE st

HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
F#n ~ FER  FER  TER

Impairment losses recognised EREREMEETERE S
for lease receivables and EYGRIEREESEFE
trade receivables, net 1,027 154 - 1,181
Depreciation of property, M - BEREETE
plant and equipment 49,457 5 1,471 50,933
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE « BER&EKE
plant and equipment 5,348 - - 5,348
For the year ended 31 March 2018 BZE2018F3A31HLFEE
Leasing Trading  Unallocated Total
il BE APE wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT TAET THEL TAT
Impairment losses recognised ERARKEERERES
for lease receivable and UGB REBEFR
trade receivables, net 1210 - - 1210
Depreciation of property, W BERSENE
plant and equipment 47,600 24 2,084 49,708
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  BERRERE
plant and equipment 8938 4 - 8942

2019 G5 | mHEAREREERAT 135



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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1:||||/

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. RBERDIBER (5

Geographical information 32 &R
The Group's revenue from external customers is mainly derived from AREEKRBIBEFPHNRREENTEES
customers located in Hong Kong, Macau and Singapore, which is BORFIRIINEHER - WREEPM
determined based on the location of customers. TEHBEEEE -
2019 2018
20196 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHET FHET
External revenue: SN AR
Hong Kong B 133,716 212,932
Macau P! 11,408 12,329
Singapore Frhnig 986 =
146,110 225,261
The Group's non-current assets based on the geographical location REBERERDEE REBUHEZEENSE
of the group companies owning these assets are as follows: EARMMEHIBAEEI D) EINIAT
2019 2018
2019 % 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Non-current assets: ERMBEE
Hong Kong &5 210,032 183,969
Macau RS 5,843 11,763
Singapore s 5,371 2,121
221,246 197,853
Note: Non-current assets excluded deposit placed for a life insurance policy izt : JERBEETBIESBRREFRIELTR
and deferred tax assets. HEE °
Information about major customers FRIEEFNER
There are no customers contributing over 10% of total revenue of the Group RREFEHERFEASEZA KT
during both years. 10% °
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

6. OTHERINCOME 6. HlgA
2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Interest income from: FMBUAKE :
— bank deposits —RITER 327 63
— investment certificate of deposit — EFRRELRE - 5
— deposit placed for a life insurance — EBIREER
policy 96 91
Storage income BERA 1,677 1,726
Sundry income HIFUL A 2,093 1,978
4,193 3,863
7. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES 7. HftlmREE
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET T
Exchange loss, net b 5 E 1835 (98) (579)
Gain on disposal of property, LEWE  BER
plant and equipment BElE 5,348 8,942
5,250 8,363
8. FINANCE COSTS 8. MEME
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
HK$'000 HKS$'000
F#&xT FET
Interest on borrowings EFRF B 513 1,035
Interest on finance leases MEHRERNS = 1

513 1,036
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9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE 9. FI5HRX

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHET T

Current tax = HAF 1R
Hong Kong Profits Tax BEBFFH - 539
Macau Complementary Income Tax SRPY PS4 TR 153 341
153 880
Deferred taxation (note 22) FEIERIA (M 7E22) (12) 4,336
141 5216

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The
(the "Bill") which
introduces the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed
into law on 28 March 2018 and was gazetted on the following day.
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000
of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and
profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of
group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates

Inland Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017

regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the Group
has no assessable profits for the current year. Hong Kong Profits Tax
was calculated at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for the

year ended 31 March 2018.

For the subsidiary registered in Singapore which is subject to
Singapore income tax at 17% (2018: 17%). No provision for Singapore
income tax had been made as it had no assessable profits for both

years.

For the subsidiary registered in Macau, Macau Complementary
Income Tax is calculated at 12% of the estimated assessable profit
exceeding MOP600,000 after the deduction of dividend paid for

both years.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 9.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled from the
(loss) profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

FERBAX %)
AEFRERMYRESE
WS R FTEBBIAT (B8 B S BRI T -

s MEMEE

2019 2018

2019 20184

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FHET

(Loss) profit before tax M Fi AT (E518) ‘% A (2,382) 26,297

Tax at applicable tax rate of 16.5% RERARE165% 5 EHNTHIE (393) 4339
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AAIB AT OS2

for tax purpose 803 1,528
Tax effect of income not taxable for BARBTBANTR G L

tax purpose (54) (8)

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AER IS ERONHIGTE 646 -

Effect of different tax rate of subsidiary R EA FDA B E R &L R E A 7

operating in other jurisdiction W RERNTE (58) (301)

Others HAth (803) (342)

Income tax expense for the year NEFFEHRAY 141 5216
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

10.

(LOSS) PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

10. AFE (FR)EF

2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
(Loss) profit for the year has been arrived MR T5IB B BAAFE
at after charging: (E18) a7
Auditor's remuneration %S BB & 1,883 1,745
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses HRIER X FEER AN 5,668 26,664
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ % - &= N REITE 50,933 49,708
Directors’ emoluments (note 11) EEME (M) 6,660 7,425
Other staff costs: HMth B THA :
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits —¥Fe RN REMET 34,008 47513
— Retirement benefits scheme contributions  — R K@ HET Itk 1,477 2,076
35,485 49,589
Total staff costs @8 TRA 42,145 57,014
Operating lease rentals in respect of HERMMKEHERS
rented premises
— minimum lease payment — HEHEENK 5,113 4,859

Note: The Group has established the MPF Scheme for its Hong Kong
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds
which are under the control of independent trustees. The retirement
benefit scheme contributions recognised in profit or loss represent
contributions paid or payable by the Group to the scheme at 5% of
each of the employees’ monthly relevant income capped at
HK$30,000 per month.

The eligible employees of the Company's subsidiaries in the Macau
and Singapore are members of pension schemes operated respective
local governments. The subsidiary in Macau is required to contribute
MOP60 for every employee per month while the subsidiary in
Singapore is required to contribute 16% of the employee’s monthly
gross salary. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
retirement benefit schemes is to make the required contribution
under the schemes.

The total costs charged to profit or loss for the year of HK$1,549,000
(2018: HK$2,148,000), comprised HK$72,000 and HK$1,477,000 (2018:
HK$72,000 and HK$2,076,000) in directors’ emoluments and other staff
costs respectively, and represented contributions paid or payable to
the schemes by the Group in respect of the current year. At the end of
the reporting period, there were no forfeited contributions available
to reduce future obligations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS ¥R MY AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

11. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S AND EMPLOYEES’ 11. EE - BTBRAERESMS
EMOLUMENTS
Details of the emoluments paid or payable to the directors of the BN REMARARESHMESFBOT ¢
Company are as follows:

Other emoluments

Hiti &
Basic
salaries, Retirement
allowances benefits
and other  Discretionary scheme
benefits bonus  contributions Total
BEXREE -
)=3:'953 ZEPHE%‘U
HAit @A BB TEAL sTEIHR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHT FHT FHT THAT
(Note)
GE
For the year ended BZE2019%3A318
31 March 2019 LHFEE
Executive directors: WITES:
Lau Pong Sing 21F% - 2,772 - 36 2,808
Chan Kit Mui, Lina &2 - 2,736 - 36 2,772
Non-executive directors: FHITESE
Tomokatsu Nakazawa FiER 5 (R 20185
(appointed on 14 December 2018) A4EERE) = - - - -
Lu Tao (resigned on 14 December 2018) & 3& (1A 20184F
12 A 14 BEHE) = = = = =
Independent non-executive directors: BAIEHITES
Li Ping Chi FIRE 240 = = = 240
Siu Chak Yu BEF 240 - - = 240
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond [BFE3 600 - - - 600
1,080 5,508 - 72 6,660
For the year ended HZ2018%3831H
31 March 2018 LEE
Executive directors: HITES -
Lau Pong Sing 21Hm% - 2,755 440 36 3,231
Chan Kit Mui, Lina 21 - 2718 360 36 3,114
Non-executive directors: FMITES -
Kitagawa Ken (resigned on b1 (722017 5
20 June 2017) 6 A 20 BBHE) - - - - -
Lu Tao (appointed on =% (7R 2017 F
20 June 2017) 6 A20 B EZE) = = = = =
Independent non-executive directors: BUFRTES :
Li Ping Chi BN 240 = = = 240
Siu Chak Yu T 240 - - - 240
Ho Chung Tai, Raymond flER 600 - - - 600
1,080 5473 800 72 7425
Note: The discretionary bonus is mainly determined on the basis of the s BB AT EUAEEEERBAARES
performance of the Group and individual. HEF o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

11.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs of
the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as
directors of the Company. No emoluments were paid to the non-
executive directors for both years. There was no arrangement under
which a director or the Chief Executive of the Company waived or
agreed to waive any remuneration for both years.

Mr. Lau Pong Sing is also the Chief Executive of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by
him as the Chief Executive.

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group for
the year, two (2018: two) of them were directors of the Company,

11.

EE BESTBRAEBREEM=
(%)
P TEEHE I 2HEEREEAR
RASEEHRERE AR - J:L?’E_L;E
HTEEMe T RRERBEETARAES
RURBER - ZMEFERERIFENT
BEFXNHE - RAREFHZSITHA
BRNZMEFEAL EREXRFBREL
(AT Bl B 22 B -

BIHKREENRRARARRITHRAE » £
X EEMEBRE(ERERRITHAR
RERBTHMSE -

AERAEEARRSHFALTHRE (2018
FMB)/ARAESE  EMECFtAL

whose emoluments are included in above. The emoluments of the XA B TR=2(2018%F : =4 ) AT HIEN
remaining three (2018: three) individuals were as follows: LT :
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FET FET
Basic salaries and allowance and HAH & MR K&
other benefits H b @R 2,244 2,493
Discretionary bonus EISIEAL - 336
Retirement benefits scheme contributions RREFIET B 54 54
2,298 2,883

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration within the following
band is as follows:

Nil to HK$1,000,000 L% 1,000,000 77T

MENFTINBENFEARFEERH
BREZBENOT :

2019 2018

2019 & 20185
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AE N

3

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office during both years.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

12. DIVIDEND

Dividend recognised as distributions
of the Company during the year
2018 Final — HK cent 0.35

(2018:2017 Final — HK cent 0.28)

12. KA
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHBxT FHET
& BHERVEA A A
RAEFEEND IR

2018 F 4% B — FA% 035 781
(20184F : 2017 FF 4R H

per share — F& 0287 1l) 3,024 2,419
2019 Interim — nil (2018: 2018 20195 AR H — 4& (2018 4F
Interim — HK cent 0.68) per share 2018 FH Hl — TR 0.68 7 11) - 5,875
3,024 8,294
Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the Board does not RBEMRE EFTFTEBRNEZE
recommend the payment of final dividend for the year ended 31 201943 A31 HILFERARERE ©

March 2019.

13. (LOSS) EARNINGS PER SHARE

13. 3R (ER)BF

The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share attributable to RATHEB ABEERER(ER) BHTY
owners of the Company is based on the following data: ER TSR T -

(Loss) profit for the year attributable to

2019 2018
2019 FF 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&x FHET

RARFTESRER(BER) B

owners of the Company for the purpose N2 B A A JE{G A EE
of basic (loss) earnings per share (JE18) = A (2,523) 21,081
‘000
T
Number of shares f& 1 2B
Number of ordinary shares for the BRETESRER(BB)
purpose of basic (loss) earnings B I A 38 AR A 2R
per share 864,000 864,000
Note: The calculation of the basic (loss) earnings per share for both years are s« bl E S E SREAR (B518) BF Ty AR
based on the (loss) profit attributable to the owners of the Company NEVEB ATEE (B518) % F R ERND 31T
using the weighted average number of shares of in issue during the IR Al s
Jear &7 IR I Bt E
No diluted (loss) earnings per share is presented for both years as AN B 2 R TE AR - B E 27
there were no potential ordinary shares in issue. ZMEEE NSRS (BB &R -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. V¥ - - BERRXE

Furniture
Plantand Office and Leasehold Motor
machinery  equipment fixtures  improvements vehicles Total
FAR HE
BER#EH BAZERE EEHE  NEEHB RE I8 @t
HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT TAT THT
CosT A
At1 April 2017 R2017E4R18 292,208 2517 65 5376 12753 1472 314,391
Additions RE 76417 479 163 54 3,049 104 80,266
Disposals HE (44,309) (18) = = (990) = (45317)
At 31 March 2018 R2018F3 4318 324,316 2,978 228 5,430 14,812 1,576 349,340
Additions RE 91,757 91 203 317 1 109 92,478
Disposals HeE (33,998) (172) - - (80) - (34,250)
Exchange realignment  [E 5 3% 1 - - - - - 1
At31 March 2019 R2019F3 4318 382,076 2,897 431 5,747 14,733 1,685 407,569
DEPRECIATION E
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4 818 108,175 1340 62 3416 7776 859 121628
Provided for the year FREIRE 45720 392 50 842 2,465 239 49,708
Eliminated on disposals 1 & 3144 (19,665) @ - - (182) - (19.849)
At31 March 2018 R2018F3A31H 134,230 1,730 112 4,258 10,059 1,098 151,487
Provided for the year FEIRE 47,749 395 133 558 1,847 251 50,933
Eliminated on disposals &K 34 (15,956) (65) - - (77) - (16,098)
Exchange realignment  [E X % 1 - - - - = 1
At31 March 2019 R2019F3A31H 166,024 2,060 245 4,816 11,829 1,349 186,323
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 March 2019 R2019F3A318 216,052 837 186 931 2,904 336 221,246
At31 March 2018 R2018F3A318 190,086 1248 116 1172 4753 478 197853

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum after taking
into account the residual values:

15% to 30%
20%

Plant and machinery
Others

144 AP Rentals Holdings Limited  /  Annual Report 2019

L% - BB RREEREFRNBREE
BUABEARIR T I FRITE

R 55 R Ak 15% Z= 30%
i 20%



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

15. DEPOSIT PLACED FOR A LIFE INSURANCE POLICY 15. ERREER

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy SRIREFK

2019 2018

2019 F 2018 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000

FET

\ 2,725 ! 2,656

The Group entered into a life insurance policy (the “Policy”) with an
insurance company to insure a director of the Company. Under the
Policy, the beneficiary and policy holder is a subsidiary of the
Company and the total insured sum is US$1,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$7,757,000).

At inception of the Policy, the Group is required to make a single
upfront payment of US$322,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$2,497,000) which includes a fixed policy premium charge and a
deposit. Monthly policy expense and insurance charges will be
incurred over the insurance period with reference to the terms set
out in the Policy. The insurance company will pay the Group a
guaranteed interest rate of 4.2% for the first year and a variable
return per annum afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest
rate of 2%) during the effective period of the Policy. The Group may
request full surrender of the Policy at any time and receive cash back
based on the value of the Policy at the date of withdrawal, which is
determined by the gross premium paid plus accumulated interest
earned and minus the policy expense and insurance premium
charge. If such withdrawal is made between the first to eighteenth
policy year, a pre-determined specified surrender charge will be
imposed on the Group.

The directors of the Company consider that the possibility of
terminating the Policy during the first eighteen years was low and
the expected life of the life insurance policy remains unchanged
since its initial recognition. For the year ended 31 March 2018, the
policy premium, expense and insurance charges are recognised in
profit or loss and the deposit placed is carried at amortised cost.
Upon the application of HKFRS 9 on 1 April 2018, the deposit placed
for a life insurance policy is reclassified to financial asset at FVTPL.

AEEERB ARG A SRIRE([RE]) -
BARNR—BREBHRR - RIERE -
ARREHEANEBRAGKBAR - ML
& R 58 41,000,000 3£ 7T (FHFE R 497,757,000
BIT) o

RERER  AEEASN—2/BEN
3X322,0003 7T (4855 7 492,497,000 7T )

BRETHERERTR - FARBAL KR
BFEEENRBIFRNZBIREMIIEK
EXE - RERAFAERANEES N EFRE
FEa20 WHRERBRRELERPRATFL
A E R (REREFRB2%) - AEE
AR ER2ERE  THEOHESRERR
BHREEBERENRBAEMNZTCE
FETMBRREATRREFEEMET)
MRS - WRE—E2F+N\EREFEZ
MRR  AEBEBAMNETERFEE -

ARREZRBRE—ZEZETN\EREF
ERRIEREM T REIEE - NERRED
EESHEEAERRERFTE - BHE
2018F3A3ALFE  RE X KR
MFEENBEER  MATNFERIRE
SHRCATIER - R 2018F 4 A1 BIERE B
BIREEAF OR% - SRIRETFREER
DI ABBEREANEYERNEMEE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

16. INVENTORIES 16. FE
2019 2018
2019 F 2018 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FHBxT T
Finished goods RUAY o 12,134 7,168
17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITSAND 17. EZRHEMEWRIE - RERFEN
PREPAYMENTS IR
2019 2018
2019 2018 4F
HK$’000 HKS'000
FET FAET
Lease receivables from: R TIIALES :
— outsiders —INR AT 42,228 59,011
— a shareholder — —ZE - 119
— a subsidiary of a shareholder — ARAR]— AR
of the Company LopENG] 1,314 2,320
— arelated company — —fAE LT 697 790
Less: Allowance for credit loss W EEEEERE (6,524) (5,534)
37,715 56,706
Trade receivables from contracts RERFEHMES
with customers JEW R TE 2,026 4678
Less: Allowance for credit loss B EEEEERE (191) =
1,835 4678
Other receivables H fth EURFRIB 194 =
Deposits and prepayments E& RIBHARIE 3,833 2,848
43,577 64,232

20193 A31 B &2018F481H » K8
BEEHRNE S EWGIED R4 /51,835,000
7B 7T M 4,678,000, 78 T ©

As at 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2018, trade receivables from
contracts with customers amounted to HK$1,835,000 and
HK$4,678,000 respectively.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

17.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND
PREPAYMENTS (Continued)

The following is an aged analysis of lease receivables and trade
receivables, net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

B RHEMEBKE

«T)\IE‘\’E' )
AT AR EEBRIRERE A B2 580 B IR
HEFIERE HREWFIA(BHREEBE

B B RRER DA -

RIE - RERFAM

2019 2018

2019 F 20184F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET T

Within 30 days 30BRA 10,341 12,638
31 to 60 days 31260H 12,538 18,246
61 to 90 days 61290 H 4,759 7,776
91 to 180 days 912180 H 6,108 13,230
Over 180 days 838180 H 5,804 9,494
39,550 61,384

As at 31 March 2019, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$31,107,000 which were past due at the end of the
reporting period. Out of the past due balances as at 31 March 2019,
HK$13,590,000 has been past due 90 days or more and are not
considered as in default as debtors normally will settle the
outstanding balances after 90 days overdue with reference to the
debtors settlement pattern. The Group does not hold any collateral
over these balances.

As at 31 March 2018, included in the Group's lease receivables and
trade receivables balances were debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$52,571,000 which were past due at the end of the
reporting period for which the Group has not provided for allowance
for doubtful debts. Based on past experience, the directors of the
Company are of the opinion that no further provision is necessary in
respect of these balances as there has not been a significant change
in credit quality and the balances are still considered fully
recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

MR2019F3 84318 AEBERKEERE
MEBESRERBLEHEELEERAEASR
31,107,000 LRI E UK BR 3% - B IREHI R
B - R2019%3 A31 AR B ELE AT -
13,590,000 % 7L B 181 HA 90 A sk A B4 48
RED ARKER—MEgrEaiio R’
SERPBERINARNEEREELES -
REBEBWRRZELRITHE ERERR -

R2018F3A31 0 AEERKHEERE
FRESRUBFELAGBEAREAER
52,571,000 TR FEURBR 3K - R FREHIR
B - AR B A B R ARAT IR B
#HeoRBEBELER  ARREERABA
MRESHBRELE—TRE  REAREE
BEVEBERNEHEERERNEE AR
2HWE -  AEEWARZELEHIBTEET
IR o
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17. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITSAND 17. S HMERRE - RERFEM

PREPAYMENTS (Continued) =RIH (48)
Ageing of lease receivables and trade receivables at 31 March 2018 20184 3 A 31 A E i HiB R B E &9 FE IR
which were past due but not impaired: MEFRIE R E 5 FE W IE 8 AR A -
2018
20184
HK$'000
FHET
Overdue: peng=i
1 to 60 days 1260H 23,335
61 to 90 days 61E90H 7,256
91 to 120 days 91ZE120H 4,305
121 to 180 days 121 £180H 8,934
181 to 365 days 1812365 H 7,515
Over 365 days 8 365 H 1,226
52,571
Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the year REZE2018F3 831 AILLFENRERE
ended 31 March 2018 were as follows: ZET
2018
20184F
HK$'000
FAT
At beginning of the year REH] 4,368
Amounts written off as uncollectible i E = A W B B FRIE (44)
Impairment loss recognised, net ERERRESE TR 1,210
At end of the year RER 5,534
Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables at B ZE2019F3A31 A E 5 K& H i FEUGK
31 March 2019 are set out in note 27. TBH R E R S IE SR 5L 27 o
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

18.

19.

BANK DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY LESS
THAN THREE MONTHS/BANK BALANCES AND
CASH/PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT

At 31 March 2019, bank balances carry interest at market rates of
0.01% per annum (2018: 0.01% per annum).

At 31 March 2019, the bank deposits with original maturity less than
three months carry fixed interest ranging from 1.90% to 2.60% per
annum (2018: from 0.79% to 1.00% per annum).

At 31 March 2019, pledged bank deposit carries fixed interest at
0.20% per annum (2018: 0.01% per annum).

Details of impairment assessment of bank deposits with original
maturity less than three months, bank balances and pledged bank
deposit at 31 March 2019 are set out in note 27.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED
CHARGES

18.

19.

REHBEA=EALANEITHE
ROBITEBRES CEMART
7%

R2019F3 4318 RITAEBIZEMIBEF
#0.01% (20184 « FFZFE001%) TR °

R2019F3 8318 ' REIEHA=1EA
AR 1T 17 FIR T F- 1.90% = 2.60% B [El &
FFE(Q2018%F + FF| FK0.79% = 1.00%) 51
S

R2019F3 8318 BERBRITEFERTIZE
TE R F020% (20184 © FEFIE001%) 51

B e

MN2019F3A31H - REIBIR A=A N
AHERITER - RITABRRBEFIRITE
RSB B B R K FE 27 ©

B RHEMENRERETER

2019 2018
20195 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FAT
Trade payables (Note a) B SN HIE (5t a) 33,438 19,008
Accrued expenses (Note b) FEETR (FiEEDb) 7,604 9,885
Other payables (Note c) H AR RIE (3t o) 4,349 7,127
45,391 36,020

Note: MH5E

(a) As at 31 March 2019, included in trade payables is HK$10,179,000 (2018:
HK$14,652,000) payable to a subsidiary of a shareholder of the
Company.

(b) As at 31 March 2019, included in accrued expenses are mainly accrued

staff costs of HK$4,812,000 (2018: HK$8,541,000).

(0 As at 31 March 2019, included in other payables are mainly
professional fee payable, insurance payable and other utility payable.

@  R2019F3A310 BHEMNFBEBEE
NFARR —BRENN B QA HIE
10,179,000/ 70(20184F © 14,652,000 7T ) °

() M2019F3 8310 EBIBREZEREE
it 8 T Ak A&4812000/% JT(20184 :
8,541,000787T) °

©  MR2019F3 8310 EMENRETER

FBRENEXER BAREBREGENA
HRGER -
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19.

20.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED 19. EFREMENREREFER
CHARGES (Continued) (&)
The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based TREYESENFTIERREHRLZERA
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period: B2 DI BRER D AT
2019 2018
2019 % 20186
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within 30 days 30HA 9,588 3,379
31 to 60 days 31260H 12,257 7420
61 to 90 days 61290 H 7,173 2915
91 to 180 days 912180 H 1,737 3,055
Over 180 days 838180 H 2,683 2,239
33,438 19,008
The credit period on trade payables is ranging from 0 to 180 days B oRENZENEESNF0E180H (2018
(2018: 0 to 180 days). F:0E180B)TF -
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 20. BHEE

As at 31 March 2019, contract liabilities of HK$563,000 (1 April 2018
HK$438,000) represented the receipts in advance for sales of
machinery and parts.

The Group normally receives 10% to 40% of the contract value as
deposits from customers when it signs the sale and purchase
agreement. The deposits will be recognised as revenue when the
customer obtains control of the machinery and parts.

During the year ended 31 March 2019, the amount of HK$438,000
included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the
year was recognised as revenue.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

21. BORROWINGS . B
2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Secured borrowings BEIBER 16,852 17,974
Unsecured borrowings IR SN 609 2,106
17,461 20,080

2019 2018
2019 F 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T FHET

Carrying amounts of borrowings that do 3 28 7832 2 S8 ZR R ME 7R

not contain a repayable on demand RER GRS TEEEX
clause and are repayable based on HEIE KA E R ARE A

the scheduled repayment dates set
out in the loan agreements:

Within one year —FER 5,109 1,465
More than one year but not exceeding ~ ZR—%F - BTRZHME
two years = 641
5,109 2,106
Carrying amounts of borrowings that BERIRE BTGB
contain a repayable on demand clause  (RREBIEEIE ~N25) BWEREE
(shown under current liabilities) and LIEE R s e E &K B
the maturity analysis based on the FrERIHAR DT 5 -

scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements are:

Within one year —FR 8,602 9,893
More than one year but not ZR—F - BAEZRME
exceeding two years 3,750 8,081
12,352 17,974
17,461 20,080
Less: Amounts due within one year B RRBAEEE TN —FR
shown under current liabilities B EAZRIE (17,461) (19,439)
Amounts shown under RIETBEEET 2IMFIE
non-current liabilities - 641
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21.

22,

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Included in the Group's borrowings of HK$518,000 (2018:
HK$775,000) and HKS$4,500,000 (2018: nil) are variable-rate
borrowings carrying interest at Hong Kong Best Lending Rate minus
0.9% and Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate as quoted by the
lending bank plus 2.75% respectively. The remaining carrying
amounts are fixed-rate borrowings carrying interest ranging from
2.05% to 2.20% (2018: ranging from 1.92% to 2.23%) per annum.

The secured borrowings were secured by property, plant and
equipment, deposit placed for a life insurance policy and pledged
bank deposit as disclosed in note 30.

As at 31 March 2019, the Group’s general banking facilities
amounting to HK$53,528,000 (2018: HK$58,070,000) are secured by
unlimited corporate guarantee from the Company.

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been
offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for
financial reporting purposes:

21.

22.

/L/,,r

ETAK
$%@E@1mﬂ: 845 518,000 %5 7T (2018 4F
77500078 7T) } 4,500,000 % 7T (2018 + =) HY
FBAER - 2 RIR A T & AE B A R 0.9%
REFBITAROESRITRZEREM
275%5T B o A TEREEAEN F205% %
2.20% (2018 £ = 47 F-1.920% & 2.23%) FE FI| &
AT EREE R EMERK -
BEBERUMFIOMBENDE - BE
Bl BERREFEIARDEMETE

RAEHEAR o

R2019F3A31H " A"EEAN—RIEITH
& 453,528,000 7T (2018 4F : 58,070,000
BIT) © AARD RIER S A RERERE -

EEREEE AE
RRGAMBRARNZIIME - ETE
EPEAEREEDHEY - AT ARH
BT = MEEBURSRBED I ¢

2019 2018

2019 2018 4F

HK$’000 HKS$'000

FET FET

Deferred tax assets EEFIAE B (167) =
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHIBEE 26,924 26,769
26,757 26,769
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22. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued) 22, EEHREBEEE BB @)
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities (assets) recognised T AREERMESENERNEEER
by the Group and movements thereon during both years: EREEEBE) RAZE)

Accelerated
tax ECL
depreciation Tax losses provision Total

RHEE

IRBIRTE BEER BERE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THETL THETL THET THET

At 1 April 2017 M2017F 4818 24,345 (1912) = 22433
Charge to profit or loss EESEE3 2424 1912 = 4336
At31 March 2018 201853 A31H 26,769 - - 26,769
Charge (credit) to profitorloss B 182531k (GTAIER) 3,508 (2,553) (967) (12)
At 31 March 2019 20193 A31H 30,277 (2,553) (967) 26,757
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses R|EBKR ~"EBEXDHABERE
of HK$19,390,000 available for offset against future profits. A deferred 19,390,000 7% 7T A] it X 5 R A& A - 36 2 5k
tax asset has been recognised in respect of HK$15,473,000 of such A BB 1815473,000/8 T HERIE T H B E
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the B o NMESRTEBIR ARG F - A0 5L eR
remaining HK$3,917,000 due to the unpredictability of future profit T 3,917,000 THERELERIBEE ©
streams. The tax loss may be carried forward indefinitely. As at 31 THE B R EIRHAAEE - R 2018FF3A31H -
March 2018, the Group did not have unused tax loss. AEEWEAEARIBEE -
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Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each

JERE ¢
R2017F 4818
2018F3 A31 B K
201943 A 31 H

Authorised:
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and
31 March 2019

BE1T -
R2017F4818
2018F 3 A31 B K
20194 3 A 31 H

Issued:
At 1 April 2017, 31 March 2018 and
31 March 2019

The Group has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) pursuant to a resolution in writing passed by all
the shareholders in the extraordinary general meeting on 17 March
2016. The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
eligible participants had made or may make to the Group.

Under the Share Option Scheme, the Board of Directors may at its
discretion grant options to eligible participants, including: (i) any
director, employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier,
agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or a company
in which the Group holds an interest or a subsidiary of such
company ("Affiliate”); or (i) the trustee of any trust the beneficiary
of which or any discretionary trust the discretionary objects of which
include any director, employee, consultant, professional, customer,
supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an
Affiliate; or (iii) a company beneficially owned by any director,
employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent,
partner, adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

B 0.001 75 oA @A

n
X

Number of Share
shares capital
BB BB [SES
HK$'000

THETT

10,000,000,000 10,000
864,000,000 864

AEBEEREBEFAAERREN2016F3 /178
MR ERFRIRS FiBIBE R TRN
BRI (B AEST &8)) - RERAR MRS
EI ARG RERT 8 R ZATEE ERT
B 2 E ek Al pe e WA S EEL BRI
BERSEE o

RIEERETE - EZgANEREER
SEERLERE B 0 AEBEMA
BEE BB FBHAA BEALT -EFF-
HrEn  RIEB a8 ARBERNEBREH
AEEBREERNAFXZARNKEAR
AI([HBAL]) : ki) AXEBEEMES
BB - FBHAA - BEALT TP - fiEDS -
R - ARASEMIABHSBBEAL
AR ANEAELHA LS A2
2z AR EME2EE %E"]Xu%}\ BAGHEN
SEENESE - ES - FBBABEAL
XE - HER - KRB &8 A - BRI
BESBBALTEREENAR
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The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme
shall be a price determined by the Board of Directors and notified to
each grantee and shall be not less than the highest of (i) the closing
price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option, which
must be a business day, (i) an amount equivalent to the average
closing price of the Company’s share as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the relevant option and
(iii) the nominal value of the Company's share on the date of grant.
The exercise price shall also be subject to certain adjustments.

Subject to certain restrictions contained in the Share Option Scheme,
an option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme and the terms of grant thereof at any time
during the applicable option period, which is not more than ten
years from the date of grant of option.

Under the Share Option Scheme, there is no general requirement on
the minimum period for which an option must be held or the
performance targets which must be achieved before an option can
be exercised under the terms of the Share Option Scheme. However,
at the time of granting any option, the Board may, on a case by case
basis, make such grant subject to such conditions, restrictions or
limitations including (without limitation) those in relation to the
minimum period of the options to be held and/or the performance
targets to be achieved as the Board of Directors may determine in its
absolute discretion.

From the date of the adoption of the Share Option Scheme and up
to 31 March 2019, no share option has been granted or agreed to be
granted under the Share Option Scheme.

AR S TMEMBY ITEE /B E
EEETERBASEBEAN  EZEETE
ERATHEENRSE  (RELBRE
BEAM(ZAVARERR) BRI AT
BRERAMARBRDUETE : ()1HF
REZRLAWBRERNAEEXA
R FrE AER M RA R BB F 19
Wi B r 5 ¢ K i) AR AR REL B
HIE(E - TTEEFAFLE THE -

KRBT BIMEE TRHRRT - AR
P R B B BA R (BN T B B 3R L i Ak A
HIRERT T 6 ) B REBEBERET S FR LB
B L B A e (R T TR RB A

RBERETE - YEEHAREBRE
B B AT HA PR SR PO AR TR BB R A T 8 Y R BRAT
ERERERTZRERARE B IR —RIAE °
A - EFARR D TR RERIZE
BRI LA RBRE  EABTABIK
- REIFARR (B (BETRRN) ZFRE
TR aRNEEE AT BBRENR
R K REEBHRR B 1RERE) -

B E IR A I SR A0 B B RE = 20194F 3 A 31
Bk WERBEBRET SR EXFRZE
R A -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

25. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

25. KA RBBMRRERRAQ B GHE

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
HK$’000 HKS$'000
FHBxT FHET
Non-current Assets kREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries B A THEE 138,135 146,223
Loan to a subsidiary ERT—HHEA A 47,664 17,997
Amounts due from subsidiaries RS NGIE e E 18,570 39,834
204,369 204,054
Current Assets REBEE
Prepayments TERT IR 854 470
Amounts due from subsidiaries RS NGIE 10,151 13,991
Loan to a subsidiary ERT—HHE AR 7,684 2,603
Bank deposit with original maturity EREHEAE=EA KRN
less than three months RITER 15,000 16,000
Bank balances and cash IRITHEBRIRS 3,447 8,387
37,136 41,451
Current Liabilities REBEE
Other payables H b fET /I 1,715 1,654
Net Current Assets RENEEFE 35,421 39,797
Net Assets EEFE 239,790 243,851
Capital and Reserves BEXRHE
Issued capital BEBITRA 864 864
Reserves s 238,926 242,987
Total Equity R 239,790 243,851
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25.

26.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 25. KRR BRRARRE QA RE
COMPANY AND RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (&)
(Continued)
The followings are the movements of the Company’s reserves for TREYBMEFEARAR BN FEES
both years:
Share Retained
premium profits Total
% 105 B REB R st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
FHIT BT FHIT
1 April 2017 R2017F4 A1 H 232,345 5513 237,858
Profit and total comprehensive  ZANEEHF & 2 H
income for the year Wzs 4858 - 13,423 13,423
Dividend recognised as BRRDIRAIIEE
distribution (note 12) (faE12) = (8,294) (8,294)
At 31 March 2018 M 20183 A31H 232,345 10,642 242,987
Loss and total comprehensive AFEEEREER
expense for the year F X 4858 - (1,037) (1,037)
Dividend recognised RED KRS
as distribution (note 12) (PfFEE12) = (3,024) (3,024)
At 31 March 2019 M2019F3 A31H 232,345 6,581 238,926
CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 26. EXMEERE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
throughout the year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts, which
include borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising issued capital
and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost of
capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall
capital structure through the payment of dividends and new share
issues.

$%@%E¥E§$L‘Mﬁﬁ<%$%@ﬁ@§§%
BAIFELE  FSEBEILERLER
ek ﬁﬁﬁ%%ﬁx%k@i& FR A&
EEERE —EREFTE -

AEENEARBREERFR BT
EER  ReRASEEMARK QA
BARLER (BEEBETRARER)

ARBEETE R EARE - ERILR
AR EEEEEAKAREELE
EARENER REBZEEEE  A5H
BEBNRERBETHRO FELER
BARLRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 27. e@TH
a. Categories of financial instruments a. S@MIAEH
2019 2018
2019 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets SRMEE
— FVTPL —RBERE AN AR 2,725 =
— Amortised cost — SR AN 91,951 =
Loans and receivables (including ERNERZE(BRERE R
cash and cash equivalents) REEEY) - 125,797
Financial liabilities SRAE
Amortised cost B R 55,248 46,215
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. EREAREERRREE

The major financial instruments of the Group include deposit
placed for a life insurance policy, trade receivables and
deposits, lease receivables, bank deposits with original
maturity less than three months, pledged bank deposit, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables and borrowings.
The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors these
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented
on a timely and effective manner.
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

Currency risk

Certain transactions of the Group are denominated in
currencies which are different from the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities and therefore the Group is
exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the
management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure if
necessary.

The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities of the respective
group entities at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

27. @I A
b. $¢HEAMETEEEREEE

misERE
EXE R
AEBEETRZAEREEERNT
BEEBUIMERSHE - Rt A%E
EERSNE R o NS [E B AT ESNE
PR o AT - EIEEEEERIMNER
% WHNAFERZBEPERI
R o

RBEHRR - SREEBUINESE
MEREEMERAGBREENT

2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Assets BE
Japanese Yen (“JPY") against HKS HE(BE] XET 1,257 6,743
United States dollars ("US$”") against HKS =70 ([E ) BT 3,098 5,479
Euro (“EUR’) against HKS BT ([&otl) 58T 5 4
HK$ against Singapore dollar ("SG$”) VBT T T ([F T |) - =
Liabilities =R+
JPY against HKS AE X A&TT 2,612 4,443
US$ against HKS ETTHABTT 2,219 918
EUR against HKS BT R AT 143 -
HK$ against SG$ V& T 3T N3 T 11,290 3815
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27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 5%
increase and decrease in foreign currencies against the
relevant functional currencies of the respective group entities.
5% is the sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign
exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period
for a 5% change in foreign currency rates. A positive number
below indicates a decrease in post-tax loss (2018: an increase
in post-tax profit) where the relevant currencies strengthen 5%
against the relevant functional currencies of the respective
group entities. For a 5% weakening of the relevant currencies
against the relevant functional currencies of the respective
group entities, there would be an equal and opposite impact
on the post-tax loss (2018: post-tax profit).

JPY against HK$ HE X &
EUR against HK$ BRTH BT
HK$ against SG$ T INE TT

27.

$MIAW

b.

THREAREEREREEE)

mEEE (8)

B¥mEk (&)

BUREDIT
TRAVNAREHEKREBRINESL
BN EEER LT K T 5%H)

BREE S SAMAEEEIEREA
B R SN [ B P A O BRRRE

X RELEEEYERA] e Z e
e URESITEBERIRERMA
KEBINETENEBIEER @ WLE
zﬁim%wﬁmw X IE

ETEAAEYHSEEERENERY
azia%a’\][%tﬂs%ﬁ’ﬁmé%iaﬁﬁ
18 (2018 4F : FA& & A FH1E) © (A 7
BN S EEEENERNEEED
P = T P& 5% - 1% 2] B 18 & 18 (2018

F BN BRASERROF
@,

2019 2018
2019 & 2018 4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET

9%

(472) } (159)

For the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in USS,
since HKS is currently pegged to USS, the management
considers that the exchange rate fluctuation is not significant.
Accordingly, no foreign currency sensitivity analysis is
disclosed in the consolidated financial statements in respect
of the USS.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to fixed rate borrowings, bank deposit with original maturity
less than three months and pledged bank deposit. The
management will take appropriate measures to manage
interest rate exposure if interest rate fluctuates significantly.
The management considers the fair value interest rate risk to
the Group is insignificant.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to deposit placed for a life insurance policy, bank
balances and variable-rate borrowings due to the fluctuation
of the prevailing market interest rate. The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
variable rates from the Group’s borrowings denominated in
HKS.

The Group has not entered into any interest rate hedging
contracts or any other interest rate related derivative financial
instruments. However, the management monitors the Group’s
related interest rate exposure closely and will consider
hedging significant interest rate exposure when the need
arises.

2019 FF R

cRIEMREEEERBEE)

mEEE (E)

T B

7N B T Y R B E A R AE R REH
R={EAARRRITER RS EAR
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AP Rentals Holdings Limited

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Sensitivity analysis on deposit placed for a life insurance policy
and bank balances is not presented as the management of the
Group considers that the Group's exposure to interest rate
fluctuation is insignificant.

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for variable-rate borrowings
outstanding at the end of the reporting period. The analysis is
prepared assuming the variable-rate borrowings outstanding
at the end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis point (2018: 50 basis point) represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in interest rates. If interest rates had been 50 basis points
(2018: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss (2018: post-tax
profit) for the year ended 31 March 2019 would increase/
decrease by HK$21,000 (2018: decrease/increase by HKS$3,000).

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the interest rate risk inherent in the
financial assets and financial liabilities as the year end exposure
does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Annual Report 2019

cREMREEEERBEE)

TS ER ()

FI= @ (58)

HRRE ST
HRAEEERERAAEEBNFIR
EENERMTRE - MUEEE7|HE
SREFRNIBITEGOGBED
#r o

T BE S IR B RS B R A R E
B EEREEMNFERRET °

A THRERRERR S AEETE
BERREBEFENAEEMIED - 50
B Z 25 (2018 4F : SOME KB ) B EE
B FREBA S BT o MF
K EF /T RS0 EE 2 (2018 4F : 50
MER) MABEMEHREFT
% BIAREBBHZE2019F3 /8310
EFE’J%)EM?:E%TE(MSE CFRAEHEF)

& 3% 00, 8 4 21,0007 7T (2018 4F -
B }/i‘a‘ﬂus,oooﬁéﬁ) o

EERERR  FRESITILARERR
ERMEERERBENAENZR
% FERNERIARRREEFE
MR



4= A

N

\

B 75 R B

ol

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

The maximum exposure of the Group to credit risk which will
cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to discharge
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying
amount of the respective recognised financial assets as stated
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers and lease
receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits and credit approvals. Before accepting any new
customer, the Group uses an internal credit scoring system to
assess the potential customer's credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring attributed to
customers are reviewed each year. Other monitoring
procedures are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of lease
receivables and trade receivables based on individual
assessment for those which had been determined as
significant balance or credit-impaired whereas the remaining
balance are assessed by means of provision matrix through
grouping of various debtors that have similar risk exposure,
after considering internal credit ratings of lease receivables
and trade receivables, ageing, repayment history and/or past
due status and forward-looking information of respective lease
receivables and trade receivables that is reasonable and
supportable available without undue costs or effort. Estimated
losses are based on historical observed default rates over the
expected life of the lease receivables and trade receivables
and are adjusted for forward-looking information. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group's credit risk is significantly reduced.
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AP Rentals Holdings Limited

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables

The directors of the Company regularly review and assess the
credit quality of the counterparty. The directors of the
Company consider the provision of ECL for other receivables is
insignificant to be recognised.

Deposit placed for a life insurance policy, bank deposits with
original maturity less than three months, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances

The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the
counterparties are banks and an insurance company with high
credit-ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

Other than concentration of credit risk on liquid funds which
are deposited with several banks with high credit ratings, the
Group does not have any other significant concentration of
credit risk as lease receivables and trade receivables consist of
a large number of customers.

The Group's concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in Hong Kong, which accounted for 88%
(2018:93%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2019.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 5% (2018: 9%)
and 20% (2018: 26%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group's largest customer and the five largest
customers respectively within the industry of the property and
infrastructure construction.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy, bank deposits with
original maturity less than three months, pledged bank deposit
and bank balances (Continued)

The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

AR EE TR

Low risk

B2

Doubtful

AR

Loss

R

Write-off

s

Description

The counterparty has a low risk of default and
either settle before due date or after due date in
full

HFHEVERKE  BRIHBAKEIEA
BEBNAR

There have been significant increases in credit risk
since initial recognition through information
developed internally or external resources
BEARIIIBIRGHOER - BT
SR N

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

REBBTEECFERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery
ARBBRTEBSARNBREMBERE  MA
SEEERATRERNERE

27. €E@IHE )

b. TEREAMREEBFEREEE)

FERBRKBERE(E)
BRRIREFH - REIBHB=1EA K
AEYIRITHA ~ EEARTT AR R

TTAsf ()
AL B A EE & RBRRT RETTHRT
HBEATER

Trade receivables/
lease receivables

g5 ruE/
e KR E IR

Other financial assets

HittemEE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-12m ECL

impaired

2HRHBEEER
— WEEERE

Lifetime ECL — not credit-Lifetime ECL — not credit-

impaired

SHRHEEER
—WEEERE
Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired
FHRHEEER
—EERME

Amount is written off

SR M
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NEAEHREESE

impaired

2HEHEEER
—WREERE
Lifetime ECL — credit-
impaired
FHREHEEER
—EERE

Amount is written off

EREME
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. EWMIE @)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREERBERBEE)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERR KRBT ()
The table below details the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFMBEASETENAERSH
financial assets under the Group’s assessment, which are AEEERK (ZBEHEEEBEFNH
subject to ECL assessment: FRRR) -

External credit Internal
rating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying amount

REARSEEFRIZN

HBEEFR  ABEEFR RUGEER REAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT THT

Financial assets at FVTPL

BREZEAABIRNEMEE

Deposit placed for a 15 AA N/A N/A
life insurance policy 2,725 2,725
SRREFER NEA NEA
Financial assets at amortised cost
REBHRATRNERERE
Trade receivables from 17 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix)
contracts with customers 2022
RERFEANE SRR TERA i3] L2HBHEEER(REER)
Loss Credit-impaired 4 2,026
BB EERE
Lease receivables 17 N/A (Note) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 15,066
FERTRE IR TERA Cik3) 2HBHEEER(BEER)
Low risk Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 13834
KR 2HRHEEEE(UWREESERE)
Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired) 11,095
REE 2HBRHEEER(TESERE)
Loss Credit-impaired 4,244 44239
B8 ZERE
Other receivables 17 N/A Low risk 12m ECL 194 194
Hi B RE NEmA (K E NEAESREEEE
Pledge bank deposit 18 AAorabove N/A 12m ECL 360 360
BEERFTER AASEIL | TiEA EAESREEER
Bank deposits with original 18 AAorabove N/A 12m ECL
maturity less than
three months 15,000 15,000
[REE B A =8 A AR A E N REABHEESS
RITER
Bank balances 18 AAorabove N/A 12m ECL 36,801 36,801
RITER AASRIA £ TR NEAESEERE

166 AP Rentals Holdings Limited  /  Annual Report 2019



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. €E@IHE )
ctREREEEERBEK(B)

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b.
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFG (E)
Note: For lease receivables and trade receivables, the Group has et : EKEERERE SRR IET

applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired that are assessed
individually, the Group determines the expected credit losses
on these items by using a provision matrix, grouped by similar
risk exposure, after considering internal credit rating, ageing,
repayment history, and/or past due status.

As part of the Group's credit risk management, the Group
applies internal credit rating for its customers in relation to its
operations. The following table provides information about the
exposure to credit risk for lease receivables and trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision matrix as at
31 March 2019 by lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired). Debtors
with significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired with
gross carrying amounts of HK$24,929,000 and HK$4,248,000
respectively as at 31 March 2019 were assessed individually.

Gross carrying amount for balances under provision matrix

FARBECEAEEMBRESE
AIFoSRIA T B iR 2 A
FEEBETEBERRE - BKAEX
AMEBERIEERE RN ERIRK
(FEBILRHE) SN ANERE R
EHEEERSRENEREERS
B AREREZSEAEE
o RGBSR B AR
ik HAEBURRBKOSE
BETHAE

ERASEEERBERN —
o AEERETEFPHEREZE
Eﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ AEBEEFR - THRAIE

HERNEHEKEERERE S E
llﬂz XIBREERR - B EREBRIE
B BERR 201943 A31 Big2H
EHEEBE(WESERE)FT
e BEEAKREBREHRIEEE
TRE R EUAR AR 2019F 3 A31H
) AR T B 42 B2 5 51| A 24,929,000 7
JC X% 4,2480008 70 * BB EITRE
e

FRIGAEIE IR T 6 BR A AR AR BR

Trade

Internal credit rating

receivables
from contracts
customers

REEFEH

Average loss rate

Lease
receivables

FHRRE

HE 5 e
WRIE EREERE #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET THET

Low risk 2% to 5% 1,339 9,733 11,072
NGz 2% %= 5%
Doubtful 15% to 30% 683 5333 6,016
RER 15% % 30%

2,022 15,066 17,088
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. €@ T H )
ctREREEEERBEK(B)

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b.
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Gross carrying amount for balances under provision matrix
(Continued)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the debtors
and are adjusted for forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is
regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

FE Rk RO ER ()
P EIERETR T EA AR A AR ET AR AR (A8

A ERERBEBEERIMNENE
R WR RO TRET F BT - EARIR
BERNHTVENERNS HAA#E
SHATEEERLETRE - 2ARBR
mEEEE MR - AERERSE
FEU R TR IERIE R E B 3T

The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that TRETHEVIEERIERE SR
has been recognised for lease receivables and trade RIERBE(C S RN 2 BB HRE
receivables under the simplified approach. BEBEZ -

Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)

2 HITEHA
FEEER
(L |EE
AE)
HK$'000
T

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
impaired)

2HRBGEE
BiE (&
wAE)

HK$'000
TET

#st
HK$'000
THET

At 31 March 2018 under HKAS 39 IRIEHE B &5t 85 3958
201843 A31 R - 5,534 5534
Adjustment upon application of ~ JEF & B I #5 R & # 8|
HKFRS 9 F KT = - -
At 1 April 2018 — As restated R2018F4H1H
— B - 5534 5,534
Changes due to financial H 20184 A1 BER &
instruments recognised as at T A1 H3R &8 -
1 April 2018
— Impairment losses reversed ~ — B BUREEE (3414) (3:414)
New financial assets originated ~ #Ti&& g & & 4,595 = 4,595
At 31 March 2019 A2019%F 3 A31H 4,595 2,120 6,715
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. ST E®E)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2HMEMBEEBEERBEEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EERRRFEEFG (E)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are mainly BORWFIEFEREESHEEH
due to: JiN

31.3.2019
20193 A31H
Increase (decrease)
in lifetime ECL
ZHEHEEEHERE N (RL)
Not credit- Credit-

impaired impaired
WS ERE FERE
HKS$'000 HK$'000
TET TET

Trade debtors with a gross carrying EE S ERGKIERER
amount of HK$42,017,000 recognised B FEBRE 4218 42,017,000 8 7T HY
allowance for trade receivables FE U BR R 4,595 -

Settlement in full of trade debtors with  #%)& BRE 4818 3,414,000 7 7T AY
a gross carrying amount of FEU AR X
HKS$3,414,000 - (3,414)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

1:||||/

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. €I A

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREERERBE(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk REBESRRE
In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors RRBDESARNEREMS - A5H

and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the operations of
the Group, and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables
have been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. Specifically, borrowings with a
repayment on demand clause are included in the earliest time
band regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other non-
derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates.

ERPAREEER/TANRE R
ReSEBWKFARREENEER
HES  WRERSHKBNTE -

TRFVAKEIFTES R A BRI
TAHNEEE - BRZBIBEAEET]
HERZ MW ERFRHREBABEAR
MERERAMRE - ARME 58
mﬁgiﬁﬁhﬂm%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁi
M REARA - THwIRTTAZ KR8
BEBITRREOER - Em%ﬁié
BABENIIHA G EERARRE
% o

Liquidity risk analysis BB & AR AT
On demand
Weighted orless Total
average than 1to2 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year years  cash flows amounts
il 4 RERS IR
FIIRIZ PR1F 125 BREER REE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% THET TET THER THET
31 March 2019 2019F3 8318
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FEPTE % BB &
Trade and other payables B 5 R ER A - 37,787 - 37,787 37,787
Borrowings EE- 2.83 17,659 - 17,659 17,461
55,446 S 55,446 55,248
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

27. €@ T HE(®\)

b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. 2REAKREEBEERBEEE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESRER ()
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued) MEEZEE ST ()
On demand
Weighted orless Total
average than Tto2  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years cash flows amounts
illf: RERK BT RE
THgH= PR1E 126 BREM FEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% THET THET THET TR
31 March 2018 201853 A31H
Non-derivative financial liabilities ~ FEPTE % BB &
Trade and other payables B 5 R E i fER A - 26,135 - 26,135 26,135
Borrowings LN 217 19478 645 20123 20,080
45613 645 46258 46215

The Group's borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “On demand or less than one year” time
band in the above maturity analysis. At 31 March 2019, the
carrying amounts of these borrowings amounted to
HK$12,352,000 (2018: HK$17,974,000).

FBHA S [RE kDR 1F
REARFRBEAEELTHEAKREX
BIIEEIETR - )R20199F3 4318 -
It % & XA BR E 1B 5 12,352,0007%8 7T
(20184F : 17,974,000 7T) °
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

1:||||/

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. T H &)
b. Financial risk management objectives and policies b. £HEMREERBERBEE)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Liquidity risk analysis (Continued)

REESER(E)
REBE 2 BRI ()

Taking into account the Group's financial position, the directors
do not believe that it is probable that the counterparties will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The directors believe that such borrowings will be
repaid within two years after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the

REBAREEMBEMNE - EFHE
REDPRAGEITREEFONERSR
SKENEFER - ERREZFEIER
f%m%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁtJ\EiﬁFﬁ%
HIREMERER  BRFBERNT
&

loan agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

Maturity Analysis — Borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayment dates

M B — FEARERERGRREBETER BHAER

Total
Less than 1to2  undiscounted Carrying
one year years cash outflows amounts
AT AREG
P E 12 BRASRAH AREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TR TR TR
31 March 2019 201943 A31 R 8,917 3,828 12,745 12,352
31 March 2018 01853 H31H 10411 8,235 18,646 17,974

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject to
change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on a discounted cash flow analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at
amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate their fair values.

Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position
Some of the Group's financial assets are measured at fair value
at the end of the reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of these financial assets are determined (in particular,
the valuation technique(s) and inputs used), as well as the
level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value
measurements are categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is
observable.

Level 1 fair value measurements are those quoted prices
(unadjusted) in active market for identical assets or
liabilities;

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from
inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from
prices); and

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from
valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or
liability that are not based on observable market data
(unobservable inputs).
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

27. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 27. ST E )
c.  Fair value measurements of financial instruments ¢ SRMIANAAEBETE®HE
(Continued)
Fair value measurement recognised in the consolidated REEHBERRREINAAETE
statement of financial position (Continued) (#&)

Financial assets in the

consolidated statement of Fair value Valuation techniques and
financial position Fair value as at hierarchy key inputs
REGEMBRRRNENEE RUTBHBAARE DMAEER FERDLDREIEBGARE
2019 2018
20194 20184
Deposit placed for a life insurance Assets — N/A (note) Level 3 Discounted cash flows —
policy classified as financial HK$2,725,000 reference to expected cash
assets at FVTPL flows and applied
appropriate discount rate
SERBBEARKRAAEYER BE— NEBA(WE) F=& ENENRERE — 22
B R R EFR 2,725,000 47T BHREERENRCER
Note: The relevant carrying amount of HK$2,656,000 was measured at B e - 488 BR (& 2,656,00078 7T 2018 4F 3 A 31
amortised cost less any identified impairment loss at 31 March 2018 AREE S a2 R 5 30 57 45088 $H Ak AR
under HKAS 39. EREBBIREEENE -
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

28. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 28, REHERE
The Group as lessee AEBAAEA
At the end of the year, the Group had contracted for the following RER  AEBRBIAHBELEEER]
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating BRI SHEERAORREEREN
leases which fall due as follows:
2019 2018
2019 F 20184F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T T
Within one year —FR 1,150 3,179
In the second to fifth years inclusive E_ZERF(BEERWMF) = 863
Total st 1,150 4,042

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
for certain of its office premises. Leases are negotiated for a period of
one to five years (2018: one to five years) and rentals are fixed at the
time of entering into the respective leases.

The Group as lessor

Income earned from leasing of machinery during the year is
HK$112,086,000 (2018: HKS$144,383,000). Leases are negotiated on a
monthly basis.

At the end of the year, the Group had contracted with customers for
the following future minimum lease payments:

Within one year —%FR

KERBENRBAEEREETHAE
¥EMMES - HEHEHRAE—ZERF
(2018F : —2RF) MBESRKFT LS

SRFEEE

AEERHBEA

RAFE HHRAEWRAMBRDNKA R
112,086,000 70 (2018 4F : 144,383,000/ L) °
HEWEZRAGE -

RER REBEZFPERHNRERKE
HENFKMT

2019 2018
2019 £ 20184
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET

853 794
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

29. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 29, EXREE
2019 2018
20194 20184F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Capital expenditure in respect of BEFTRWEE « BRE k&
acquisition of property, plant and BRAGE VS HRERFIREEG
equipment contracted but not Eof=WiNGE
provided for in the consolidated
financial statements - 1,455
30. PLEDGE OF ASSETS 30. EELH
The following assets were pledged to banks as securities to secure RBERARERTRITERAEEATER
the borrowings and facilities granted to the Group at the end of the EREREERAROHEENT

reporting period:

2019 2018

2019 £ 20184

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Property, plant and equipment ME - WENMRE 8,653 24,997
Deposit placed for a life insurance policy EMIREFR 2,725 2,656
Pledged bank deposit BHERRITIFR 360 360
11,738 28,013
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

31. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 31. FABLIRE
During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions RAFE AEERETESHEEERE
with related parties in which some directors have beneficial interests: wHBEEE A ET S YIRS ¢
2018
2185
Related Related
companies in companies in
which Mr. Lau which Mr. Lau
Pong Sing Pong Sing
Asubsidiaryof  has beneficial A subsidiary of has beneficial
Ashareholder  ashareholder interest A shareholder a shareholder interest
BB EE HE e
—EREN  REEZER —ZREN  BREnEm
—ERE HWEAF WEE AT —ARE =N ol /NG|
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thx Tign Ti#r Tix T
Delivery income RRUBA - 119 23 - 180 34
Leasing income of machinery  #RE EUA - 1,561 687 = 1675 61
Other service income HitFREKA = 181 418 15 473 1395
Sales of parts THHE - 731 836 654 793 400
Storage income BEIRA = 1,521 = = 1,709 =
Sundry income BEBA - 1,668 - = - -
Expenses recharge from ENMERR - 251 - - 20 -
Operating lease expensesin -~ BEAHEHHH
respect of rented machinery &R ERY - 22,812 - - 36,293 -
Purchases BE - 12 - = 2479 2
Acquisition of property, WEEmE - BER
plant and equipment B - - - - 1716 =
Balances with related parties are disclosed in the consolidated BARSE 77 i SR R A B SR L R R AR R B
statement of financial position and related notes. PIREE -
The Company’s key management personnel are the directors and ARANEREREABREST  MEF
their remunerations are included in the emoluments disclosed in RIS FT AR 11 FTIRER AV HEA o
note 11.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ArE ISR MY AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

METHELENEEHR

32. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 32.
FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.
Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group's

TRIMASEAREEDELNEEE
PHF BRASKIIRSEY - - BER
PELANBRBERERREREIARARES
/}ILEE&HﬁE/\ZK%.i?/D\EE%/}ILE%EP57\

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing HARMESEIHMERERENAGE -
activities.
Obligations
under
Dividend finance
Payable Borrowings leases Total
MEHE
EARE CEN B #st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET TET THET
At 1 April 2017 R2017F4R818 - 33,802 45 33,847
Financing cash flows BMERERE (8,294) (14,757) (46) (23,097)
Non-cash transactions FRERS
— Finance costs — BERR - 1,035 1 1,036
— Dividend recognised as distribution —ERED KRS 8,294 - - 8,294
At31 March 2018 R2018F3 A31H - 20,080 - 20,080
Financing cash flows MEREME (3,024) (3,132) = (6,156)
Non-cash transactions HFRER5
— Finance costs — BB - 513 - 513
— Dividend recognised as distribution — EREDRARE 3,024 = = 3,024
At 31 March 2019 20193 A31H - 7461 - 17,461
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B IS ¥R MY AL

For the year ended 31 March 2019 &% 20193 A31 HILFE

33. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES 33. MBLQERFE
Particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2019 and 31 201943 A31HX2018%F3A31H - &xA
March 2018 were as follows: GGG =L N
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation/ paid ordinary
registration/ share capital/ Equity interests attributable
Name of subsidiaries operation registered capital to the Group Principal activities
BRTRAR
AL/ LERE/
WEARER B/ BEny BT EEAEERE TERHB
Directly Indirectly
Ef [
2019 2018 2019 2018
2019F U[EEE 2019 20185
AP Rentals (BV) Holdings British Virgin Uss2 100% 100% - - Investment holding
Limited Islands
APRentals (BV) Holdings ~ RERZEE 2ET RERR
Limited
AP Rentals Limited Hong Kong HK$27,378,000 - - 100% 100%  Investment holding, trading
and leasing of machinery
and parts, and provision
of operating and other
related services
SRAESARAR i 273780008 T RERR  BERLHERHR
2 A RGRMERSE
REMEERE
AP Equipment Leasing Macau MOP25,000 - - 100% 100%  Leasing of construction machinery
and Engineering Limited
cRARREERTE A 25000 27T AR
BRAR
AP Equipment Rentals Singapore SGD100,000 100% 100% - - Trading and leasing of machinery
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. and parts, provision of operating
and other related service
AP Equipment Rentals st 100000 5T A5 7T BEERHEUREESH 7
(Singapore) Pte. Ltd. Te RAMEBRE
AP Rentals China (BVI) British Virgin US$2 100% N/A - - Inactive
Holdings Limited Islands
AP Rentals China (BVI) ABRIEE ES &R TEXH
Holdings Limited
Luen On Heavy Hong Kong HK$10,000 = - 100% N/A Inactive
Equipment Ltd.
BRERERAA Bl 10000787 TER  EEXH
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of RIREHIK - BB AR B BITERIER

the reporting period. EE
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For the year ended 31 March 2019 #ZE 201943 A31 HILFE

On 1 April 2019, the Company set up an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary, AP Rentals (China) Limited, (the "Purchaser”).

On 10 May 2019, the Purchaser entered into an Equity Transfer
Agreement (the “Agreement’) with Ajax Pong Construction
Equipment Limited (the “Vendor”), a limited liability company
incorporated in Hong Kong and indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Lau
Pong Sing, the chairman, an executive Director, a controlling
shareholder of the Company and the spouse of Ms. Chan Kit Mui,
Lina, pursuant to which the Vendor has conditionally agreed to
dispose of, and the Purchaser has conditionally agreed to acquire,
100% equity interest in Ajax Pong (Shanghai) Limited (the “Target
Company’), a limited liability company established in the People’s
Republic of China and is directly wholly-owned by the Vendor, at the
consideration of HK$18.3 million (the “Transaction”).

Pursuant to the extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) held on 25
June 2019, the resolution in respect of the Transaction were duly
passed.

Upon passing of the EGM resolutions and satisfaction of the
conditions precedent as set out in circular dated 3 June 2019 (the
"Circular”), the Target Company will become a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company. Details of the Transaction are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 10 May 2019 and the Circular.

At the date of issuance of these consolidated financial statements,
the Transaction was not yet completed and no part of the
consideration was paid to the Vendor.

AP Rentals Holdings Limited Annual Report 2019

R2019F 4 A1 8 » ARBRIKEEE2EMN
BRAREREAEE(FRH)ERAF(E
Fl) e

2019465 5108 » B EITEILZ R
WERAB ([BEA]) (—EREBEMAL
WERAR WHARBER RTES
R 128 AR AR BR DA B BR R 18 22 + RO B 48 21 F K
EERERERS) T RREEZ G ([
B Bt BAERKUHHRAZHE M
EAMEKGHRAEEETENERTR
i (L8 BRAR(TBEAR]) (—HER
P AREMBE MK ERA R H
EREEEEES)MI00%EE  KEBA
183EBETL(XRSZ]) -

BB 201946 A 25 B RITHREL IR
g(BRREBAIXRE]) BEEXZHRESR
EEERES -

HRBEE2019F6c A3BHBEK([EE])
FrEl IR R R @ RBRERBRITIR
REEERE - BIZRAEHEKR AR RN
2EWB AR - BEAXZMFE %UEAK’“
AIB A 20195 A 10 RS RIBK -

RZFHEEMBHRETIZHBE %r‘ﬁi
Ak BXEAE T XN ERKRERD
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